THE INFLUENCE OF SPORT-RELATED CONCUSSION ON SENSORIMOTOR SKILLS IN COLLEGIATE ATHLETES

By

Aaron J. Zynda

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Kinesiology - Doctor of Philosophy

ABSTRACT

Background: Recent research suggests that subtle deficits in sensorimotor skills may be present following recovery from sport-related concussion (SRC). These underlying issues are hypothesized to contribute to a greater risk of subsequent injury when an athlete returns to sport. However, little is known about which sensorimotor skills are affected throughout recovery following SRC in collegiate athletes and how other factors, such as SRC symptoms, are related.

Purpose: The purpose of this dissertation was to 1) determine the reliability of 10 sensorimotor skills assessed by a computerized sensory station, 2) examine sensorimotor skills throughout recovery following SRC in collegiate athletes compared to healthy matched controls, and 3) examine the relationship between groups of symptoms and sensorimotor skills in collegiate athletes following SRC at the acute visit, followed by determining if symptoms or sensorimotor skills were associated with recovery time.

Methods: For study one, 100 participants completed 10 sensorimotor skills on a computerized sensory station (Senaptec Sensory Station, Senaptec Inc., Beaverton, OR) at two testing sessions within one week of each other. For study two, 25 participants diagnosed with SRC by a physician completed an acute visit within 5 days of injury, a second visit at the time of medical clearance (+3 days), and a third visit at least one month post return to play (RTP). Control participants (n = 15), who were matched to SRC participants based on biologic sex, age, and sport, completed three visits according to the same schedule as their matched participant with SRC. All participants for study two completed demographic, injury, medical history, and recovery information, along with a symptom checklist and 10 sensorimotor skill assessments on a computerized sensory station at each visit. For study three, 64 participants who were diagnosed with SRC by a physician completed an acute visit within 5 days of injury and a second visit at

the time of medical clearance. All participants in study three completed the same procedures as participants in study two. Symptoms from the acute visit were grouped into migraine-fatigue, affective, and cognitive-ocular "factors" to determine relationships.

Results: For study one, go/no-go, multiple-object tracking, eye-hand coordination, depth perception, and reaction time assessments demonstrated good reliability; target capture and perception span demonstrated moderate reliability; visual clarity, contrast sensitivity, and near-far quickness demonstrated poor reliability. For study two, reaction time was statistically significantly worse in the SRC group compared to the control group at the acute visit. In the SRC group, reaction time significantly improved between acute and medical clearance visits and between the acute and one-month post-RTP visits. For study three, statistically significant correlations were found between all three symptom factors with go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, and reaction time assessments. Scores on the symptom factors and sensorimotor assessments were not significantly associated with recovery time following SRC in collegiate athletes.

Conclusion: Go/no-go, multiple-object tracking, eye-hand coordination, depth perception, and reaction time assessments from the computerized sensory station were reliable and can be administered clinically. An examination of these sensorimotor skills in collegiate athletes following SRC revealed significantly worse reaction time acutely and after RTP compared to healthy matched controls. Clinicians should be aware of these potential deficits and incorporate reaction time assessment in SRC management. Additionally, cognitive-ocular, migraine-fatigue, and affective symptom factors were significantly correlated with go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, and reaction time assessments at the acute visit in collegiate athletes following SRC. These findings further help inform SRC management and clinical decision-making.

I dedicate this dissertation to my fiancé, Janhvi Patel. Thank you for coming along with me on this journey and being there for me every step of the way. You were my rock, and I will repay you forever. Kobe! I also dedicate this dissertation to Alexandria, Arielle, and Brian. You will never be forgotten.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to acknowledge my mentor and advisor, Dr. Tracey Covassin, for her leadership, guidance, and dedicated support over the past four years. Dr. Covassin took a chance on a research coordinator from Texas without ever meeting him. All she taught me has culminated in this dissertation and I look forward to our future endeavors together. In the same vein, I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Christopher Kuenze, Dr. Shelby Baez, and Dr. Jessica Wallace, for their incredible passion for research and allowing me to learn from them as they navigated their own careers. Although we will be at different institutions, I know we will continue to collaborate. I would also like to acknowledge the other Athletic Injury and Rehabilitation (AIR) Lab members and my lab mates for the countless hours of data collection, professional development discussions, brainstorming sessions, and much more. I would be nowhere without these amazing people.

I next want to acknowledge my entire family, from whom this was all possible. Thank you to my parents, Robin and Jim, for trusting in me as I searched for my passion and for their enthusiasm and endless support once I found it. Thank you to my sister, Micayla, and my brother, Joe, for their advice, inspiration, and for setting the sibling bar as high as possible. Thank you to my grandparents, Jack, Helen, Rosemary, and John. Although they are not able to see me complete this journey, I know they would be proud to finally call me "Doctor".

I would also like to acknowledge my friends ("Friends of KIN", "Nuts", "Boysies", "Dallas crew") for their unwavering support throughout this journey. Thank you for the trips, weddings, and phone calls that pushed me along. Hopefully this dissertation convinces them that "concussions are real". Lastly, to my MSU family, thank you for making this experience so incredible. I came here as a Wolverine, but a part of me is departing as a Spartan Dawg.

V

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Overview of the Problem	1
1.2. Significance of the Problem	
1.3. Purpose of the Study	5
1.4. Specific Aims	5
1.5. Hypotheses	6
1.6. Operational Definition of Terms	7
CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	11
2.1. Definition of Concussion	11
2.2. Pathophysiology of Concussion	13
2.3. Biomechanics of Concussion	15
2.4. Epidemiology of Concussion in Sport	
2.5. Risk Factors for Sport-Related Concussion	22
2.6. Assessment of Sport-Related Concussion	
2.7. The Sensorimotor System and Assessment of Sport-Related Concussion	
2.8. Return to Sport Following Concussion	56
2.9. Subsequent Injury Risk Following Sport-Related Concussion	58
2.10. Summary	61
AGED INDIVIDUALS 3.1. Abstract 3.2. Introduction 3.3. Methodology 3.4. Results 3.5. Discussion	
3.6. Conclusion	80
CHAPTER 4: SENSORIMOTOR SKILLS THROUGHOUT RECOVERY FOLLOWIN	↓G
SPORT-RELATED CONCUSSION IN COLLEGIATE ATHLETES	
4.1. Abstract	
4.2. Introduction	83
4.3. Methodology	80
4.4. Results	
4.5. Discussion	105
4.0. Conclusion	111
CHAPTER 5: THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SYMPTOM FACTORS AND SENSORIMOTOR SKILLS FOLLOWING SPORT-RELATED CONCUSSION IN	
COLLEGIATE ATHLETES	112
51. Abstract	
5.2 Introduction	

5.3. Methodology	117
5.4. Results	120
5.5. Discussion	134
5.6. Conclusion	139
CHAPTER 6: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	140
6.1. Summary	140
6.2. Limitations	143
6.3. Strengths	145
6.4. Conclusions	147
REFERENCES	148
APPENDIX A: INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD (IRB) APPROVAL FORM	178
APPENDIX B: CHAPTER 4 SCORES ON SENSORIMOTOR ASSESSMENTS WITH POOR AND MODERATE RELIABILITY	179

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1. Overview of the Problem

Concussion, commonly referred to as a mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI), has become one of the most discussed, publicized, and studied health concerns facing society over the past several decades. Sport-related concussion (SRC), in particular, has become increasingly recognized as a public health issue affecting athletes, parents, coaches, sports organizations, and the scientific and medical community. Epidemiological studies have reported that around 3.8 million sport and recreation-related concussions occur annually in the US,^{1.2} with SRC in children and adolescents accounting for up to 1.9 million annually.³ Altogether, SRC accounts for 5-9% of all sports injuries each year.² The injury has garnered massive amounts of media attention, especially with the growing concern over the potential long-term sequelae of concussion in collision sports, most notably American football.⁴ In fact, some have claimed that there is a concussion "epidemic" or "crisis" in sport.⁵ This has led to a tremendous surge in the pace of concussion research, with the hope of expanding knowledge and mitigating negative consequences in the short and long-term. Although knowledge and awareness has increased drastically, gaps in the current body of evidence are still widespread.

An SRC is defined as a traumatic brain injury (TBI) induced by biomechanical forces.⁶ There are a number of features that are used to assist in clinically defining SRC since it is an "invisible" injury by nature. First, an SRC may be the result of a direct blow to the head, face, neck, or elsewhere on the body where an impulse is indirectly transmitted to the brain.⁶ This classically leads to a rapid onset of impairment in neurological functioning, which resolves spontaneously over time. Second, an SRC is accompanied by a wide range of signs and symptoms that reflect a functional disturbance rather than a structural injury, which prevents

abnormalities from being observed on neuroimaging studies.⁶ Third, an SRC may impact multiple sign and symptom domains, including physical (e.g., headache, nausea, fatigue), emotional (e.g., irritability, sadness, anxiousness), cognitive (e.g., difficulty remembering, difficulty concentrating), and sleep (e.g., sleeping more/less, trouble falling asleep), and often causes difficulty with school, work, and time away from sport.⁷ Lastly, concussion typically follows a sequential course to injury with the majority of individuals recovering within a few weeks, but some may experience persistent symptoms and prolonged recovery.^{1,8} Overall, the variable nature of the injury makes recognition, assessment, and management of SRC a daunting responsibility for healthcare professionals.

Medical consensus advocates for a multifaceted approach to SRC management involving different assessments to provide more detailed information at the time of evaluation and throughout the recovery period.^{1,7,9} This multifaceted approach often consists of a clinical examination, symptom checklist, balance assessment, vestibular/oculomotor assessment, and neurocognitive testing. While many SRC tools have been validated and are used regularly, there is no "gold-standard" evaluation tool for the diagnosis or determination of recovery.¹⁰ The most recent American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) clinical report identified this as a large gap, problem, and a focal point where more research is needed.¹ Moreover, there remains a lack of robust metrics for clinicians to use to adequately assess function prior to return to play (RTP) following SRC. Due to this clinical limitation, there is a critical need to identify evaluation tools that can advance the multifaceted SRC assessment approach and improve management of SRC. Failure to identify robust metrics and improve SRC management may lead to negative consequences following SRC, such as a subsequent SRC or musculoskeletal injury.^{11,12}

1.2. Significance of the Problem

One of the more recent developments in SRC research is the assessment of the sensorimotor system. Sensorimotor skills, which involve the process of receiving sensory input and producing a motor output, play a crucial role in athletic performance and RTP from injury.^{13,14} Research has demonstrated that components of the sensorimotor system are affected following SRC and that deficits may persist beyond clinical recovery. Clinical recovery is defined as the return to normal activities (i.e., sport, school), and typically occurs within 10-14 days for adults and one month for pediatric patients.^{1,6,15} Acutely, deficits in vestibular (e.g., vestibular-ocular reflex) and oculomotor function (e.g., saccades) are common, which negatively influences balance and coordination.¹⁶⁻¹⁸ Cognitive impairments are also common and may result in slowed processing, decreased attention, and delayed decision-making.¹⁹ These performancebased deficits, along with accompanying symptoms (e.g., headache, dizziness, blurred vision), inhibit sensorimotor skills that are used in sport.²⁰⁻²² Even after clinical recovery from SRC, some studies have found cognitive, ocular, perceptual, and motor dysfunction.²³⁻²⁶ This supports extant evidence revealing that neurophysiological measures are altered following SRC, even when clinical symptoms have resolved.²⁷ This contributes to a dysregulated perception-action coupling process,²⁸ which results in subtle deficits in sensorimotor skills used during sport (e.g., multiple-object tracking, reaction time) and an inability to re-attune to the dynamics of the environment (e.g., inability to accurately judge the "passability" of gap between defenders).²⁹ Unfortunately, deficits in sensorimotor skills have been linked to increased risk of subsequent SRC and lower extremity musculoskeletal injury.^{11,12,30}

Rigorous assessment of sensorimotor skills following SRC may bridge a critical gap in post-SRC care and clearance for RTP. Common SRC assessments used to test ocular function

are the King-Devick and Vestibular-Ocular Motor Screening tests.^{16,31} Balance, postural stability, and motor speed, have been evaluated using the Star Excursion Balance Test,³² Multiple Hop Test,³² and Grooved Pegboard Test.²³ Assessments of sensorimotor skills, such as reaction time, have been measured using computer programs or clinic-friendly adaptations (e.g., stick drop for reaction time).³³⁻³⁶ While there are a variety of assessments for sensorimotor function, the critical barrier is that these assessments only measure components of sensorimotor ability in isolation and may not adequately test the complex integration of skills used when athletes RTP. Not only does existing research utilize a variety of assessment methods, but key studies that have examined sensorimotor deficits following concussion were conducted in adults,³⁷ non-athletes,^{23,38,39} or cross-sectionally.³⁷ This leaves a gap in the literature surrounding longitudinal SRC recovery and recovery of collegiate athletes following SRC.⁴⁰ Sensorimotor skills are particularly important to evaluate in developing collegiate athletes, as they are already at increased risk of SRC and their immature sensorimotor mechanisms make them vulnerable to injury.^{41,42}

Assessment tools that measure a battery of sensorimotor skills, such as the Senaptec Sensory Station (Senaptec),⁴³ should be utilized to obtain a comprehensive understanding of deficits following SRC. Senaptec is a computerized device that tests 10 sensorimotor skills: visual clarity, contrast sensitivity, depth perception, near-far quickness, perception span, multiple-object tracking, reaction time, target capture, eye-hand coordination, and go/no-go. Extant literature has used this computerized sensory station to examine the relationship between sensorimotor performance and head impact biomechanics and to compare sensorimotor performance in combat soldiers with and without SRC history.⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶ However, this device has not

been used to evaluate collegiate athletes following SRC, and there are limited longitudinal investigations as well.

This dissertation aims to examine this novel assessment device for sensorimotor skills, to identify sensorimotor impairments following SRC in collegiate athletes, and to examine if symptom factors and sensorimotor skills are related and which are associated with prolonged recovery. Hopefully, implementing this novel device will provide a more robust assessment of sensorimotor skills and inform clinicians of deficits that may contribute to subsequent injury in the collegiate athlete population.

1.3. Purpose of the Study

The overall purpose of this dissertation was to determine the influence of SRC on sensorimotor skills in collegiate athletes. Three studies were conducted to achieve this overall purpose. The first dissertation study (Chapter 3) sought to determine the test-retest reliability of 10 sensorimotor skills assessed by a novel computerized sensory station. The second dissertation study (Chapter 4) aimed to examine sensorimotor skill performance throughout recovery and after RTP following SRC in collegiate athletes compared to healthy matched controls. The third dissertation study (Chapter 5) aimed to examine the relationship between symptom factors and sensorimotor skills in collegiate athletes following SRC at the acute visit. The secondary purpose of the third dissertation study was to determine if symptom factors or sensorimotor skills were associated with recovery time.

1.4. Specific Aims

Specific Aim 1: To determine the test-retest reliability of 10 sensorimotor skills assessed by a novel computerized sensory station in a healthy, college-aged population.

Specific Aim 2: To determine differences in sensorimotor skills between participants with SRC and healthy matched controls acutely (within 5 days of SRC), at the time of medical clearance for unrestricted sport participation (+3 days), and at least one month following medical clearance and RTP.

Specific Aim 3a: To examine the relationship between symptom factors and sensorimotor skills in collegiate athletes following SRC at the acute visit.

Specific Aim 3b: To determine if symptom factors or sensorimotor skills at the acute visit were associated with recovery time in collegiate athletes following SRC.

1.5. Hypotheses

Hypothesis 1: Based on evidence from a previous iteration of the computerized sensory station,⁴⁷ the visual clarity, contrast sensitivity, depth perception, near-far quickness, perception span, multiple object tracking, reaction time, target capture, eye-hand coordination, and go/no-go assessments will demonstrate moderate to good reliability (ICC=0.5-0.9) in a healthy, college-aged population.

Hypothesis 2: Based on evidence of widespread cognitive, motor, vestibular, and ocular deficits acutely,¹⁶⁻¹⁹ the SRC group will perform worse on all sensorimotor skills tested with the computerized sensory station at the acute visit when compared to healthy matched controls. Based on evidence of persistent deficits in response inhibition and reaction time after recovery from SRC,^{48,49} the SRC group will perform worse on go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, and reaction time assessments at the time of medical clearance and one-month post-RTP compared to healthy matched controls.

Hypothesis 3a: Based on evidence of acute symptom burden and symptom factors being associated with worse SRC assessment outcomes,^{26,50,51} higher cognitive-ocular, migraine-fatigue, and affective symptom factor scores will be associated with worse performance on go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, multiple-object tracking, depth perception, and reaction time assessments.

Hypothesis 3b: Based on evidence showing initial symptom factors and sensorimotor skills are not associated with recovery time,⁵¹ scores on the three symptom factors and sensorimotor assessments at the acute visit will not be associated with recovery time following SRC in collegiate athletes.

1.6. Operational Definition of Terms

Contrast Sensitivity: A computerized sensory station assessment that determines how well individuals can judge differences in contrast or shading. Participants swipe in the direction of the circle containing the pattern of concentric rings (assessed at 6 and 18 cycles per degree).

Clinical Recovery: The time when an individual returns to normal activities (i.e., sport, school) following SRC.⁶

Depth Perception: A computerized sensory station assessment that determines how well individuals can judge depth and distance. With 3D anaglyph glasses on, participants swipe in the direction of the one circle that appears to be floating (3-dimensional) amongst the diamond pattern of four circles.

Eye-Hand Coordination: A computerized sensory station assessment that tests how rapidly and accurately individuals can respond to a changing target. Using either hand, participants touch

green circles that appear within the grid of equally spaced targets as quickly as possible (must hit 80 green circles total).

Go/No-Go: A computerized sensory station assessment that tests how rapidly and accurately individuals can decide about a target and respond to changes. Participants touch the green circles that appear within the grid of equally spaced targets as quickly as possible while not touching the red distractor circles.

Good Reliability: A degree of reliability obtained by administering the same assessment twice one week apart to a group of individuals and obtaining an intraclass correlation coefficient between 0.75-0.9.⁵² Established evidence recommends a minimum reliability threshold of 0.7 for clinical applicability.⁵³

Medical Clearance: The time when the physician cleared the participant for full unrestricted activity. Participants with SRC had to report resolution of symptoms, reach a baseline vestibular/ocular motor assessment, complete all 5 stages of the Concussion in Sport RTP stepwise protocol,⁶ and be cleared by a physician. Participants were in the protocol for 5 days unless symptoms returned, at which point the participant remained in that particular stage until symptoms resolved.

Multiple-Object Tracking: A computerized sensory station assessment that tests how well individuals can divide attention between moving objects and track them at various speeds. Participants select the varying number of dots that flash red at the beginning of the tests once they are done rotating.

Near-Far Quickness: A computerized sensory station assessment that determines how rapidly and accurately individuals can shift their gaze between near and far targets. Participants swipe in

the direction of the opening in the C-shaped ring, also known as Landolt ring, as it alternates the focal point between tablet and remote display.

Perception Span: A computerized sensory station assessment that tests the scope of an individual's visual field and how well visual information is acquired and retained. Participants replicate the pattern of dots flashed in the circles within the grid by memory.

Reaction Time: A computerized sensory station assessment that tests how rapidly individuals can react in response to a visual stimulus. Participants remove the dominant or non-dominant index finger as quickly as possible when the circle it is placed on turns red (stimulus).

Sensorimotor Skills: Skills that involve the process of receiving sensory input and producing a motor output.¹³

Sport-Related Concussion: A traumatic brain injury induced by biomechanical forces from a direct or indirect blow to the head, face, or body that occurred during organized sport and resulted in a variety of clinical signs and symptoms.⁶ All SRCs were assessed by physicians and involved the following criteria: a) the presence of at least one or more on-field signs (e.g., loss of consciousness, amnesia, disorientation/confusion, balance difficulties), b) symptoms (e.g., headache, nausea, dizziness), and/or c) any impairment on sideline assessments (e.g., SCAT5).

Subconcussive Impact: An impact to the head, neck, or body that does not result in symptoms or a clinical diagnosis of a concussion.⁵⁴

Symptom Factor: A group of individual SRC symptoms aggregated into meaningful groupings, or factors, using factor analytic statistical methods to better inform the clinical assessment and management of SRC.⁵⁵

Target Capture: A computerized sensory station assessment that tests how quickly individuals can shift their gaze and recognize a target in their periphery. Participants track the C-shaped ring, or Landolt ring, as it appears in different corners of the screen and swipe in the direction of the opening before it disappears.

Visual Clarity: A computerized sensory station assessment that determines how well individuals can see visual details. Participants swipe in the direction of the opening in the C-shaped ring, or Landolt ring, to complete the assessment. This is a modified Snellen procedure.

CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

This review of the literature provides a comprehensive summary of the research on sportrelated concussion (SRC), sensorimotor assessments utilized following SRC, and common sensorimotor impairments following SRC and throughout the recovery process. The definition of concussion and SRC is discussed first, followed by the pathophysiology of concussion, epidemiology, and risk factors of SRC. Next, the assessment and management of SRC is highlighted, including an emphasis on commonly used tools from the multifaceted SRC approach. An overview of the sensorimotor system is presented and connected to impairments following SRC, along with current sensorimotor skill assessments. This is followed by an examination of the RTP process following recovery from SRC and discussion of the risk for subsequent injury. This chapter concludes with a summary of relevant gaps in the extant evidence and the purposes of the three studies performed in this dissertation.

2.1. Definition of Concussion

Concussion has become one of the most debated, publicized, and studied injuries facing society over the past two decades. However, historical origins of concussion date back even further to the late 19th century.⁵⁶ In 1941, the British Medical Research Council Brain Injuries Committee defined concussion as "a state of unconsciousness, or impaired consciousness, however fleeting suddenly produced by mechanical force applied to the skull and usually followed by retrograde amnesia".⁵⁷ Since that time, a number of definitions have been used to define the injury as recognition, knowledge, and evidence advanced. In the early 1980's, it became understood that an individual does not have to lose consciousness for a concussion to occur, but that a concussion may only involve amnesia or being stunned.⁵⁶ In 1997, the American Academy of Neurology (AAN) defined concussion as a "trauma-induced alteration in mental

status that may or may not involve loss of consciousness".⁵⁸ In these earlier decades, the term concussion was often used synonymously with "cerebral concussion", as evidenced in the first published guidelines of return to contact sports.⁵⁹ Past evidence has also used descriptors such as "ding", "banged up", "bell-ringer", and "clearing the cobwebs", which have since been removed from the nomenclature completely.

Beginning in the early 2000's, an international group, the Concussion in Sport Group, was convened and focused on developing a consensus statement for concussion in sport. The first symposium was held in Vienna in 2001, and the panel came to an agreement that concussion should be defined as "a complex pathophysiological process affecting the brain, induced by traumatic biomechanical forces".⁶⁰ They also presented several features of concussion incorporating clinical, pathological, and biomechanical constructs. There have been five Concussion in Sport Group symposiums since, and the definitions that resulted from these meetings have become well-accepted, although there is no single "gold-standard" definition to this day. Other consensus statements from organizations including the AAN, National Athletic Trainer's Association (NATA), American Medical Society of Sports Medicine (AMSSM), and American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) have used the same or similar definitions.^{1,7,9,61}

The most recent consensus statement on concussion in sport defines an SRC as "a traumatic brain injury induced by biomechanical forces".⁶ The injury is either the result of a direct blow to the head, face, neck, or the result of an indirect blow elsewhere on the body where an impulse is transmitted to the head. This typically leads to a rapid onset of impairment in neurological functioning, which resolves after some time. However, there may be a delayed onset of clinical signs and symptoms, which can appear and evolve over the next few hours. The most recent consensus also states that an SRC may result in neuropathological changes (e.g.,

changes to white matter tissue), but the acute clinical signs and symptoms represent a functional disturbance rather than a structural injury, such as a fractured bone. This lack of structural change prohibits any abnormalities from being observed in standard neuroimaging studies (e.g., X-ray). An SRC results in wide range of clinical signs and symptoms, which does not always include loss of consciousness and cannot be explained by drugs, alcohol, medication use, concomitant injuries, or comorbidities. The resolution of the clinical signs and symptoms typically follows a predictable course, but some cases may be prolonged. Concussion is often used interchangeably with mTBI and, while concussion does represent the immediate and transient symptoms of TBI, the Concussion in Sport Group states this terminology is too vague and not based on validated criteria.⁶ As such, the latest Concussion in Sport Group definition and the terminology "concussion" or "SRC" will be used throughout this dissertation.

2.2. Pathophysiology of Concussion

Similar to the definition of concussion, the scientific community's understanding of postconcussive pathophysiology has evolved significantly in recent decades in an effort to better understand deficits that occur following injury. The first comprehensive review of concussion pathophysiology describes a "neurometabolic cascade" that occurs immediately following injury and evolves over the next several hours to days.⁶² This cascade of events is characterized by 1) ionic flux and neurotransmitter release, 2) an energy crisis, 3) cytoskeletal damage, 4) axonal dysfunction, 5) altered neurotransmission, 6) inflammation, and eventually 7) cell death. These physiological changes and their corresponding clinical correlates will be discussed in detail in the subsequent paragraphs.

Shearing and stretching forces caused by the concussion result in temporary perturbations in the plasmalemmal membrane.⁶³ This causes a sudden release of neurotransmitters and

unhindered ionic flux, or "mechanoporation", which leads to acute and subacute alterations in cellular physiology.⁶²⁻⁶⁴ This primarily involves the profuse excitatory neurotransmitter, glutamate, which binds to the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor and leads to neuronal depolarization, or an excitatory cellular state.^{62,65} These changes trigger voltage-gated ion channels, which creates a diffuse and spreading depression.^{63,64} It is hypothesized that this depression-like state is responsible for post-concussive impairments, notably symptom presentation.⁶⁴ There is then an efflux of potassium and an influx of sodium and calcium, which triggers the sodium-potassium pump to attempt to restore the neuronal membrane potential and cellular homeostasis. The adenosine triphosphate (ATP) needed to activate the pump triggers hyperglycolysis, or "hypermetabolism", which results in a disparity between glucose supply and demand.⁶⁴ This mismatch in the brain is referred to as the "energy crisis".

The energy crisis often occurs in a setting of reduced cerebral blood flow and is when the brain is at its most vulnerable (i.e., unable to respond to subsequent injury).⁶⁴ Furthermore, the intracellular calcium flux lasts longer than the other ionic shifts and sequesters in the mitochondria. This can lead to mitochondrial dysfunction and issues with oxidative metabolism.⁶⁶ Additional stress is then placed on the brain with the generation of free radicals and shifting metabolic pathways, which contributes to the aforementioned vulnerability to a subsequent injury.⁶⁴ This hypermetabolic period can last up to 10 days post-injury.⁶⁷

In addition to the energy crisis, cytoskeletal damage, axonal dysfunction, and altered neurotransmission occurs. Following the calcium influx, the axons lose their structural integrity, which diminishes normal neurotransmission capabilities.^{63,68} Damage to the neurofilaments and microtubules lead to further axonal dysfunction and the potential for axonal disconnection.⁶³ Neurotransmission is also altered by changes in inhibitory neurotransmitters including gamma-

amino-butyric-acid (GABA), whose main role is to reduce neuronal activity.⁶³ Studies have demonstrated a decrease in GABA post-concussion,^{63,69} which suggests a decreased neuronal inhibitory effect and could be an explanation for symptoms (e.g., anxiety or nervousness) post-concussion.

More recent evidence has examined inflammation and cell death following concussion. Although inflammatory markers are well-reported in TBI literature,⁷⁰ studies suggest that inflammatory changes are triggered following concussion as well. The activation and upregulation of microglia and cytokines contribute to ongoing cellular damage and are speculated to be the cause of tissue inflammation.^{71,72} This neuroinflammation is suspected to correlate with symptom presentation and duration following concussion and many researchers believe the extent of it is more damaging than the blow itself.^{71,73,74} Cell death, however, is less common or very limited in most animal models.⁷⁵ Cell death has been shown in the cortex and anterior thalamus in rats after concussion,⁷⁶ while human studies have shown diffuse volume loss and atrophy in the limbic and precuneal cortex.⁷⁷

2.3. Biomechanics of Concussion

As noted previously, a concussion is by definition, "induced by biomechanical forces".⁶ Therefore, understanding the various biomechanical mechanisms that may lead to a concussion are important, especially in sport and athletic populations where a multitude of forces are common. The analysis of these biomechanical forces (i.e., linear and rotational acceleration) can help to establish a threshold at which an SRC "occurs". While the majority of evidence has been limited to laboratory studies, emerging evidence is capturing real-time head impact biomechanical data during sport. Altogether, understanding the biomechanics of SRC may contribute to concussion prevention, evaluation, diagnosis, and management.

When an impulse is transmitted to the brain, either from a direct or indirect impact, the skull accelerates first while the brain follows inside the skull as the result of inertia. This results in a strain and pressure gradient in the brain tissue, which results in injury.⁷⁸ Characterizing the precise motion of the brain within the skull at impact has proven difficult in research, but research has described a concussion as a coup and contrecoup injury. The coup injury is said to occur from the stationary brain being struck by a moving object followed by the contrecoup, where the moving brain rebounds and strikes the opposite side of the skull.⁷⁹ This conception led to the notion that the brain "sloshes around" inside the skull like Jell-O in a bowl; however, evidence from cadaveric research has revealed that there is less brain motion (7 millimeter relative to skull) involved in concussive impacts than anticipated.⁸⁰

While internal measurements and characteristics are challenging in vivo, kinematic characteristics of head impacts are easier to measure and may indicate the inertial response and strain placed on the brain. The two kinematic parameters thought to be involved in concussion are linear and rotational acceleration and were first described by Ommaya and Gennarelli.⁸¹ Linear acceleration has been speculated to cause injury through transient intracranial pressure gradients from direct contact, which were found in animal and cadaveric studies.⁷⁸ Rotational acceleration has been speculated to cause injury through shear strain in the brain tissue from inertial and non-contact mechanisms.⁷⁸ While debate has occurred regarding which type of acceleration causes concussion, it is likely a combination of the two, as both occur in real-world impacts. In fact, studies of primates have found that concussion could only be intentionally caused by both forces.⁸² Still, the relative contribution of each type of acceleration to injury has not been definitively established.

Over the years, a number of brain injury impact criteria have been developed using a variety of approaches, including quantitative video analysis and wearable accelerometers or sensors. Impacts in the NFL using crash test dummies reconstructed from video analysis reported average head accelerations of 98 ± 28 g and 6432 ± 1813 rad/s².⁸³ Meanwhile, concussive impacts from wearable head sensors in football players yielded average head accelerations of 105 ± 27 g and 5022 ± 1791 rad/s $^{2.84,85}$ More recently, a systematic review of concussion kinematics in male athletes using wearable head sensors reported a mean of 98.7 g and 5776 rad/s^{2.86} The study with the most concussive impacts (105 SRCs) identified via an instrumented helmet in college and high school football players found an average linear acceleration of 102.5 g and rotational acceleration of 3977 rad/s².⁸⁷ While research in non-football populations is limited, Wilcox et al. found an average peak linear head acceleration of 43 ± 12 g and a peak rotational acceleration of 4030 ± 1435 rad/s² in female hockey players.⁸⁸ Meanwhile, reconstructions of SRCs from soccer matches had an average linear acceleration of 87 g and an average rotational acceleration of 7033 rad/s²,⁸⁹ while reconstructions from baseball games had impacts ranging from 26 to 42 g for linear acceleration and 1974 to 5266 rad/s² for rotational acceleration.⁹⁰ In addition to the magnitude of acceleration, the location of impacts has also been examined. In a study of adolescent football players, a linear acceleration of over 96.1 g, rotational acceleration between 5882-8445 rad/s², and impact location at the front, top, or back of the head were associated with increased risk of SRC.⁹¹ Conversely, head impact data from 33 collegiate football players diagnosed with SRC had a lower percentage of impacts to the front of the head and a greater frequency to the sides and top compared to a matched control group.⁹² While biomechanical research related to SRC continues to evolve, this work has helped shed light onto what it takes for injury to occur.

2.4. Epidemiology of Concussion in Sport

The occurrence of SRC has been studied in a variety of settings and populations over the past several decades. However, a precise prevalence and incidence is difficult to ascertain due to a number of factors. Concussion symptoms often go completely unreported, ^{93,95} or individuals experience a delayed onset of symptoms,⁹⁶ which also influences reporting of the injury. As such, it is hypothesized that current estimates of the burden of SRCs are significantly less than the true burden.⁹³ Current research estimates that only 1 out of every 9 SRCs are captured across the United States (US).⁴⁰ Furthermore, studies have used different metrics and forms of measurement, which makes comparison difficult between samples and populations. For example, some use a concussion rate, which is the total number of injuries divided by the total number of player exposures (i.e., player-minutes, athlete-exposure).⁹⁷ Other studies use injury risk, the injured athletes divided number of athletes at risk within a certain time period, and injury odds, which is calculated by dividing injury risk by one minus injury risk.⁹⁷ Overall, the setting, time period, underreporting, and metric all need to be considered when determining the epidemiology and burden of SRC.

The most widely cited study from the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) reported that anywhere from 1.6 to 3.8 million sport and recreation-related concussions occur annually in the US.⁹⁸ Additional evidence has reported that SRCs in children and adolescents account for up to 1.9 million annually.^{1,3} Altogether, SRC accounts for 5-9% of all sports injuries each year.² However, as mentioned previously, these figures vastly underestimate the total burden, as many SRCs go unreported, or the individual does not seek medical advice. Overall, the incidence of SRC has increased substantially over the last 15 years with improved awareness and concussion legislation that has been enacted.⁹⁹⁻¹⁰²

2.4.1. Collegiate Sports

The vast majority of epidemiological studies have focused on high school and college students-athletes. At the collegiate level, the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) has been a focal point of SRC epidemiology research due to its stature in amateur sports, number of participants, and the unique access to research that the setting provides. Most data have been collected through a national web-based injury surveillance system called the NCAA Injury Surveillance System (ISS). Earlier NCAA-ISS research from 2009-2014 demonstrated an SRC rate of approximately 4.5 per 10,000 athlete exposures (AEs), which was an increase from the rate observed during the 1988-2004 study period.^{103,104} However, the most recent study of NCAA-ISS data from 2014-2019 reported an SRC rate of 4.13 per 10,000 AEs.¹⁰⁵ The most recent data will be discussed in greater detail below.

Of the 3,500 SRCs reported from 2014-2019, over half of these were sustained during competition, resulting in an SRC rate of 10.39 per 10,000 AEs.¹⁰⁵ This was much higher than the practice SRC rate of 2.52 per 10,000 AEs (IRR, 4.12; 95% CI, 3.86-4.41). Seventy four percent of SRCs at the collegiate level were reported in-season (4.47 per 10,000 AEs), followed by preseason (22%; 3.63 per 10,000 AEs) and postseason (4%; 2.61 per 10,000 AEs). Across all sports examined, the highest SRC rates were found in men's ice hockey (7.35 per 10,000 AEs), followed by women's soccer (7.15 per 10,000 AEs), men's football (6.99 per 10,000 AEs), and women's ice hockey (6.98 per 10,000 AEs).¹⁰⁵

The highest SRC rates in collision sports were men's ice hockey (7.35 per 10,000 AEs), followed by men's football (6.99 per 10,000 AEs) and women's ice hockey (6.98 per 10,000 AEs).¹⁰⁵ While SRC rates in collision sports were higher in competition than in practice, practice-related SRCs accounted for a greater proportion of injuries. High-contact sports saw the

highest SRC rate in women's soccer (7.15 per 10,000 AEs), followed by women's gymnastics (6.68 per 10,000 AEs) and women's field hockey (5.38 per 10,000 AEs). The highest SRC rates for men's high-contact sports were in men's soccer (4.43 per 10,000 AEs) and men's basketball (3.35 per 10,000 AEs). Among limited-contact sports, the highest SRC rates were in women's volleyball (4.93 per 10,000 AEs) and women's softball (2.67 per 10,000 AEs), while the highest rate amongst men's limited-contact sports was baseball (0.95 per 10,000 AEs). In non-contact sports, very few SRCs were reported, but the highest rate was found in men's tennis (1.23 per 10,000 AEs) and women's tennis (0.96 per 10,000 AEs).¹⁰⁵

Similar to previous evidence, notable differences in SRC rates were found in sexcomparable sports.¹⁰⁵ Overall SRC rates were higher in women's soccer (7.15 per 10,000 AEs), basketball (5.25 per 10,000 AEs), and softball/baseball (2.67 per 10,000 AEs) compared to their male counterparts. This was consistent with older findings from the NCAA-ISS that showed women were more likely to sustain SRC than men (RR=1.23).^{106,107} In a meta-analysis of 38 studies, Cheng et al. found that SRC incidence rates were significantly higher in women's soccer and basketball compared to males.¹⁰⁸ Researchers suspect these differences are due to better SRC knowledge, reporting behaviors, and attitudes in women compared to men,^{109,110} which result in a higher number of reported and diagnosed SRCs. Other potential reasons include neck strength or musculature and contextual factors (e.g., rules, field dimensions).^{105,111,112}

While SRC rates are higher in women than men in the majority of studies, the SRC rates by injury mechanism varies. In men's sports, player-to-player contact accounted for the largest proportion of SRCs, except in men's baseball where equipment/apparatus contact accounted for the largest proportion.¹⁰⁵ This was consistent with extant literature from the NCAA-ISS and other studies.^{103,104} On the contrary, the majority of SRCs in women's sports were caused by

equipment/apparatus mechanisms, with the exception of women's basketball, which had over 50% related to player contact.¹⁰⁵ These differences can likely be attributed to differences in rules within each sport and gameplay dynamics.

2.4.2. High School Sports

While this dissertation is focused on collegiate athletes, it is important to acknowledge the epidemiology of concussions in high school athletes to understand how injury rates change from one athletic setting to the next. A prominent sports injury surveillance system at the high school level is the High School Reporting Information Online (RIO) database. Similar to the NCAA-ISS, this system is web-based and requires athletic trainers (ATs) at participating sites to enter injury and exposure data. Since both systems use injuries and AE over the same time period, the data is comparable. Pierpoint and Collins reports the leading concussion rates per 10,000 AE and rate ratios comparing competitions versus practices in high school and college sports from these two databases from the 2004/05 to 2013/14 seasons.⁴⁰

General trends in the data revealed that concussion rates are higher in college athletes compared to high school athletes and in competitions compared to practices.⁴⁰ Data in sexcomparable sports showed that women report higher concussion rates than men in high school and college, which is consistent with previous literature.^{40,107,113,114} In collegiate athletes, the highest overall rate was found in men's ice hockey (6.95 per 10,000 AEs), followed by men's wrestling (6.72 per 10,000 AEs), women's soccer (6.44 per 10,000 AEs), and men's football (6.31 per 10,000 AEs).⁴⁰ Comparatively, in high school sports, the highest overall rates were in men's football (7.28 per 10,000 AEs), followed by men's ice hockey (6.83 per 10,000 AEs), men's lacrosse (4.87 per 10,000 AEs), and women's soccer (4.50 per 10,000 AEs). At both

levels, competition SRC rates were higher than in practice, with the largest rate ratio in men's ice hockey (RR=11.74).⁴⁰

Previous literature has conflicted with the aforementioned data. An epidemiology study of high school football players from the High School RIO system and college football players from the NCAA-ISS found a greater proportion of SRC in high school athletes, although the overall injury rate was higher in college.¹¹⁵ Furthermore, Dompier et al. compared college football data from the NCAA-ISS with high school data from the National Athletic Treatment, Injury and Outcomes Network (NATION) and found high school football players to have the highest one-season SRC risk.¹¹⁶ Evidence in sports other than football have also demonstrated that SRC incidence is higher in high school athletes compared to older athletes.^{117,118} However, data from the NATION and NCAA-ISS found SRC incidence to be higher in collegiate athletes.¹¹⁹ This is aligned with an older study from Gessel et al. in 2007 and most recent data presented previously from Pierpoint et al. and Chandran et al.^{2,40,105}

2.5. Risk Factors for Sport-Related Concussion

While the epidemiological data above described the distribution of concussion in sport, high school vs. college athletes, and event type, there are several risk factors that increase the likelihood and susceptibility of an individual sustaining an SRC. Contact sports are an intuitive risk factor for SRC, as demonstrated above and in numerous studies.^{42,120,121} Sex and age are also common risk factors and were introduced above, but will be discussed in greater detail below. Additional risk factors include history of concussion, history of headache or migraine disorder, history of learning disability or attention deficit disorders, and history of psychiatric disorders (e.g., anxiety and depression).

2.5.1. Age and Maturation

Despite that the majority of SRCs sustained annually occur in pediatric and collegiate populations,³ two demographics undergoing a multitude of changes, relatively limited evidence has focused on the influence of age, growth, development, and maturation on SRC. As introduced earlier, most evidence examining differences in age have focused on comparing high school athletes with collegiate athletes. An epidemiology study of high school football players from the HS-RIO system and college football players from the NCAA-ISS found a greater proportion of SRCs in high school athletes, although the overall injury rate was higher in college athletes.¹¹⁵ A study comparing college football data from the NCAA-ISS with high school data from the NATION found high school football players to have the highest SRC risk over a oneseason period.¹¹⁶ These studies support earlier findings from Guskiewicz et al. who found a higher concussion incidence in a prospective cohort of high school football players compared to college football players.¹²² A survey of 12- to 24-year-olds also found that younger age was associated with increased reporting of concussions.¹²³ Several other studies across multiple sports have also demonstrated that SRC incidence is higher in high school athletes compared to older athletes.^{117,118} However, the most recent data presented earlier conflicts with these studies, suggesting that SRC incidence is higher in collegiate athletes.

The explanation for these differences has been debated, although few studies have looked further into them. Findings that high school athletes are at greater risk of sustaining an SRC support the notion that this is due to their developing and vulnerable brain, which requires less to disturb the neurometabolic processes and initiate the events following SRC.¹¹⁶ Research has demonstrated increased swelling in the pediatric brain compared to adults, potentially due to differences in glutamate receptor expression and brain water content at younger ages.¹²⁴ Studies

have also shown that increased vulnerability to oxidative stress, differences in dopaminergic activity, vascular response to injury, and differences in susceptibility of glutamate receptors between the developing and adult brains may play a role in brain injury incidence.^{124,125} Furthermore, a number of studies have suggested that incomplete myelination of axons in the developing brain place it at greater risk for shear injury from SRC.^{126,127} Lastly, thinner cranial bones and a smaller subarachnoid space in the brain have also been proposed as reasons for increased SRC incidence in younger ages.¹²⁸

While there is evidence to explain higher SRC incidence in high school compared to college-aged individuals, much of it is focused on more severe TBI. The concept is also challenged by evidence that shows brain development continues into the mid-20s when an athlete would likely be in college.^{129,130} Studies that found higher SRC incidence in collegiate athletes have speculated that the difference may be due to a gap in healthcare access at the high school level resulting in less recognition and guidance when an SRC does occur, as opposed to at the collegiate level where an AT is readily available.¹¹⁹ Moreover, no studies of young children (<14 years) have reported SRC incidence by athlete exposure, which makes it difficult to compare data with those in high school and college.¹ Studies have shown that SRCs in children ages 6 to 16 years are more likely to occur during organized sports than other activities.¹³¹ A study of football players ages 8 to 12 years even found higher concussion rates than in high school, which may support the developing brain hypothesis and pathophysiological differences mentioned earlier.¹³² Overall, the notion that younger age is a risk factor for SRC is supported, but further research in this area is needed.

Although limited, there is evidence surrounding growth and maturation that supports younger age and its role in SRC risk. As Buzzini and Guskiewicz described,¹³³ gains in weight

and body mass associated with the adolescent growth spurt increase the force and momentum of collisions during sport. In adults, cervical muscle strength functions to dissipate the resultant acceleration of a sustained force, protecting the brain from injury. However, in children, the development of neck and shoulder musculature is usually not consistent with the rest of the body, which results in the decreased ability to limit head acceleration and an increased risk of SRC from a collision.^{134,135} Collins et al. captured anthropometric characteristics from 25 states for 6,704 high school athletes in soccer, basketball, and lacrosse, along with SRC incidence data.¹³⁶ The authors found that smaller mean neck circumference, smaller mean neck to head circumference ratio, and weaker mean neck strength were significantly associated with SRC, which are all common in younger individuals.

It is possible that maturation also plays a role in SRC incidence. Studies have revealed that skeletal maturity status and tempo are risk factors for certain injury types in adolescent athletes.¹³⁷ Differences in SRC incidence between youth, high school, and collegiate athletes may result from greater variability in athlete size, strength, speed, and skill that is a result of maturity-associated variation. At the youth and high school levels, early maturing athletes are generally taller, heavier, and stronger than average or late maturing athletes, all of which may result in more frequent mismatches during sport. Yeargin et al. used maturity offset to examine the effect of maturational status variability on head impact biomechanics in youth football players.¹³⁸ They found that post-PHV (peak height velocity) boys who were taller, older, and had a longer leg length had greater head impacts compared to boys who were pre-PHV. Studies have also reported that smaller player size and lighter weights were independent risk factors for injury in youth ice hockey.^{139,140} A study of youth hockey in two provinces in Canada revealed a 3-fold increased risk of SRC in leagues that allowed body checking compared with leagues that did not

at the same age.¹³⁹ A separate study also found that menarche was a risk factor for injury in female ice hockey players.¹⁴¹ As there is extremely limited evidence investigating maturation status as a risk factor for SRC, these studies highlight the need for more research in this area.

2.5.2. Sex Differences

As highlighted earlier, female sex is a risk factor for SRC, and this is supported by numerous studies of sex-comparable sports.^{2,105-108,142-144} In a recent meta-analysis and systematic review of 38 studies, Cheng et al. found that concussion incidence rates were significantly higher in women's soccer and basketball compared to males.¹⁰⁸ A systematic review from 2013 found that 10 studies showed that women had a greater risk of concussion.¹²⁰ While four studies showed men were at higher risk, these studies involved the bias of men in high-collision sports including football. An older systematic review of prospective studies found that 9 of 10 reported higher concussion rates for females.¹⁴² The most recent data in collegiate athletes from Chandran et al. found that SRC rates were higher in women's soccer, basketball, and softball compared to in men's sports.¹⁰⁵ This was consistent with older findings from the NCAA-ISS that revealed women were 1.23 and 1.5 times as likely to sustain SRC than men.^{106,107} Female basketball and soccer players had a 1.4 times greater SRC incidence, while female softball players had a two-fold greater incidence compared to male counterparts.¹⁰⁷

Researchers suspect these differences are due to better SRC knowledge, reporting behaviors, and attitudes in women compared to men,^{109,110} which result in a higher number of reported and diagnosed SRCs. It has been hypothesized that females report more symptoms because it is socially acceptable to display vulnerability,¹⁰⁹ whereas the perception is not the same for men in a "masculine sport culture". Hormonal factors may also play a role, as circulating estrogens may lead to different symptom responses compared to males.^{107,145} Other

potential reasons include neck strength and musculature,^{112,146} lower biomechanical thresholds,¹⁴⁷ and contextual factors.^{105,111}

2.5.3. History of Concussion

In multiple studies with high-quality levels of evidence, a history of one or more concussions confers increased risk of sustaining a subsequent SRC.^{120,121,148-151} In an earlier prospective study of approximately 3,000 NCAA football players, there was an association between number of previous SRCs and likelihood of a subsequent SRC.¹⁴⁸ In particular, players with 3 or more prior SRCs were 3 times more likely to sustain another SRC compared to players with no concussion history. Similarly, a prospective study of 3,200 rugby players over multiple seasons found a 2 times higher likelihood of mTBI among players reporting 1 or more mTBIs in the year before enrollment.¹⁴⁹ A study in North Carolina of high school athletes also found greater than a two-fold increase in SRC rate for those with a history of concussion compared to those without a history.¹⁵² In a systematic review, 10 of 13 studies identified an increased risk of SRC in those with a history of concussion.¹²⁰ Lastly, a recent study of 12,320 student-athletes found previous concussion history predicting the occurrence of subsequent SRC.¹²¹

The increased risk of SRC for those with a concussion history is indicative of increased neuronal vulnerability that follows the neurometabolic cascade described earlier. Evidence on the neurometabolic cascade suggests that the vulnerability for subsequent SRC is caused by the generation of free radicals and shifting of metabolic pathways following alterations in the intracellular redox state.⁶⁴ Studies have also speculated that reinjury could be due to increased lactate from accelerated glycolysis, which leaves neurons vulnerable.¹⁴⁸ Furthermore, the impairment in neurocognitive and neurobehavioral function from SRC could contribute to future

poor behavior or functioning (e.g., decision-making) during sport,⁷⁵ resulting in re-injury, although there are few high-quality studies supporting this.¹²⁰ While there is a high level of certainty for concussion history as a risk factor, research following brain injury legislation have shown a decline in recurrent concussion rates,¹⁰² indicating that improved education, awareness, and knowledge may reduce the association.

2.5.4. Treatment History

Evidence for additional risk factors is limited and much weaker than that of age, sex, history of concussion, and contact sports. A recent study of 12,320 student-athletes found prior headache treatment increased the odds of SRC by 1.87 times.¹²¹ This is supported by an earlier study of 330 survey respondents ages 12-24 years, where headache or migraine was associated with increased risk of SRC.¹²³ However, the authors noted much is unanswered within this area, as headache and migraine may be more common already in those at greater risk of SRC. A history of learning disorders or attention deficit disorders (ADD/ADHD) have also been posited as risk factors of SRC. Nelson et al. found that ADHD and learning disorders were associated with 2.93 and 2.08 times the prevalence of 3 or more SRCs.¹⁵³ Brett et al. also found ADHD and learning disorder diagnoses increased the odds of SRC by 1.24 times.¹²¹ Lastly, within the same study, Brett et al. revealed that psychiatric history was a significant predictor of SRC.¹²¹ However, it was not significant in the multivariable model, which suggests one of the other covariates mediated the association between SRC risk and psychiatric history.

2.6. Assessment of Sport-Related Concussion

The management and assessment of SRC has advanced dramatically in the past two decades. The first pivotal step in the management of SRC occurs prior to injury in the form of

baseline assessments. Baseline SRC assessments are meant to aid clinicians in the post-injury evaluation process by providing subjective and objective information on how the individual performed in the various domains of concussion assessment (i.e., symptoms and cognitive/balance/vestibular/sensorimotor performance) in a healthy, uninjured state. Several sport organizations and athletic associations (e.g., NCAA) require baseline testing prior to the first practice or contact activity, but medical consensus recommends individuals at greater risk of SRC (i.e., females, those with prior concussion history, etc.) receive a baseline evaluation before sport participation.^{6,42,120} A baseline assessment battery should involve a neurological and medical history, clinical examination, symptom checklist, balance assessment, and neurocognitive testing at the minimum.⁹ This assessment battery can usually be incorporated into the preparticipation physical evaluation (PPE), which is already a traditional and legal requirement by governing bodies of sport.¹⁵⁴ While pre-existing factors (e.g., psychiatric condition, treatment for headaches/migraines) and "sandbagging" by the participant may limit the utility of some tests,¹⁵⁵⁻¹⁵⁷ baseline assessments are an important aspect of SRC management.

In terms of immediate management of SRC, the enactment of brain injury legislation in all 50 states and the District of Columbia has increased the percentage of concussions reported.^{101,158-160} In 2009, the State of Washington was the first to pass legislation, informally known as the "Lystedt Law", addressing the timely management of SRC.¹⁰¹ This law contains three essential components: mandatory education of athletes and parents, removal from play at the time of suspected head injury, and return to play only with written permission of a licensed, concussion-trained healthcare provider after a minimum of 24 hours. By 2014, every state established similar legislation with common themes being "immediate removal from play" and "no same day return to play" following concussion.¹⁶¹ In addition to state legislation, consensus
and position statements from numerous medical organizations, including the American Academy of Pediatrics, American Medical Society for Sports Medicine, National Athletic Trainers' Association, and the Concussion in Sport Group, have all called for the same core principles when an SRC is suspected.^{1,6,7,9}

In terms of SRC assessment and management of the injury, medical organizations and consensus statements advocate for a multidimensional approach involving a variety of assessments specific to the individual presentation to provide more detailed information at the time of evaluation and throughout recovery.^{1,9,162} This multifaceted approach is necessary for diagnosis because SRC is a functional disturbance rather than a structural injury, which prevents abnormalities from being observed on neuroimaging studies.⁶ The multifaceted approach usually consists of at least a clinical examination, symptom checklist, balance assessment, and neurocognitive testing.^{1,9,162} While this approach is used by providers nationwide, there is no "gold-standard" assessment battery available. As such, identifying the best and most accurate battery of SRC assessments has been deemed a focal point by medical organizations.^{1,6} Furthermore, there is currently a lack of effective tools for clinicians to use to assess clinical recovery and make a safe determination that the athlete is ready RTP. As a result, other types of measurements, such as gait, vestibular/oculomotor, and sensorimotor assessments, have been added to the multifaceted SRC approach. These various assessment domains and how they aid in SRC management will be discussed in detail below.

2.6.1. Symptom Assessment

One of the oldest and most useful components of the multifaceted approach to SRC evaluation is the subjective reporting of symptoms an individual is experiencing following SRC. In fact, symptoms have shown to be the most sensitive indicator of concussion on a number of

occasions.^{163,164} Symptom checklists allow for a depiction of how the individual is feeling in a variety of areas, along with the severity and duration of each symptom. The symptom evaluation is important at baseline, during the sideline assessment, and at the time of clinical examination following injury to better understand the trajectory of symptoms throughout recovery.

There are numerous different symptom evaluation tools that have been validated and are psychometrically sound,¹⁶⁵ but the symptom checklists from the Sport Concussion Assessment Tool-5 (SCAT5) and the Child SCAT5 are recommended for use by the Concussion in Sport Group.^{6,166,167} The symptom checklist of the SCAT5 consists of 22 symptoms, such as headache, dizziness, and nausea, and are graded on a Guttman scale of 0-6, 0 being "none" and 6 being "severe".¹⁶⁸ The total number of symptoms (sum of how many symptoms reported) is calculated, along with the severity of symptoms (sum of graded scores on each symptom). The Child SCAT5 is similar, but there are 21 symptoms, and the symptom descriptions are adapted for understanding for a child (e.g., difficulty remembering changed to "I forget things").¹⁶⁷ There is also a parent symptom checklist to allow the parent of the child to report their perception of their child's symptoms side by side. The Post-Concussion Symptom Scale (PCSS) is another widely used and well-validated symptom inventory, which also involves 22 symptoms graded on a 7-point scale.¹⁶⁹ However, this scale only captures a PCSS total score and includes different symptom descriptions, such as "excessive sleep" and "visual problems".

Multiple studies have reported baseline symptom scores from these tools in various populations. While no reported symptoms are ideal at baseline, that is not always the case due to medical history and comorbidities. Research has demonstrated that anywhere from 50-85% of athletes experience one or more symptoms during their baseline assessment, and adolescents in particular have shown to report a higher percentage of baselines symptoms compared to

adults.^{170,171} Females have also been shown to report more symptoms at baseline compared to males.¹⁷² In general, the most commonly reported symptoms at baseline are headache, fatigue, difficulty concentrating, drowsiness, trouble falling asleep, and nervous/anxiousness.¹⁷²⁻¹⁷⁴ Extant evidence has also utilized groups of related symptoms, called symptom factors, and found higher levels of cognitive-sensory symptoms and vestibular-somatic symptoms at baseline.⁵⁵ Furthermore, research has demonstrated that athletes reporting baseline symptoms are more likely to report a higher number and severity of those same symptoms following SRC, which emphasizes the importance of capturing this data preinjury at baseline.¹⁷⁵

Following SRC, the most commonly reported symptom is headache, with up to 95% of individuals reporting headache in previous studies.^{148,173,176} Other symptoms commonly reported following SRC include dizziness, confusion, disorientation, and fatigue.^{122,173} In high school and collegiate athletes, the five most common symptoms following SRC are headache, dizziness, difficulty concentrating, confusion, and visual problems/sensitivity to light.^{177,178} Similar to baseline, females are more likely to report more symptoms of concussion compared to males, with the exception of confusion.¹⁷⁹

While symptom inventories are useful in identifying SRC and tracking recovery, they are not without limitations. One limitation of symptom reporting is that they are subjective by nature, which means symptoms may not be reported precisely. Symptoms are often underreported or not reported at all,⁹³⁻⁹⁵ which limits the utility of these scales. Furthermore, symptom reporting is influenced by SRC knowledge, and awareness of common symptoms following SRC may be lacking.^{114,180,181} Another limitation is that prior medical history, such as history of concussion, ADD/ADHD, learning disorders, and psychiatric disorders, impact symptom reporting.¹⁸²⁻¹⁸⁴ Even with baseline assessments, several of the aforementioned

comorbidities share symptoms of SRC and make it difficult to know what to attribute the symptoms to, the SRC or the other condition.¹

2.6.2. Neurocognitive and Neuropsychological Assessment

Neurocognitive and neuropsychological assessments have become increasingly popular in the past decade, with research from the NCAA demonstrating it is the most used baseline and post-injury assessment for SRC.¹⁸⁵ Currently, computerized versions of these assessments are used instead of traditional paper and pencil tests, due to the feasibility of administration, scoring, and detection of invalid test attempts. These assessments offer insight into the executive functioning of an individual, including their information processing, motor planning, and attentional capacity, which is often impacted following SRC.¹⁹ Extant literature has demonstrated at length that declines in cognitive functioning following SRC affect performance on reaction time, memory, depth perception, hand-eye coordination, and related tasks.^{19,186-188} As a result, an examination of how each individual performs at baseline in these areas is crucial.

There are a number of neurocognitive and neuropsychological assessments available, but the Immediate Post-Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Testing (ImPACT) test has become the most popular tool for evaluating cognition in athletes following SRC. The ImPACT test battery consists of 8 tasks and 5 composite scores including verbal memory, visual memory, reaction time, visual motor speed processing, and impulse control. The ImPACT also includes a symptom inventory and questions about the athlete. A systematic review identified that ImPACT demonstrates convergent validity, but findings regarding discriminant validity, predictive validity, diagnostic accuracy, and usefulness after symptom resolution were inconclusive.¹⁸⁹

Similar to symptom inventories, obtaining a baseline and/or pre-season ImPACT assessment for each athlete is paramount for accurate comparison with the post-SRC

assessments. However, unlike symptom inventories, objective measures, such as ImPACT, capture individual differences in cognitive performance and make it difficult for athletes to underreport their injury. Even in the absence of substantial symptoms, the ImPACT may contribute to detection of SRC by demonstrating declines in cognitive performance from the athlete's baseline. If a baseline neurocognitive assessment is not available, normative ImPACT data allows clinicians to compare their athlete's performance to averages based on age, sex, and education level.¹⁹⁰ Prior evidence has demonstrated that ImPACT can accurately detect concussion-related cognitive impairment during the acute injury phase.^{191,192} In a sample of high school and collegiate athletes following SRC, 83% of the concussed sample demonstrated significantly poorer ImPACT performance 2 days post-injury compared to baseline.¹⁹² Furthermore, the addition of ImPACT testing to the symptom inventory resulted in a net increase in sensitivity of 19%. While ImPACT has been used extensively due to its feasibility for application and testing in team settings, recent evidence suggests other tools, such as the Defense Automated Neurobehavioral Assessment (DANA), may have a better ability to discriminate between individuals with and without SRC.²³ A composite score of DANA rapid assessments correctly classified adolescents with SRC and healthy controls.²³ Additionally, research in collegiate athletes reveals that their ImPACT scores return to baseline in as early as 5 days following injury.¹⁹³

While neurocognitive and neuropsychological assessments are vital, like symptom checklists, they should not be used alone due to their limitations. One limitation encountered on objective baseline assessments is a lack of effort or "sandbagging" to allow for a more rapid RTP or lack of diagnosed SRC altogether.^{156,157} To mitigate this, built into the ImPACT test battery is software that detects invalid attempts due to suspected lack of effort.¹⁹⁴ Among Division 1

college athletes, approximately 15% failed to meet the ImPACT automated validity standard.¹⁹⁴ In addition to sandbagging, strenuous exercise prior to testing, poor sleep quality, motivation, and ADHD may influence performance on and validity of the ImPACT.^{189,195} Last of all, neurocognitive assessments including ImPACT are subject to practice effects, which are increases in scores as a result of memorizing test items, developing strategies for successful completion, or other characteristics that complicate the interpretation of true change.¹⁹⁶ Previous research has determined that practice effects in ImPACT and other neurocognitive and neuropsychological assessments do occur.¹⁹⁷⁻¹⁹⁹ With evidence displaying these assessments have little clinical utility beyond the sub-acute injury phase (within 8 days),²⁰⁰ additional objective assessments should be used to determine when an athlete is ready to RTP.

2.6.3. Postural Control and Gait Assessment

In addition to the determination of signs, symptoms, and neurocognitive functioning, assessments of postural control and gait help to ascertain motor functioning following SRC. These assessments add another domain to the multifaceted approach to SRC management, since symptom severity, neurocognitive functioning, and motor functioning are not always related to one another or altered to the same degree.²⁰¹ Furthermore, recovery of cognitive processing capabilities occurs independent of postural control/gait,^{10,202} which emphasizes the need for more than symptom resolution and a clear neurocognitive test to determine readiness to RTP. Assessments of postural stability have been utilized in SRC management for over two decades, while examinations of gait have only been incorporated more recently. In regards to postural stability, or balance, impairments that occur following SRC are thought to result from the combination of deficits in the somatosensory, visual, and vestibular systems.¹⁷ The vestibular system consists of two main functional units, the vestibulospinal reflex and vestibulo-ocular

reflex, but impairment to the former has the greatest influence on postural control and balance.²⁰³ While assessments specific to vestibular-ocular reflex and oculomotor functioning will be discussed in the next section, assessments that are related to the vestibulospinal reflex, sensory, motor, and cognitive systems (i.e., static single-task challenges vs. dynamic dual-task challenges) will be discussed here.

One of the first assessments of balance post-SRC was the Romberg test, which evaluates the sway of an individual during quiet stance with eyes open and then with eyes closed.²⁰⁴ This test is meant to remove the visual and vestibular components that contribute to balance to determine how the dorsal column, which deals with proprioception, is functioning. However, this test was deemed too subjective and unreliable (i.e., clinician determines level of sway as minimal or increased), which led to the development of a more objective balance assessment, the Balance Error Scoring System (BESS).^{204,205} The BESS, which is included in the SCAT5, is the most commonly used balance assessment for SRC in collegiate athletes due to its cost effectiveness and ability to be administered feasibly in clinic or on the sidelines.²⁰⁶ The BESS involves the athlete performing double limb, single limb, and tandem stances on both a firm, flat surface and a foam pad for 20 seconds each with their hands on their hips and eves closed.^{201,205} The test administrator counts the number of errors from a predefined list placed at the end of the SCAT5 manual (e.g., step/fall, opening eyes, hands lifted off). The BESS has demonstrated strong correlations with force plate measures and good to excellent intertester reliability [intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) of 0.78-0.96].²⁰⁷ Impaired balance is a commonly reported symptom and observed sign following SRC, with approximately 40% of athletes reporting balance issues.²⁰⁸ This is supported by evidence using the BESS which shows an increase in 3-6 errors 24 hours post-injury compared to baseline.^{17,209}

While the BESS is administered frequently, it has several limitations, especially in use beyond the acute phase (~3 days). First, the total BESS score (i.e., summation of errors from each stance) has demonstrated only moderate ICC values (~ 0.57), which raises reliability concerns for clinical interpretation.^{204,205} Second, studies have shown that BESS scores return to baseline within 5 days following SRC despite continued symptomology and cognitive deficits.²⁰⁹ Third, significant learning effects for the BESS have been found with serial testing, especially in the tandem stance.²¹⁰ On top of all that, environmental distractions (i.e., busy sideline).²¹¹ fatigue and dehydration,²¹² and prior ankle injury and instability may influence performance on the BESS.²¹³ With these limitations in mind, additional assessments of postural stability have been developed, such as the Sensory Organization Test (SOT).¹⁷ The SOT is similar to the BESS, but adds a sway component through the use of a tilting force plate or test apparatus. It also includes composite scores for somatosensory, visual, and vestibular systems, which provides a more objective and valid assessment of overall impairment. However, recovery patterns of collegiate athletes on the SOT were similar to the BESS (3-5 days) and the lack of portability, cost, and clinical expertise of the test limits its utility.^{17,206} More recent biomechanical studies of center of pressure (CoP) displacement have identified residual postural abnormalities over 30 days following SRC in collegiate athletes^{202,214}; however, clinical feasibility of these techniques is limited.

To address the static nature of the BESS and SOT, assessments that replicate the more dynamic movement patterns athletes perform in sport have been developed. Dynamic postural control assessment and gait analysis can be used to help diagnose SRC, but may be even more useful in determining recovery. Biomechanical assessments of an athlete's gait speed, cadence, step/stride, sway, and CoP and center of mass (COM) displacement tell clinicians if an altered

gait strategy is present and may predispose the athlete to further injury. These variables can be assessed using single-task conditions (i.e., normal gait on level ground),²¹⁵ or using dual-task conditions, where additional motor (i.e., obstacle avoidance, tray-carrying) or cognitive tasks (i.e., serial subtraction) are added.²¹⁶

A plethora of studies have identified a conservative gait strategy following SRC in collegiate and high school athletes.^{25,38,193,217-220} These studies found a slower gait velocity, increased mediolateral range of motion, and greater time spent in double support, or the proportion of time that both feet are touching the ground during walking. Additional evidence in collegiate athletes found difficulty with gait initiation following SRC, indicating impaired postural control.^{221,222} A separate study identified slower tandem gait following SRC in collegiate athletes compared to healthy controls, while no significant differences were seen for the BESS.²²³ This again shows the limitation of the static measures of postural control and speaks to the utility of measures of gait. During dual-task conditions, the aforementioned gait deficits are intensified.^{216,220} A systematic review and meta-analysis found gait velocity and mediolateral range of motion were the most sensitive measures during dual-task conditions in those with SRC.²¹⁶ Adolescent athletes following SRC demonstrated greater dual-task costs for gait speed and mediolateral COM across five time points and were more prone to errors on an auditory task while walking.²²⁴ With increased difficulty of the dual-task condition, these athletes displayed greater COM displacement and decreased peak COM anterior velocity compared to controls.²²⁵ Moreover, a systematic review determined that COM displacement during gait was higher in concussion groups with a taxing task and may be an indicator of ongoing injury even after clinical indications of deficits have subsided.²²⁶ Even beyond traditional gait assessment, research has identified impaired propulsive and braking forces following SRC, which also persist beyond recovery.²²⁷ While single and dual-task gait demonstrate utility in identifying deficits in dynamic postural control, complex gait analysis (i.e., walking on uneven surfaces in crowded environments) and non-linear assessments of postural control (i.e., approximate entropy) may be even more sensitive to lingering impairments following SRC,^{220,228} although current evidence in these areas is limited.

2.6.4. Visual, Vestibular, and Oculomotor Assessment

As mentioned previously, the visual and vestibular systems are often affected following SRC and can manifest in different symptoms and impairments, adding another assessment piece to the "concussion puzzle". The visual or ocular system is impacted following SRC through disrupted neural communication between the brain and eyes, which is unsurprising given that half the brains circuits are involved in vision.²²⁹ This results in post-SRC visual symptoms, including blurred vision, double vision, and sensitivity to light.^{230,231} It is suspected that sensitivity to light following SRC is a result of disordered central processing and may be associated with headache or migraine symptoms.²³⁰ Vision also plays a major role in postural control by allowing the individual to orient their motion relative to other individuals, objects, or structures in their visual field,^{232,233} and can thereby indirectly influence balance symptoms as well. Altogether, evidence has shown that approximately 30% of athletes report visual disturbances in the week after SRC, up to 65% of individuals have oculomotor dysfunction after concussion, and that vision disorders are commonly seen in adolescents that present to tertiary clinics following concussion.^{55,234,235} Visual symptoms have also been associated with prolonged recovery following SRC,¹⁸ emphasizing the need for assessment of visual disturbances in the multifaceted approach for SRC assessment.

Assessments of vision or eye movement following SRC examine saccades (horizontal and vertical), near-point convergence, accommodation, smooth pursuit, and photosensitivity. One of the most popular tests of eye movement is the King-Devick (KD) test due its objectivity and feasibility to administer.²³⁶ The KD involves having the individual read numbers with variable spacing and patterns on a tablet as quickly as they can, which is scored by calculating the time required to complete the test. This task requires the use of saccades, attention, and areas of the brain involved in reading, which thereby evaluates functioning of the brainstem, cerebellum, and cerebral cortex.^{236,237} In a systematic review and meta-analysis of the KD, authors found a baseline average of 43.8 seconds to complete the test, with a sensitivity of 86% and specificity of 90%.²³⁸ Studies have also reported normative values for comparison post-SRC in a variety of athletic populations.^{239,240} Following SRC, studies have shown a 5-7 second increase in scores compared to baseline.^{236,237} In a separate study of youth and collegiate athletes, KD scores worsened in 75% of athletes following SRC and had greater capacity to distinguish concussion versus controls compared to tandem gait and the SCAT.²⁴¹ However, the KD has several limitations, including a high number of errors at baseline,²⁴⁰ a significant practice/learning effect,²³⁶ and it does not assess other areas of vision/ocular function.

Eye tracking is another type of assessment of visual function that has emerged in recent years and demonstrated efficiency in detecting abnormalities in oculomotor neural pathways.^{242,243} Eye tracking software, such as the Eyelink 1000 eye tracker, records eye movements while participants watch a video as it moves around a screen.²⁴⁴ In a study of 56 children with concussion and 83 healthy controls, 12 eye tracking metrics were significantly different between those with and without concussion.²⁴⁵ Eye tracking detected poor convergence and accommodation capabilities and correlated with symptoms in the concussion group. In a

separate study of adolescents, eye tracking identified pupillary disturbances in those with concussion compared to healthy controls.²⁴⁶ Slightly different than eye tracking technology, pupillary light reflex has also been utilized to detect change in pupillary response following SRC.²⁴⁷ Metrics of pupillary light reflex include maximum and minimum pupillary diameter, constriction/dilation velocity, percentage constriction, and pupillary re-dilation. A prospective study of 98 athletes following SRC and 134 healthy controls found that 8 of 9 pupillary light reflex metrics were significantly different among those with SRC.²⁴⁷ While eye tracking and pupillary light reflex may serve as objective physiologic biomarkers of concussion in athletes, evidence remains limited at this time.

As vision plays such a vital role in the vestibular system, the two sensorimotor components are often assessed together. The vestibular system is complex sensory organization system that involves communication between the vestibular apparatus, the ocular system, postural muscles, brainstem, cerebellum, and the cerebral cortex.²⁰³ As a whole, the vestibular system helps an individual maintain balance, visual stability, and sense of spatial orientation as their head moves and body changes position. The various organs and structures provide different types of information to the brain as movement occurs. The semicircular canals or ducts are interconnected tubes positioned in the innermost part of each ear that provide information about angular rotation based on the plane of motion they are positioned in. The otolith organs, the utricle and saccule, are located in the inner ear and detect gravitational forces and linear acceleration of the head. Together, these sensory organs contribute to the two main components of the vestibular system, the vestibulospinal reflex and vestibulo-ocular reflex. The vestibulospinal reflex coordinates positioning of the head, trunk, and body during movement, and is vital to maintain posture and balance. Meanwhile, the vestibulo-ocular reflex maintains

gaze stabilization during head movements involving acceleration and rotation.²⁰³ Accordingly, these reflexes and the vestibular system are critical for performing dynamic movements in response to the changing environmental conditions that occur in sport, which emphasizes the need to evaluate vestibular deficits following SRC.

As discussed previously, impairment to the vestibulospinal reflex results in postural control issues and can be assessed using tools such as the BESS, SOT, and single/dual-task gait analysis.^{17,220} However, impairment to the vestibulo-ocular reflex (VOR) may occur separately and manifests in different symptoms. In a study of youth athletes with SRC, 81% exhibited vestibular deficits, with 69% scoring abnormally on the test of their VOR.²⁴⁸ Prior evidence has demonstrated that impairment or dysfunction of the VOR results in symptoms of dizziness, headache, fogginess, nausea, and lightheadedness.²⁴⁹ Along with balance, dizziness is the most commonly reported vestibular symptom following SRC,⁵⁵ and the second most commonly reported symptom overall.²⁵⁰ Notably, dizziness occurs in approximately 50-77% of athletes following SRC.^{249,251} Not only are vestibular symptoms such as dizziness common following SRC, but deficits to the VOR and vestibular system have been linked with prolonged recovery.^{248,252-254} In a large retrospective study of patients with acute SRC (n=306) and postconcussion syndrome (n=93), 30% of those with SRC and 43% of those with post-concussion syndrome had vestibular-ocular dysfunction.²⁵³ Vestibular-ocular dysfunction at the initial clinic visit was associated with prolonged recovery and was an independent predictor of the development of post-concussion syndrome. In a separate study of 79 collegiate athletes following SRC, abnormal scores on tests of vestibular and oculomotor functioning were associated with increased time to medical clearance.²⁵⁴ With the high likelihood of VOR

impairment, dizziness symptoms, and prolonged recovery following SRC, it is important to assess VOR and oculomotor functioning separate from the vestibulospinal reflex.

The primary VOR and oculomotor assessment is the Vestibular-Ocular Motor Screening Tool (VOMS).²⁵⁵ The VOMS was developed to be a brief sideline assessment tool of SRC that examines symptom provocation following vestibular and oculomotor tasks. The test asks individuals to rate their symptoms of headache, dizziness, nausea, and fogginess on a scale of 0-10, with 0 being none and 10 being severe, prior to beginning the actual testing. Then, the test administrator conducts 7 vestibular and oculomotor tasks: smooth pursuits, horizontal saccades, vertical saccades, near-point convergence, horizontal VOR, vertical VOR, and visual motion sensitivity. After each task, the individual rates their symptoms of headache, dizziness, nausea, and fogginess again to determine if any symptoms were elicited. The near-point convergence task also involves the test administrator measuring the distance in centimeters between the individual's nose and the point where double vision occurred using a measuring tape. Each task is scored individually, with the total symptom score and the change in symptom scores from pretest.

In general, the VOMS has displayed great accuracy in identifying individuals with SRC from healthy controls, with an internal consistency of 0.92 in adolescent athletes with SRC and 0.97 in controls.²⁵⁵ The VOMS also has a combined sensitivity of 89% for near-point convergence distance, VOR, and visual motion sensitivity. In this same study of 64 adolescent athletes following SRC and 78 healthy controls, a total symptom score of \geq 2 on any of the VOMS tasks and \geq 5 centimeters on the near-point convergence task distinguished SRC from controls and became clinical cutoffs in adolescents.²⁵⁵ In a separate study of 263 collegiate athletes at baseline, internal consistency was 0.97 and 89% of athletes scored below the

adolescent cutoffs.²⁵⁶ Furthermore, female sex and history of motion sickness were risk factors for VOMS scores above the clinical cutoff. In a later study of 285 collegiate athletes following recent SRC (\leq 3 days) and 285 healthy controls, a score \geq 1 on each VOMS item and a horizontal VOR score of \geq 2 significantly discriminated SRC from control, establishing clinical cutoffs for this population.²⁵⁷ The total VOMS score had the highest discriminative utility (AUC=0.91), with an optimal cutoff score of \geq 8. Contrary to previous research in adolescents, near-point convergence distance did not significantly identify SRC from controls.²⁵⁷ In addition to total scores on the VOMS, evidence has shown that change scores also reveal impairments following SRC for all VOMS tasks within 7 days, and vertical VOR and visual motion sensitivity within 14 days.¹⁶ Research using the VOMS in collegiate athletes following SRC has also shown that abnormal scores (\geq 2) on smooth pursuits, saccades, and convergence were associated with increased time to medical clearance compared to healthy controls.²⁵⁴

Overall, the VOMS is a useful and valid tool for identifying SRC and predicting those at risk of prolonged recovery. Additionally, the VOMS is more comprehensive than purely visual/ocular assessments, such as the KD, because it incorporates evaluations of oculomotor function (e.g., pursuits, convergence) and vestibular function (e.g., VOR), which are both robust discriminators of SRC.²⁵⁷ While the VOMS is an important component of the multifaceted concussion approach, it is not without limitations. First, the VOMS involves subjective symptom reporting, which inherently introduces bias compared to more objective measures. Athletes may not understand what the symptoms are or do not wish to report symptoms for fear of being diagnosed with SRC.²⁵⁸ The symptom scale also differs from that of the SCAT5, for example, which may introduce confusion. Second, evidence has shown post-test symptom improvement compared to pre-test on the VOMS in some individuals,¹⁶ which may dilute the utility of

comparing to baseline following SRC. Last, there is limited evidence beyond the acute recovery period following SRC, which limits the use of the VOMS in determining when an athlete is ready to RTP.

2.6.5. Clinical Examination and Profiles

The heterogeneity of SRC presentation and variety of assessment domains mentioned above has led to the proposal of clinical profile-based approaches to SRC management. The determination of clinical profiles occurs during the clinical examination phase and helps to inform the types of assessments administered, along with targeted therapies and rehabilitation programs for athletes with SRC. The initial clinical profile approaches and classification systems were developed in 2014 to accelerate safe RTP for athletes following SRC.^{259,260} These profiles were originally developed in concussion specialty clinics, but can be applied to care in a variety of environments. The updated clinical profile-based conceptual model for SRC will be discussed below.²⁴⁹

The current clinical profiles or trajectories following SRC include cognitive/fatigue, vestibular, ocular, post-traumatic migraine, anxiety/mood, and cervical/sleep.²⁴⁹ Common symptoms, clinical examination findings, risk factors, and targeted treatment strategies for each clinical profile can be found in Kontos et al.²⁴⁹ Since prior iterations of the model, the cervical profile has been joined with sleep-related problems as emerging modifiers of SRC. In some instances, athletes may present with one clearly defined clinical profile, but most typically present with multiple profiles that often overlap with one another.²⁵⁹ As such, the prioritization of these profiles is important and should be informed by the comprehensive list of assessments discussed previously. Obtaining detailed medical history, injury characteristics, and relevant risk

factors is also vital to ascertain the interplay among primary, secondary, and even tertiary profiles.

A study of 236 participants between the ages of 11 and 40 years following concussion found the following frequency distribution for primary profiles: 26% migraine, 24% anxiety/mood, 19% vestibular, 16% ocular, 11% cognitive/fatigue, and 4% no clear profile.²⁴⁹ Notably, almost half of the participants presented with vestibular-ocular and cognitive/fatigue profiles, which all may contribute to broader scale sensorimotor deficits. In this study, the migraine clinical profile was associated with an increased likelihood of a secondary vestibular profile, suggesting that these profiles should be anticipated and planned for together. Altogether, these findings highlight the importance of a multifaceted, comprehensive assessment approach following SRC.

2.7. The Sensorimotor System and Assessment of Sport-Related Concussion

The sensorimotor system encompasses all of the somatosensory, motor, visual, vestibular, and central integration and processing components involved in the simple and complex movements that occur in sport.²⁶¹ Broadly, it governs an individual's ability to perceive and respond to stimuli from the external environment, as well as the ability to move and perform functional activities. While the sensorimotor system incorporates all afferent, efferent, and central integration and processing components, the somatosensory and motor regions of the brain are referred to as the primary sensorimotor cortex.²⁶² Representations of different body parts in the primary sensorimotor cortex are organized from the toe at the top of the cortex to the mouth at the bottom, and the amount devoted to a body part is related to the precision required for somatic sensation and/or motor control.^{262,263}

Similarly, sensorimotor functions can be organized into various functions and mechanisms. Visual functions/mechanisms help detect objects and orientation of the body in space.^{41,264} Vestibular functions/mechanisms detect linear and rotational acceleration of the head. Neurocognitive processing functions/mechanisms relate to how efficiently and effectively sensory cues are received and processed into movement. Somatosensory functions/mechanisms, such as cutaneous sensations, provide information about the body relative to other surfaces. Neuromuscular and postural control functions/mechanisms use somatosensory, visual, and vestibular signals to provide reference frames for where the body is in space, which helps with accuracy and inhibition of motion.^{41,264}

So far, many areas of SRC assessment have been covered in this dissertation, but the majority of these assessments evaluate types of functioning (e.g., symptoms, neurocognitive, motor, visual) individually and seldom test the integration of multiple systems. However, assessments of sensorimotor functioning inherently accomplish that and, therefore, hold promise to contribute to the multifaceted concussion approach. While examination of sensorimotor functioning has been occurring for decades,²⁶⁵ evidence is severely limited following SRC. If individual systems (e.g., visual, vestibular) are not revealing impairments following SRC, sensorimotor assessments may be able to determine if integration processes in the sensorimotor system are where the underlying deficits exist.

2.7.1. Sensorimotor Skills

The characterization of sensorimotor function into the various functions/mechanisms can also be described as "sensorimotor skills".²⁶⁶ For example, visually-based sensorimotor skills include depth perception and near-far quickness, vestibular-based sensorimotor skills include eye-hand coordination, and cognitive processing-based sensorimotor skills include reaction time

(RT). Specific sensorimotor skills, which still all involve the process of receiving sensory input and producing a motor output, play a crucial role in athletic performance and RTP from injury.^{13,14} While there is a paucity of evidence examining sensorimotor integration following SRC, a number of studies have examined specific sensorimotor skills. In the absence of a comprehensive sensorimotor assessment, these may be utilized as a proxy of sensorimotor function.

Reaction time is the sensorimotor skill that has been explored the most following SRC. It is important to note that, in the concussion literature, RT is misclassified as the response time, which is the total time from stimulus presentation to movement completion, instead of true RT, which is the time from stimulus presentation to movement initiation.⁴⁸ Since RT is standard terminology in the literature, it will be used to signify response time throughout this dissertation. Reaction time is usually examined using computerized neurocognitive testing, such as the ImPACT test.⁴⁸ Studies have demonstrated that RT is worse in concussed athletes compared to controls.^{33,183,267-270} Eckner et al. compared clinically-measured and computerized RT in 9 collegiate athletes at baseline and following SRC and found that RT measured clinically was prolonged in more concussed athletes compared to computerized RT.³⁴ In a study of visual reaction time, athletes with SRC had significantly worse dual-task RT compared controls.²⁷⁰ Central and peripheral visual RTs were significantly prolonged following SRC compared to those without a SRC history.²⁶⁷ Slower RT during driving simulation has also been detected amongst asymptomatic athletes with concussion compared to controls (mean difference = 292.86ms).²⁶⁸ Lastly, video oculography has demonstrated increased RT in high school athletes following SRC compared to control athletes.²⁶⁹

There is limited research on sensorimotor skills outside of RT. Ellemberg et al. found that collegiate female soccer players following SRC performed significantly worse on decisionmaking, response inhibition, and planning compared to age-matched controls.²⁷¹ Schneider et al. found that ice hockey players following SRC had altered measures of split attention during a complex task involving walking while talking.²⁷² Halterman et al. found worse visuospatial attention and orientation one-month following SRC.²⁷³ A separate study by Catena et al. found that spatial attention is lacking following concussion and results in increased probability of obstacle contact.²⁷⁴ Another study examined multiple-object tracking following SRC in professional athletes using a three-dimensional multiple-object tracking test (3D-MOT).²⁷⁵ Athletes with SRC exhibited poor performance on 3D-MOT at 2 days following their injury compared with healthy controls. Lastly, attention, multi-tasking, and decision-making were disrupted in concussed adolescent athletes for up to 2 months after injury when compared with a healthy cohort of matched control subjects.²⁴ While these studies have identified deficits in sensorimotor skills following SRC, they are often associated with another assessment tool (e.g., ImPACT) and may not adequately test the integration of skills used when athletes return to sport.

2.7.2. Sensorimotor Integration

To this point, performance on complex gait analyses or balance following SRC may be the best assessments of sensorimotor function and integration since these perturb multiple systems of the brain at once.²²⁸ However, these tests must challenge athletes in sensorimotor integration situations enough to elicit the underlying deficits from SRC, which few do.²⁷⁶ Complex gait tasks, such as walking on uneven surfaces in crowded environments requiring obstacle avoidance and navigation while performing serial subtraction, stress the cognitive, vestibular, and motor systems and may elicit responses not identified through other assessments.

These tasks require sensorimotor skills including spatial awareness, coordination, response inhibition, and more, and are commonly used in sport for successful performance and injury avoidance. An example of a multi-modal assessment of complex gait is the High Level Mobility Assessment Tool, which has shown sensitivity to concussion.²²⁸ However, there is limited evidence of complex gait following SRC and the tests need to be performed in a research laboratory, take considerable time, and can be costly.

Many balance assessments attempt to perturb the sensorimotor system through manipulation of sensory feedback. Since balance is regulated via "sensory integration" and "sensory-to-motor" components, researchers have attempted to functionally characterize each balance control mechanism to improve clinical assessment.²⁷⁷ The Central Sensorimotor Integration (CSMI) test uses a commercially available balance device and generates pseudorandom stimuli that apply intermittently-repeated rotations of the stance surface and/or visual surroundings.²⁷⁷ This protocol measures COM body sway, frequency response functions (FRFs), sensory weights, and sensory-to-motor transformation properties (i.e., feedback time delay).²⁷⁷ A study of 52 individuals with chronic concussion balance symptoms and 58 matched controls were tested using the CSMI and SOT.²⁷⁸ The study team found increased sway, longer time delays, reduced stiffness, and decreased motor activation in the concussion group across a variety of conditions, suggesting that ongoing balance impairments are the result of sensory integration deficits and not damaged vestibular organs.²⁷⁸ This supports previous evidence in individuals with chronic concussion balance symptoms that found no oculomotor or vestibular deficits.²⁷⁹ While these studies do support the assessment of balance to determine sensorimotor integration following SRC, these were performed in chronic populations and not in the acute or sub-acute recovery phase. Furthermore, as indicated by the developers of the CSMI, most

clinicians lack the educational background to adequately complete and analyze the test, which limits its translatability to the multifaceted concussion approach.²⁷⁷

2.7.3. Perception-Action Coupling

Emerging evidence is exploring sensorimotor function through examination of the perception-action coupling behavior, which is based on the Direct Perception Theory. The Direct Perception Theory, posits that sensory perception is the direct result of information from the environment.²⁸⁰ Applying this theoretical framework to sport, stimuli from the game/practice (e.g., environment) is directly detected by the athlete (perceiver) and continuously acted upon, without a need to expand upon the information internally, which proceeds in a perception-action coupling loop.²⁸¹ This is a bottom-up processing approach, where sensory information (e.g., vision, hearing) is necessary for understanding stimuli from the environment instead of perception being passive and computational. Gibson later expounded on this idea by theorizing that the athlete actively seeks the sensory information through exploratory movements.²⁸² This brings about affordances, or possibilities for action for an athlete in their sport. Exploratory movements, such as a field hockey player scanning the field, allows them to detect affordances and provide sensory information for action, such as making a juke to avoid an oncoming defender. However, these affordances have boundaries (i.e., limitations to action) and require athletes to "actualize" them based on their physical abilities (e.g., strength, speed, height).²⁸¹ The actions available to the athlete are constantly changing throughout the game/practice as they compete, in addition to state of the athlete (i.e., fatigue, injury). If the athlete is negatively impaired in any way (i.e., SRC), they may overestimate their capability to complete an action and actualize an affordance, which may contribute to increased risk of injury.²⁸³ For example, an athlete who does not have the height or jumping ability to dunk a basketball may incur additional injury risk if they attempt the action in a game/practice. The perception-action paradigm also applies to future movements, where the athlete detects similarities and differences in their environment after repeated action and adapts to them for prospective action.²⁸⁴⁻²⁸⁶ With experience and practice in sport, athletes adapt to the constraints imposed on them and become more capable of actualizing affordances and overcoming boundaries, but are still required to calibrate to the environment.^{281,286}

The potential theoretical relationship with SRC led to the development of the Perception Action Coupling Task (PACT), which is a reliable and valid measure of alertness and perception of one's limitations to actions.²⁸⁷ This assessment requires participants to make judgements about whether a virtual ball will fit into an opening in several cycles. Athletes with a history of SRC demonstrated longer movement and RT on the PACT compared to controls, which suggests deficits in actualization of affordances and perception accuracy.²⁸⁸ While more research needs to be conducted on the PACT in various populations following SRC, this is an efficient and feasible tool for clinic that can be added to the current SRC management approach and as a step in the gradual RTP protocol.

2.7.4. Virtual Reality

To further address sensorimotor integration and a dysregulated perception-action coupling state, clinicians can implement advanced sport-specific scenarios conducted within extended reality, which includes virtual reality (VR), augmented reality (AR), and mixed reality (MR). Virtual reality involves computer-generated simulated environments in real or created worlds where the individual interacts with the virtual space using digital recreations of themselves.²⁸⁹ Immersive VR involves a head-mounted display where the user is placed into a 3D environment, while non-immersive VR involves interacting with the simulated world using a

remote. Augmented reality involves the projection of virtual objects into the real world where the individual is not able to interact with the virtual overlay. Mixed reality involves the virtual object being projected into the real world at which point they are able to interact with it.²⁸⁹

Virtual reality has demonstrated ecological validity and reliable results, and has the unique ability to provide an interactive 3D environment that can challenge sensorimotor integration.²⁹⁰ Unlike traditional assessments that examine components of sensorimotor function in isolation, they are able to target the complex integration of cognitive, motor, visual, and vestibular functioning. One such use of VR following SRC is to test the "moving room" paradigm, which observes postural sway induced by optic flow.²⁹¹ Following SRC in a group of student-athletes, participants were unable to view the "moving room" and experienced dizziness symptoms.^{292,293} Furthermore, participants had an increased CoP area and decreased CoP coherence up to 30 days following SRC, which suggests perceptual-motion disintegration.^{292,293} Teel et al. used this VR paradigm clinically with postural control scores (0-10 scale, 10 being best performance) and found a cutoff score of 8.25 had 85.7% sensitivity and 87.8% specificity in distinguishing SRC from control within 7-10 days.²⁹⁴ Evidence using Nintendo Wii games within 3 days of SRC found those with concussion had a greater number of gaze deviations and possible disruption of the VOR response, despite weak predictive ability of concussion vs. control group (AUC=0.61-0.69).^{295,296} A recent study of 11 participants with concussion and 10 controls found that sensorimotor conflicts (e.g., platform perturbations, visual scene perturbations) introduced in an immersive VR environment brought out hidden balance impairments in those with concussion.²⁹⁷ Lastly, a review of VR as an assessment tool for SRC found that visual motion is destabilizing following SRC and that VR-based assessments may be more sensitive than traditional assessments, such as the BESS.²⁹⁸

While novel technology using extended reality is promising, there are a number of limitations that make its use questionable. First and foremost, the majority of the studies of VR following SRC involve a small sample size and limited scope, and the validity has not been established to inform evidence-based practice.²⁹⁸ Additionally, the use of "moving room" VR paradigms may exacerbate symptoms of motion sickness, dizziness, and disorientation in the acute phase following SRC, without understanding of long-term effects on recovery.²⁹² Lastly, the cost, technical expertise, and space requirements to invest in such systems may be too unrealistic for a clinical setting.

2.7.5. Computerized Sensory Stations

While the assessments of sensorimotor function discussed in previous sections hold promise, there are a few critical barriers to these modalities that limit their utility moving forward. First, the assessments of individual sensorimotor skills, such as RT, only measure sensorimotor function in isolation and may not adequately test the wide range of skills or integration of systems used when athletes return to the complexities of their sports. Second, more advanced protocols, such as complex gait analyses, CSMI, and VR, come with significant limitations, including cost, feasibility, and a high level of required training and expertise to execute. Third, all of these assessments, including the PACT, lack evidence in populations following SRC, study designs that limit bias (e.g., prospective studies, RCTs, meta-analyses), and adequate sample sizes. One solution to these limitations has been the development of computerized sensory stations, which test a variety of sensorimotor parameters in one battery. The sensory stations, often called vision trainers, on the market provide objective data on performance in sensorimotor skill areas compared to normative data or athletes of a similar level (i.e., sport, position, experience), along with recommendations for improvement. Changes in

performance can be objectively tracked over time, which may be useful in determining recovery from injury as well. The systems range in cost based on function (\$1,000-\$25,000) and most include a license that can be used with a headset, laptop, smartphone, or monitor.

Popular sensory stations or vision trainers used in clinical care include the Neurotracker, Bertec Vision Trainer, and Senaptec Sensory Station. The Neurotracker involves viewing multiple 3D moving targets in increasing levels of difficulty, which tests visual processing, awareness, executive function, working memory. The Bertec Vision Trainer trains visual, motor coordination, and balance skills using a mounted touchscreen and force plate. There have been some studies conducted using the Neurotracker in a population with concussion, but no studies involving the Bertec Vision Trainer at this time. Using the Neurotracker, a study of pediatric patients found smaller improvements in 3D multiple object tracking following concussion compared to controls.²⁹⁹ A separate study in collegiate athletes before two different athletic seasons found the Neurotracker demonstrated acceptable test-retest reliability, while only the visual motor speed test of the ImPACT demonstrated retest reliability.³⁰⁰ Aside from the lack of evidence, these systems only evaluate cognitive, postural control, or visual systems through one test, instead of a variety of tests, which may be needed to tax the sensorimotor system to the necessary degree to elicit deficits following SRC. A computerized sensory station that measures a battery of sensorimotor skills, such as the Senaptec Sensory Station (Senaptec),⁴³ should be utilized to obtain a comprehensive understanding of sensorimotor deficits following SRC.

Senaptec is comprised of interactive touch screen devices and a remote utilized to test 10 sensorimotor skills: visual clarity, contrast sensitivity, depth perception, near-far quickness, perception span, multiple object tracking, reaction time, target capture, eye-hand coordination, and go/no-go.⁴³ Senaptec's 7-test predecessor, the Nike SPARQ, demonstrated repeatability and

minimal learning effects over time.⁴⁷ Extant literature using this device has examined the effect of sensorimotor performance on head impact biomechanics (i.e., linear and rotational acceleration) and to compare sensorimotor performance in combat soldiers with and without concussion history.^{45,46} However, there is no evidence reporting the retest reliability of Senaptec or using its sensorimotor assessments in the collegiate population following SRC and throughout recovery. Exploring these gaps in the literature is the overall goal of this dissertation.

2.8. Return to Sport Following Concussion

Since SRC cannot be observed on neuroimaging studies,⁶ clinicians rely on the multifaceted assessment battery to determine when an athlete's signs, symptoms, and functional deficits of SRC have resolved. Clinicians repeat the assessments used in the initial examination and subsequent visits throughout recovery, such as the SCAT5, ImPACT, and VOMS, and compare them to the athlete's baseline or to normative data if baseline assessments were not available. If they have returned to baseline or pre-injury levels, the clinician will then use their professional discretion to determine the athlete is ready to progress back to school, work, and sport. This process of returning to normal activities, deemed "clinical recovery", involves the completion of an exertion protocol, which is known as the RTP protocol. The laws differ by state, but most require written permission from a physician or advanced practitioner before the athlete is allowed to begin their RTP protocol.¹⁶¹

The RTP protocol most commonly used to progress athletes back to sport was developed by the Concussion in Sport Group.⁶ This RTP protocol is a stepwise or graduated protocol, meaning that one stage must be successfully completed without the return of symptoms before the athlete can proceed to the next stage. The RTP protocol is usually conducted by an AT who monitors the athlete's progress and is able to address any setbacks. If symptoms do occur or

return at any point in the protocol, the athlete must repeat that stage until they no longer experience symptoms related to SRC. There are 6 stages in total the athlete must pass before they are allowed to RTP. Each of these stages should be performed for at least 24 hours before the next stage is initiated. After an initial period of 24-48 hours of physical and cognitive rest, the athlete can begin stage 1. Stage 1 consists of symptom-limited activity involving daily activities, such as work and school activities, which do not provoke symptoms. Stage 2 consists of light aerobic exercise, such as walking and stationary cycling, with the goal of increasing the athlete's heart rate. Stage 3 consists of sport-specific exercises, such as running or skating drills, with the goal of adding movement back into the athlete's life. Stage 4 consists of non-contact training drills, such as passing drills and progressive resistance training, with the goal of exercise, coordination, and increased thinking. Stage 5 consists of a full contact practice where the main goal is to restore confidence in their abilities and assess functional skills. Finally, Stage 6 consists of returning to sport where normal game play occurs. An extended or more conservative RTP protocol may be necessary for youth athletes and those athletes that have been held out of play for an extended period of time.⁶ Lastly, the clinician needs to consider additional factors, such as risk factors for prolonged recovery and subsequent injury, regarding appropriate timing for a safe RTP.

Historically, clinical recovery has been 10-14 days for adults and one month for pediatric patients.^{1,6,15,301,302} A recent study of 1,751 collegiate athletes following SRC found a median total RTP duration of 12.8 days,³⁰³ which fits within the "normal" clinical recovery timeline. However, a number of collegiate athletes in this sample were not cleared to begin their RTP protocol or for unrestricted sport participation until one month following SRC. Some of the reasons for the extended time included less frequent post-injury assessments, greater initial visit

symptom severity, and three or more prior concussions.³⁰³ This also is in accordance with previous evidence, which shows that some athletes may experience persistent symptoms and prolonged recovery.^{1,8,42}

Research on risk factors for prolonged recovery or longer duration to RTP following SRC has advanced significantly in the past decade. Similar to risk factors for sustaining an SRC, female sex,^{107,208,303} those with recurring migraines,^{42,304} and those with a history of concussion are also at risk of protracted recovery.^{148,303} More well-established evidence has shown that younger age,^{6,15} severe acute symptoms (e.g. amnesia, headache, trouble concentrating, loss of consciousness),^{42,303} mental health disorders (e.g. anxiety, depression),¹⁵ and delayed removal from play result in prolonged recovery.^{305,306} Recent evidence has also demonstrated that delayed initiation of clinical care or longer time to initial clinic visit is associated with longer recovery after SRC.³⁰⁷

2.9. Subsequent Injury Risk Following Sport-Related Concussion

Although the process described in the previous section has been in place clinically for years, a recurring dilemma in management of SRC is determining when athletes are truly recovered. The main concern is that clinical recovery may not signify complete neurophysiological recovery of the brain, which may place the athlete at risk for additional injury and potential long-term sequelae. A primary short-term risk of premature RTP is a repeat or subsequent SRC.^{12,148} Multiple SRCs can lead to future negative consequences, including more physical, cognitive, and emotional symptoms before sport participation, and in some cases, slower recovery from additional SRCs.⁶ A growing body of literature has also found that athletes are at increased risk of musculoskeletal (MSK) injury in the year following SRC, with odds ranging from 1.5 to 5 times the risk.^{11,308-310} These increased odds of subsequent injury may be

due to underlying sensorimotor deficits (e.g., neuromuscular control, reaction time) that prohibit the athlete from adjusting to the complexities of their sport.^{28,29,308} Thus, thorough examination and assessment of these potential deficits after clinical recovery from SRC is warranted.

Extant research has found that sensorimotor function is altered following SRC, even when clinical symptoms have resolved.²⁷ Neurophysiological changes to the primary motor cortex following SRC, such as increased cortical inhibition and motor activation threshold, have been directly connected to alterations in motor function that negatively influence action.^{311,312} This is supported by a number of cross-sectional and prospective studies of motor performance after concussion.^{23,25,308,313,314} Servatius et al. examined motor deficits in asymptomatic adolescents after concussion and found deficits in RT, response inhibition, and motor speed.²³ Another study examined how RTP affected gait balance control strategies and found adolescents with concussion demonstrated increased medial and lateral displacement of their COM during dual-task gait, which revealed a regression of gait balance control after RTP.²⁵ A separate study found dual-task gait cost worsening after recovery was associated with time-loss injuries during sport the year after SRC.³¹³ In addition to neurophysiological impairments, changes to the somatosensory cortex and abnormalities in white matter tracts can be present after clinical recovery from SRC,^{315,316} which affects systems that are crucial for movement planning (e.g., visual, spatial). All of these studies support evidence documenting the neurometabolic cascade of concussion, which posits that the existence of underlying pathophysiological changes after recovery from SRC may be responsible for increased risk for subsequent injury.^{62,64,317}

The Direct Perception Theory can be used to explain the increased risk of MSK injury following RTP from SRC. The lingering impairments to the sensorimotor system following clinical recovery from SRC mentioned above may disrupt the perception-action coupling loop.

Furthermore, specific persistent symptoms may also result in a dysregulated perception-action coupling and lead to subsequent injury. Anxiety, sleep, blurred vision, dizziness, and balance problems are common following SRC and could contribute to subsequent injury by disrupting the perception-action coupling loop.²⁴⁹ Anxiety has been directly associated with alterations in perception and action capabilities. Daviaux et al. carefully induced anxiety in participants by restricting breathing during a seated reach-and-grab task and found that increases in anxiety were associated with underestimating action capabilities.³¹⁸ Anxiety can also impair attention,³¹⁹ which may inhibit detection of affordances in exploratory movements.²⁸² Sleep abnormalities, such as sleep disturbances and insomnia, have also been linked with alterations in perception and action capabilities. Researchers investigated the effect of sleep deprivation on a step task and found that selection of affordances was influenced by sleep.³²⁰ Lastly, ocular and vestibular symptoms (e.g., blurred vision, dizziness) play a major role in the perception-action coupling loop, as these abilities are key to guiding movement through the environment. Blurry or foggy vision will inhibit the detection of affordances and changes that occur during play,²⁴⁹ which interferes with prospective movements.³²¹ Dizziness and balance problems may disrupt spatial orientation and proprioception, which influences the perception of action boundaries based on an athlete's physical capabilities.²⁹

Unfortunately, there remains a dearth of evidence examining these underlying sensorimotor deficits and related symptoms that may lead to subsequent injury after SRC. One major reason for this is that the sensorimotor deficits are subtle and often not detectable in a clinical setting. As mentioned previously, while vestibular-ocular and postural control tests assess components of sensorimotor control, they may not translate to the sport environment or include the integration of sensorimotor components that are used in sport. Moreover, many

symptoms go unreported, which makes it difficult for clinicians to treat them.^{94,95} Nonetheless, the current literature suggests that failure to address impairments to the sensorimotor system and symptoms that exist after clinical recovery from SRC may increase the risk of subsequent injury in athletes. Assessments to detect sensorimotor deficiencies and elicit underlying symptoms, along with interventions to address these factors, can help to protect athletes when they RTP.

2.10. Summary

Clinicians lack robust metrics to adequately assess functional deficits following SRC. Medical consensus supports a multifaceted approach to SRC management involving a variety of assessments (e.g., clinical exam, neurocognitive test).^{1,9,162,322} However, there is no "goldstandard" evaluation tool for diagnosis or assessment of recovery, which may result in deficiencies being missed.¹⁰ Due to this clinical limitation, there is a critical need to identify evaluation tools that can advance the multi-faceted concussion assessment approach and improve management of SRC. Failure to identify robust metrics and improve SRC management may lead to negative consequences following SRC, such as a subsequent SRC or MSK injury.^{11,12}

Deficits in sensorimotor function following SRC may result in subsequent injury. Sensorimotor skills, which involve the process of receiving sensory input and producing a motor output, play a crucial role in athletic performance and helping an athlete reacclimate injury.^{13,14} However, research has demonstrated that components of the sensorimotor system are affected following SRC and that deficits may persist beyond clinical recovery. Clinical recovery typically occurs within two weeks for adults and one month for pediatric patients,^{1,303} although some cases may take longer to recover. Within the first three days following SRC, deficits in vestibular and oculomotor function are regular, which negatively influences postural stability and coordination.¹⁶⁻¹⁸ Cognitive impairments are also widespread and result in decreased processing,

attention, and decision-making.¹⁹ Even after clinical recovery from SRC, research has shown lingering sensorimotor dysfunction,^{23-26,313} which supports evidence of disrupted neurophysiological measures following SRC.²⁷ Concerningly, deficits in sensorimotor function have been associated with increased risk of subsequent injury,^{11,30} which is the motivation behind this dissertation.

A more in-depth assessment of sensorimotor function following SRC may address the crucial gap in the concussion multifaceted approach regarding determination of underlying deficits. Ocular and vestibular functioning are assessed using the KD and VOMS,^{31,255} cognitive functioning is assessed using the ImPACT,^{189,191} and postural stability is assessed using the BESS,^{17,205} SOT,¹⁷ and gait analyses.^{218,220} Assessments of specific sensorimotor skills, such as response inhibition, use computer software or tests adapted for clinic.³³ While several assessments for individual types of sensorimotor function have been discussed in this dissertation, the major problem is that these assessments do not test a battery of sensorimotor skills at one time and may not perturb the athlete's sensorimotor system enough to provoke underlying deficits. Assessment tools that comprehensively measure sensorimotor function, such as Senaptec,⁴³ may help address this issue of understanding deficits following SRC. While the reliability of previous computerized sensory stations have been determined,⁴⁷ the test-retest reliability of Senaptec in a collegiate population has not been studied. This computerized sensory station has also not been used to evaluate collegiate athletes following SRC. Furthermore, as certain symptoms may alter sensorimotor function differently,^{28,318,320} the association between symptom factors and performance on sensorimotor assessments in the acute phase after SRC should be investigated.

CHAPTER 3: THE RELIABILITY OF A COMPUTERIZED SENSORY STATION FOR THE COMPREHENSIVE ASSESSMENT OF SENSORIMOTOR SKILLS IN COLLEGE-AGED INDIVIDUALS

3.1. Abstract

Background: Various assessment modalities exist to evaluate performance of individual sensorimotor skills, such as computer programs for reaction time. However, there is limited research examining the reliability of an assessment tool that measures a comprehensive battery of sensorimotor skills.

Purpose: To determine the test-retest reliability of 10 sensorimotor skills assessed by a novel computerized sensory station.

Methods: A test-retest reliability design was employed. Participants included college-aged individuals (18-30 years) without a history of neurologic condition (e.g., moderate/greater TBI, epilepsy). Participants completed 10 sensorimotor skill assessments on a computerized sensory station (Senaptec Sensory Station, Senaptec Inc., Beaverton, OR) at two testing sessions one week apart (± 1 day). These skills included visual clarity, contrast sensitivity, depth perception, near-far quickness, perception span, multiple object tracking, reaction time, target capture, eye-hand coordination, and go/no-go. Separate intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs) with a two-way mixed-effects model, absolute agreement, and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated to determine the test-retest reliability of each assessment. ICCs were interpreted as poor (<0.50), moderate (0.50–0.75), good (0.75–0.90), and excellent (>0.90). The standard error of measurement and minimal detectable change values were determined to examine clinical applicability.

Results: One hundred participants (80 female, age= 21.6 ± 2.8 years) completed the study. Go/no-go, multiple-object tracking, eye-hand coordination, depth perception, and reaction time demonstrated good reliability (ICCs = 0.81-0.88). Target capture and perception span demonstrated moderate reliability (ICCs = 0.51-0.63). Visual clarity, contrast sensitivity, and near-far quickness demonstrated poor reliability (ICCs = 0.28-0.43).

Conclusions: Assessments involving decision-making, anticipation, and spatial awareness demonstrated good reliability, while most assessments of visual skills demonstrated poor reliability. Sensorimotor assessments from this computerized sensory station are reliable and can be administered clinically in a healthy, college-aged population.

3.2. Introduction

The sensorimotor system involves the integration of somatosensory, motor, visual, vestibular, and processing components, which results in an individual's ability to complete simple and complex movements.²⁶¹ Generally speaking, the sensorimotor system dictates an individual's ability to perceive and respond to stimuli from the environment around them. While the sensorimotor system incorporates all afferent, efferent, and central integration and processing components, sensorimotor function can be largely characterized into "sensorimotor skills".²⁶⁶ Visual skills help detect objects and orientation of the body in space, vestibular skills detect linear and rotational acceleration of the head, and somatosensory skills provide information about the body relative to other surfaces.^{41,264} Neuromuscular and postural control skills use somatosensory, visual, and vestibular signals to provide reference frames for where the body is in space, which helps with accuracy and inhibition of motion.^{41,264}

Sensorimotor skills play a crucial role in athletic performance, injury prevention, and return to sport from injury.^{13,14} Athletes demonstrate superior visual-based skills, including static and dynamic visual acuity, contrast sensitivity, and depth perception compared to nonathletes.³²³⁻³²⁷ Poor visual acuity has been repeatedly associated with injury risk in a variety of sports,^{14,328}

while depth perception is worse in athletes with a history of sport-related concussion (SRC).¹⁸⁶ Vestibular skills, such as accommodative-vergence responses, have exhibited deficits following SRC as well,^{18,329,330} but also improvements through vestibular rehabilitation and training programs.²⁴⁹ Visual-motor reactions, response times, and eye-hand coordination are crucial to performance and extant evidence has demonstrated these skills are discriminators between expertise level in sport.^{327,331,332} Previous evidence has shown that slower reaction time is associated with increased injury risk,³³³ and that reaction time is worse in athletes with SRC compared to controls.^{33,267-270} Multiple-object tracking, spatial attention, and orientation are also key to successful performance in sport and deficits can lead to decreased obstacle avoidance.²⁷³⁻ 275

Due to the importance of sensorimotor skills in sport, researchers and clinicians have sought the most efficient, accurate, and repeatable tools to evaluate performance. While there are a variety of assessments of sensorimotor function, such as the Sensory Organization Test,¹⁷ Grooved Pegboard Test,²³ and weighted stick drop,³³ the critical barrier is that the majority of available assessments only measure components of sensorimotor function in isolation, which may not provide a complete picture of sensorimotor function or be efficient in a clinical setting. Therefore, stakeholders have turned their attention to commercial technology-aided assessments, such as computerized sensory stations, that can augment sporting contexts and test a variety of skills at one time.^{334,335} Computerized sensory stations have been used to predict performance in sport,³³⁶ determine sensorimotor skill expertise by sport,³²⁷ examine the effect of sensorimotor performance in combat soldiers with and without concussion history.⁴⁶ One such device, the Senaptec Sensory Station (Senaptec),⁴³ tests 10 sensorimotor skills: visual clarity, contrast sensitivity, depth perception,
near-far quickness, perception span, multiple-object tracking, reaction time, target capture, eyehand coordination, and go/no-go. While the test-retest reliability and reliable change indices of previous computerized sensory stations have been determined,^{47,337} the reliability of this novel device has not been studied. In order to confidently use this device for training purposes or the assessment of injury, the reliability of this comprehensive computerized sensory station needs to be determined. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to determine the test-retest reliability of 10 sensorimotor skills assessed by this novel computerized sensory station. We hypothesized that the visual clarity, contrast sensitivity, depth perception, near-far quickness, perception span, multiple object tracking, reaction time, target capture, eye-hand coordination, and go/no-go assessments will demonstrate moderate to good reliability (ICC=0.5-0.9) in a healthy, collegeaged population.

3.3. Methodology

Design

A test-retest design was used to determine the reliability of 10 different sensorimotor assessments administered using a computerized sensory station. The independent variable was time (session 1 and session 2) and the dependent variables were the individual scores from each sensorimotor assessment (**Table 1**). This study was approved by the Michigan State University (MSU) Institutional Review Board for Human Subjects Research, and all participants provided informed written consent. **Table 1.** Computerized Sensory Station Assessments, Descriptions, Procedures, and Units.

Assessment	Description	Procedures	Units
Visual Clarity	How well can participant see distant details	Swipe in the direction of the opening in the C- shaped ring	LogMAR (Lower is better)
Contrast Sensitivity	How well can participant judge contrast differences	Swipe in the direction of the circle containing a pattern of rings	LogCS (Higher is better)
Depth Perception	How well can participant judge depth and distance	With 3D glasses on, swipe in the direction of the ring that appears closest	Arcsec (Lower is better)
Near-Far Quickness	How rapidly and accurately participant can shift their gaze between near and far	Swipe in the direction of the opening in the C- shaped ring as it alternates between tablet and remote display	Number correct (Higher is better)
Perception Span	Tests scope of participant's visual field and how well visual information is acquired	Replicate the pattern of dots flashed in the circles within the grid	Total score (Higher is better)
Multiple-Object Tracking	How well participant can divide attention between moving objects and track them at various speeds	Select the dots that flashed red at the beginning of the tests once they are done rotating	Composite score (Higher is better)
Reaction Time	How rapidly participant can react in response to a visual stimulus	Remove the required index finger when the pattern turns red as quickly as possible	Msec (Lower is better)
Target Capture	How quickly participant can shift their gaze and recognize a target in their periphery	Track the C-shaped ring as it appears in different corners of the screen and swipe in the direction of the opening	Msec (Lower is better)
Eye-Hand Coordination	How rapidly and accurately participant can respond to changing target	Touch the green dots that appear within the grid as quickly as possible	Msec (Lower is better)
Go/No-Go	How rapidly and accurately participant can decide about a target and respond to changes	Touch the green dots that appear within the grid as quickly as possible while not touching the red dots	Total score (Higher is better)

Abbreviations: LogMAR = Logarithm of the Minimum Angle of Resolution; LogCS = Logarithm of Contrast Sensitivity; Arcsec = Arcsecond; Msec = Millisecond

Participants

Participants were recruited from the general student population at a large university and the surrounding colleges using recruitment flyers and in-person visits to class settings. Participants were included if they were between the ages of 18 and 30 years and were excluded if they had an SRC within the past 6 months, a diagnosed neurological brain condition (e.g., epilepsy), or previously completed the testing battery.

Sample Size Estimation

The sample size of 100 participants acquired for this study was based on a previously published reliability study of a similar computerized sensory station.⁴⁷ Additionally, a power analysis revealed that 32 participants would be needed to achieve 90% power at an alpha of 0.05 if R_0 is 0.5 and R_1 is 0.7,³³⁸ which is met by this sample.

Procedures

Participants completed 2 testing sessions one week apart (± 1 day), which is a typical timeframe used for test-retest reliability to minimize learning effects.^{47,339} After informed consent was obtained, participants completed an intake form with demographic and medical history information. Next, participants completed the computerized sensory station assessment battery with the assistance of trained research coordinators who followed standard operating procedures for each session. At the end of the first session, the second session was scheduled, and the same testing procedures were completed.

Instrumentation

The Senaptec Sensory Station (Senaptec Inc., Beaverton, OR) uses an adjustable television screen, mounted tablet, and an Android remote to complete 10 sensorimotor assessments (**Figure 1**).⁴³ The device is designed to allow for multiple testers without concerns of skewing the data due to multiple raters. As such, custom software controls the displays, input acquisition, and test procedures based on participant responses. The entire computerized sensory station battery takes approximately 25 minutes. The study team member conducting the testing session followed an established standard operating procedure where the participant was presented with a brief video demonstration prior to the start of each test, followed by a condensed practice round, and initiation of the test. No additional coaching was provided by the study team member other than the standardized instructions.⁴⁷



Figure 1. (A) The adjustable television screen, mounted tablet, and floor mat with 10 foot line of the computerized sensory station. **(B)** The Android remote used with the computerized sensory station.

Participants first completed visual clarity, contrast sensitivity, depth perception, and nearfar quickness tests, in that order, using the remote at a distance of 10 feet from the mounted tablet, which is adjusted to eye-level. To ensure consistency of the distance that the participant stands from the device, a floor mat with a line delineating 10 feet from the device was used. For visual clarity, participants were provided an eye occluder to cover their left and right eye when prompted to on the device. For depth perception, participants were provided a pair of 3D anaglyph glasses to complete the test. Perception span, multiple-object tracking, and reaction time were then completed, in that order, at the mounted tablet (still set to eye-level) at a distance within arm's length. Target capture was completed next on the television screen using the remote at a distance of 10 feet. The television screen is also adjusted to eye-level using a blue line that appears prior to the start of the brief video demonstration. Eye-hand coordination and go/no-go were completed last at the television screen (still set to eye-level) at a distance within arm's length. Data acquired from each sensorimotor assessment is collected in raw form and composite scores are produced (**Figure 2**). As clinicians are most likely to use these composite scores in evaluation, the variables that produce the composite score for each assessment were used in the test-retest reliability calculations.



Figure 2. The performance matrix is produced following completion of the computerized sensory station testing battery. A composite score is produced for each sensorimotor assessment and displayed as a percentile rank comparing the participant to others in the same sport, position, and level of play.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were calculated for demographic and medical history variables, with continuous variables reported as mean (SD) and categorical variables reported as frequencies (%). Test–retest reliability was determined using intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs) with corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CIs). Separate ICCs with a two-way mixed-effects model, absolute agreement, and 95% CIs were calculated for each sensorimotor assessment. The ICCs were interpreted as poor (<0.50), moderate (0.50–0.75), good (0.75–0.90), and excellent (>0.90).⁵² For each ICC, the standard error of measurement (SEM) and minimal detectable change at the 95% confidence (MDC95) were calculated. For estimating SEM, the standard deviation from Session 1 (SD_{S1}) and the test–retest reliability ICC for each assessment were used in the following formula: SD_{S1} x ($\sqrt{1-ICC}$).^{340,341} For estimating the MDC95, the following formula was used: SEM x 1.96 x $\sqrt{2}$.^{340,341} All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software (version 27.0; SPSS, Inc, Chicago, IL).

3.4. Results

Overall, 107 participants were enrolled, but only 100 participants completed the study. Seven participants completed the initial visit, but did not return for the second visit due to leaving the state (n=5), non-study-related emergency (n=1), and device malfunction (n=1). No issues or deviations from the typical testing protocol among the 100 participants included were noted. Descriptive statistics for demographic and medical history variables are reported in **Table 2**.

Variable	N (%)	Mean (SD)
Age in years	100 (100)	21.6 (2.8)
Sex		
Female	80 (80)	-
Male	20 (20)	
Dominant Hand		
Right	95 (95)	-
Left	5 (5)	
Primary Sport		
Soccer	21 (21)	
Track & Field	9 (9)	
Volleyball	7 (7)	
Swimming & Diving	6 (6)	
Softball	5 (5)	-
Rowing	4 (4)	
Ice Hockey	4 (4)	
Other	27 (27)	
Unknown	17 (17)	
Ocular Correction	50 (50)	
No	50 (50)	-
Yes	30 (30)	
Ocular Correction Type		
None	66 (66)	
Contact Lenses	27 (27)	-
Glasses	7 (7)	
Eye Surgery History		
No	96 (96)	-
Yes	4 (4)	
Concussion History		
No	60 (60)	-
Yes	40 (40)	
Number of Prior Concussion		
0	60 (60)	
1	20 (20)	-
2	11 (11)	
3 or more	9 (9)	

Table 2. Descriptive Statistics for Demographic and Medical History Variables of Study

 Participants.

Mean scores (SD) for each sensorimotor assessment at the initial and second visit, along with the ICC values (95% CI) ordered from good to poor reliability, are presented in **Table 3**.

The SEM and MDC for each ICC are presented in **Table 4**. Go/no-go, multiple-object tracking, eye-hand coordination, reaction time, and depth perception demonstrated good reliability (ICCs = 0.81-0.88). Target capture and perception span demonstrated moderate reliability (ICCs = 0.51-0.63). Visual clarity, contrast sensitivity, and near-far quickness demonstrated poor reliability (ICCs = 0.28-0.43).

Assessment	Visit 1 [Mean (SD)]	Visit 2 [Mean (SD)]	ICC (95% CI)
Go/No-Go (Total Score; higher is better)	5.6 (5.22)	7.2 (5.61)	0.88 (0.77-0.93)
Eye-Hand Coordination (Msec; lower is better)	50718.2 (44926.4)	47871.01 (4767.7)	0.85 (0.15-0.95)
Multiple-Object Tracking (Composite Score; higher is better)	1620.43 (580.84)	1682.19 (588.13)	0.85 (0.78-0.9)
Depth Perception (Arcsec; lower is better)	141.1 (87.57)	153.8 (91.77)	0.81 (0.71-0.87)
Reaction Time (Msec; lower is better)	332.4 (32.33)	324.7 (32.11)	0.81 (0.7-0.87)
Perception Span (Total Score; higher is better)	42.04 (10.82)	45.7 (13.44)	0.63 (0.45-0.75)
Target Capture (Msec; lower is better)	208 (77.52)	204.5 (71.9)	0.51 (0.26-0.67)
Contrast Sensitivity (LogCS; higher is better)	1.5 (0.26)	1.5 (0.26)	0.43 (0.15-0.62)
Visual Clarity (LogMAR; lower is better)	-0.1 (0.14)	-0.09 (0.21)	0.42 (0.14-0.61)
Near-Far Quickness (# Correct; higher is better)	21.2 (6.12)	23.7 (7.24)	0.28 (-0.05-0.51)

Table 3. Test-Retest Reliability for the Computerized Sensory Station Assessments.

Domain	ICC (95% CI)	SEM	MDC 95%
Go/No-Go (Total Score; higher is better)	0.88 (0.77-0.93)	1.81	5.01
Eye-Hand Coordination (Msec; lower is better)	0.85 (0.15-0.95)	17399.92	48230.12
Multiple-Object Tracking (Composite Score; higher is better)	0.85 (0.78-0.9)	627.59	1739.59
Depth Perception (Arcsec; lower is better)	0.81 (0.71-0.87)	38.2	105.8
Reaction Time (Msec; lower is better)	0.81 (0.7-0.87)	14.09	39.06
Perception Span (Total Score; higher is better)	0.63 (0.45-0.75)	6.58	18.24
Target Capture (Msec; lower is better)	0.51 (0.26-0.67)	54.26	150.41
Contrast Sensitivity (LogCS; higher is better)	0.43 (0.15-0.62)	0.2	0.54
Visual Clarity (LogMAR; lower is better)	0.42 (0.14-0.61)	0.11	0.3
Near-Far Quickness (# Correct; higher is better)	0.28 (-0.05-0.51)	5.19	14.39

Table 4. Standard Error Measurement and Minimal Detectable Change for the Computerized

 Sensory Station Assessments.

3.5. Discussion

The findings of our study indicated that assessments of sensorimotor skills including go/no-go, multiple-object tracking, eye-hand coordination, depth perception, and reaction time, demonstrated good reliability in a healthy, largely athletic, college-aged population. Meanwhile, assessments of visual skills including visual clarity, contrast sensitivity, and near-far quickness demonstrated poor reliability. Therefore, only some of the sensorimotor assessments included in this computerized sensory station demonstrated clinically acceptable reliability for evaluation of performance improvements and injuries, such as SRC, in a clinical setting. While the visual-based assessments can be used in a clinical setting, results should be compared to existing

reliable visual assessments for clinical decision making and performance evaluations.^{237,241-} 244,246,247

We tested a comprehensive battery of 10 sensorimotor assessments using the Senaptec Sensory Station. To our knowledge, this is the first study examining the test-retest reliability of this commercially available assessment device. A recent study by Fraser et al. collected data using the Senaptec Sensory Station as part of concussion baseline testing in collegiate athletes,³⁴² but did not perform reliability analyses. They found similar initial mean scores to previously published values of the Nike SPARQ,^{47,343} despite different testing parameters, and improvement in scores with retesting due to invalid scores from lack of effort, inattention, or misunderstanding directions.³⁴² The reliability of the Nike SPARQ, Senaptec's predecessor, was previously examined and found to have good repeatability with minimal learning effects.^{47,337} Their results showed no significant change between visits on visual clarity, contrast sensitivity, depth perception, target capture, perception span, and reaction time assessments. This differs from our study, which demonstrated poor reliability on visual clarity and contrast sensitivity. Among the measures that did change across sessions in their study, including near-far quickness, eye-hand coordination, and go/no-go, they noted this was likely due to an expected learning effect caused by the motor response characteristic being measured.⁴⁷ Again, our study differed slightly from their results, with eye-hand coordination and go/no-go demonstrating good reliability. However, the Nike SPARQ is an older, discontinued model of the current device that had fewer assessments (e.g., lacking multiple-object tracking), different specifications (e.g., polarized glasses for depth perception replaced with 3D anaglyph lenses), and a different testing protocol.^{47,337} Furthermore, Erickson et al. altered the instrumentation between visits (e.g., plastic sleeve was placed on the remote to improve swipe accuracy), used different statistical analyses,

and did not focus on a college-aged population.⁴⁷ Therefore, the results from the current study provide important updated reliability data on the newest version of this computerized sensory station in a college-aged population. Our findings also contribute to the current evidence base of reliable assessments for sensorimotor function,^{17,23,33,36,48,299,300} and adds information on a tool that tests numerous sensorimotor skills at once, which is lacking in the literature.

The assessments that demonstrated poor reliability in our study were visual clarity (ICC=0.42), contrast sensitivity (ICC=0.43), and near-far quickness (ICC=0.28). These lower reliability values could be due to a multitude of factors, including aspects of the statistical design and conditions of the testing environment. For each of these assessments, the mean scores and standard deviations at each visit were similar (visual clarity: visit $1 = -0.1 \pm 0.14$, visit 2 = -0.09 \pm 0.21; contrast sensitivity: visit 1 = 1.5 \pm 0.26, visit 2 = 1.5 \pm 0.26; near-far quickness: visit 1 = 21.2 ± 6.12 , visit $2 = 23.7 \pm 7.24$). These mean scores are also similar to initial mean scores and retested scores from Fraser et al.³⁴² This shows that the scores on these assessments may be consistent, but do not meet absolute agreement when the systematic errors of the raters and random residual errors are included.⁵² Furthermore, the lower ICC scores could be caused by a lack of variability among sampled participants or the pool of participants being too small, although this is less likely with a sample size of 100 participants. In regards to the testing environment, screen glare from other lights in the room reflecting off the glossy surface of the tablet may have affected the results on these assessments, especially since they were all performed at a distance of 10 feet. The other assessment performed on the tablet at a distance of 10 feet was depth perception, which requires the participant to wear 3D glasses that may have minimized the effect of reflected light. However, measures were taken to minimize the influence of screen glare in the windowless room by turning off all overhead lighting and screens in the

line of sight of the sensory station. Lastly, Fraser et al. found that invalid scores on Senaptec Sensory Station assessments at initial visit may occur due to lack of effort, motivation, or attention,³⁴² which could have been present for our assessments with poor reliability.

There are numerous applications for the more reliable sensorimotor assessments, notably the go/no-go, multiple object tracking, eye-hand coordination, depth perception, and reaction time tests. The Senaptec Sensory Station used to complete these assessments has been marketed primarily for performance training purposes. The majority of prior evidence using computerized sensory stations have focused on predicting performance in sport and determining sensorimotor skill expertise by sport.^{13,327,336} A study of 252 professional baseball players demonstrated sensorimotor assessments from the Nike SPARQ significantly predicted on-base percentage, walk rate, and strikeout rate.¹³ A separate study by Burris et al. used assessments from the computerized sensory station to identify that athletes who play sports requiring high coordination of the whole body or parts of the body (e.g., baseball and tennis) exhibit better measures of visual clarity, contrast sensitivity, and reaction time.³²⁷ Meanwhile, athletes from strategic sports requiring processing of complex information concurrently about the position and objective of teammates and opponents (e.g., soccer and basketball) have higher measures of spatial working memory. We calculated the MDC95 for each sensorimotor assessment of this computerized sensory station, which provides values for clinically meaningful changes in each skill. This allows clinicians to use these tests to measure additional performance improvements as an outcome of training. Considering that multiple-object tracking was not included in the Nike SPARQ, and that this skill is key to successful performance in sport through improved obstacle avoidance,²⁷³⁻²⁷⁵ future research should examine the performance of this assessment.

The reliability data from this computerized sensory station may also be used for injury assessment, rehabilitation, and recovery evaluation. DeCicco et al. used the device to determine the relationship between neurovascular coupling (NVC) and sensorimotor performance in combat soldiers with and without concussion history.⁴⁶ They found that concussion history did not impact the relationship between NVC response and sensorimotor performance, suggesting that these measures may be utilized for performance and/or injury evaluation. A published abstract of 224 high school and college student-athletes found that depth perception is worse in those with concussion history, which suggests this sensorimotor skill may be compromised following SRC.¹⁸⁶ Considering this evidence in those with a concussion history, future research should examine sensorimotor skills acutely following SRC. The MDC95 values will help clinicians use these assessments to measure sensorimotor performance as an outcome of treatment/rehabilitation effectiveness and recovery from injury. For example, the MDC95 values could be used to assess clinically meaningful changes in go/no-go following SRC. This would help clinicians determine the athlete's ability to inhibit movement in response to stimuli, which may protect them from mistakes in sport and potential injury. Future research should consider examining effective intervention strategies to improve each sensorimotor assessment using the computerized sensory station protocol described in our methods.

This study is not without limitations. First, 40% of our sample had a history of concussion, but were not excluded unless their injury was sustained within 6 months of testing. While one previous study revealed no impact of concussion history,⁴⁶ another study found deficits in depth perception in those with a concussion history,¹⁸⁶ which may have influenced results in this assessment despite good reliability. The history of other injury types (e.g., musculoskeletal injury) was not captured as well. For example, a potential history of shoulder

injury may have affected performance on eye-hand coordination and go/no-go assessments, as they require prolonged movement of the upper extremities that may result in fatigue. However, while participants reported they were healthy at the time of testing, we cannot conclude these results are representative of an injury-free population. Second, while the screening questionnaire on the device captures ocular correction and history of eye surgery, we did not exclude based on either of these variables. Therefore, results may differ slightly based on ocular correction used and should be examined in the future. Next, our sample was predominantly female (80%) and only college-aged individuals, which limits the generalizability of the findings to non-female, high school, and older adult populations. Lastly, screen glare from other lights in the room reflecting off the glossy surface of the tablet and television screen may have affected the results on the sensorimotor assessments, although steps were taken to minimize disturbances from the testing environment (i.e., turned off all lights in the windowless room).

3.6. Conclusion

The assessments of sensorimotor skills using the Senaptec Sensory Station demonstrated suitable reliability for assessing sensorimotor function, especially go/no-go, multiple object tracking, eye-hand coordination, depth perception, and reaction time, in a healthy, largely athletic, college-aged population. Meanwhile, assessments of visual skills, including visual clarity, contrast sensitivity, and near-far quickness demonstrated poor reliability in this population, and should be used with caution. Overall, this comprehensive computerized sensory station can be implemented in research and clinical practice for the evaluation of performance and assessment of injury, rehabilitation, and recovery.

CHAPTER 4: SENSORIMOTOR SKILLS THROUGHOUT RECOVERY FOLLOWING SPORT-RELATED CONCUSSION IN COLLEGIATE ATHLETES

4.1. Abstract

Background: Emerging evidence suggests that subtle sensorimotor deficits may be present following clinical recovery from sport-related concussion (SRC). These underlying impairments are hypothesized to contribute to heightened risk of subsequent injury upon return to play (RTP). However, there is limited research examining a battery of sensorimotor skills acutely, at medical clearance, and after RTP following SRC in collegiate athletes.

Purpose: The purpose of this study was to examine sensorimotor skill performance throughout recovery and after RTP following SRC in collegiate athletes compared to healthy matched controls.

Methods: A prospective cohort study of participants following SRC and healthy matched controls was performed in a university laboratory setting. Participants with SRC were included if they were between the ages of 18 and 30 years and received a diagnosis of SRC from a licensed healthcare provider within 5 days of enrollment, and were excluded if they had a neurological brain condition (e.g., epilepsy) or did not plan to return to organized sport. Controls were matched to participants with SRC on biologic sex, age, and sport, and excluded if they had a neurological brain condition (e.g., epilepsy) or had sustained an SRC in the past 6 months. Participants with SRC completed their acute visit within 5 days of injury, their second visit at the time of medical clearance (+3 days), and the third visit at least one-month post-RTP. Controls completed three visits according to the same schedule as their matched participant with SRC. At each visit, participants completed demographic, injury, medical history, and recovery information, along with the Sport Concussion Assessment Tool-5 (SCAT5) and 10 sensorimotor skill assessments on a computerized sensory station (Senaptec Sensory Station, Senaptec Inc.,

Beaverton, OR). Two-way mixed-effects analyses of variances (ANOVAs) were used to determine the effect of group (SRC vs. control), time (acute, medical clearance, ≥ 1 one-month post-RTP), and the interaction between these independent variables on sensorimotor performance. Statistical significance was set a priori at p < 0.05.

Results: A total of 40 participants completed the study, 25 following SRC (mean age = 21.4 ± 2.9 ; 56% female) and 15 controls (mean age = 21.1 ± 2.5 ; 40% female). No significant differences in demographic or medical history variables were found at the acute visit. The SRC group reported a significantly greater number and severity of symptoms compared to controls (p < 0.001) at the acute visit, but not at medical clearance (p > 0.05) or one-month post-RTP (p > 0.05). Sensorimotor performance across recovery demonstrated a significant group x time interaction for reaction time ($F_{(1.3, 48.8)} = 6.85$, p = 0.007, $\eta_p^2 = 0.15$). Reaction time was statistically significantly worse in the SRC group (54.13 ± 21.72 msec, p = 0.017) compared to the control group at the acute visit. In the SRC group, reaction time was statistically significantly decreased between acute and medical clearance time points (M = 45.7, SE = 14.71 msec, p = 0.001) and the acute and one-month post-RTP time points (M = 58.9, SE = 14.8 msec, p = 0.002). No other significant interactions were found, although there were significant main effects of time for go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, and multiple-object tracking.

Conclusion: An examination of sensorimotor skills in collegiate athletes following SRC revealed significantly slower reaction time acutely and throughout recovery compared to healthy matched controls. While go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, and multiple-object tracking significantly changed over time, no differences were noted between groups. These findings support extant evidence regarding the presence of persistent reaction time deficits in athletes

after SRC, even beyond clinical recovery, and reflect the need for routine incorporation of reaction time assessment in SRC management.

4.2. Introduction

Sport-related concussion (SRC) has become a challenging issue facing collegiate athletes, coaches, and clinicians and researchers alike. Approximately 3.8 million SRCs occur annually in the United States, with an SRC rate of 4.13 per 10,000 athlete exposures (AEs) in collegiate athletes.^{3,105} An SRC results in a variety of clinical signs and symptoms,²⁴⁹ and represents a functional disturbance rather than a structural injury, therefore it cannot be observed through neuroimaging (e.g., X-ray, magnetic resonance imaging).⁶ To address the complexity and heterogeneity of the injury, medical consensus supports a multifaceted approach to SRC management involving a variety of assessments (e.g., balance test, neurocognitive test).^{1,9,162,322} While many tools have strong psychometric properties and have been effective in evaluating SRC, there is no "gold-standard" evaluation tool for diagnosis or assessment of recovery.¹⁰ Due to this critical limitation, there is a need to identify evaluation tools that can advance the multifaceted SRC assessment approach and improve management of SRC.

A multitude of components of the sensorimotor system are affected following SRC. Acutely, deficits in vestibular (e.g., visual motion sensitivity, vestibular-ocular reflex) and oculomotor function (e.g., horizontal and vertical saccades) are common,¹⁶⁻¹⁸ and can be assessed using the Vestibular-Ocular Motor Screening and King-Devick tests.^{31,255} Postural stability deficits have been evaluated using the Balance Error Scoring System,^{17,205} Sensory Organization Test,¹⁷ and through single or dual-task gait analyses.^{218,220} Neurocognitive deficits, often evaluated using the Immediate Post-Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Testing (ImPACT) test,^{189,191} are also common following SRC and result in slowed processing speed, poor memory,

decreased task attention, and diminished decision-making capabilities.¹⁹ These performance and functional deficits that arise acutely following SRC, along with accompanying symptoms such as headache, dizziness, confusion, and fatigue, inhibit sensorimotor skills, which involve the process of receiving sensory input and producing a motor output.²⁰⁻²² Assessments of specific sensorimotor skills, such as reaction time and go/no-go, have been measured using computer programs or clinic-friendly adaptations.³³ Even after clinical recovery from SRC, some studies have found lingering cognitive, ocular, perceptual, and motor dysfunction compared to healthy controls.^{23-26,49,313} These persisting deficits in sensorimotor skills have been linked to increased risk of subsequent SRC and lower extremity musculoskeletal injury,^{11,12,30,313} which becomes a major concern for athletes upon return to play (RTP).

While there are a range of assessments for sensorimotor function (e.g., vestibular, motor), the critical barrier is that these assessments only stress individual components of the sensorimotor system. This may not provide a detailed picture of the athlete's deficits or be efficient in a clinical setting if numerous sensorimotor assessments have to be conducted. Furthermore, experimental evidence has scarcely examined the wide array of sensorimotor skills (e.g., depth perception, perception span, multiple-object tracking) that are used in sport, which means clinicians may fail to identify persistent deficits that do not become apparent until the athlete RTP. Assessment tools that measure a comprehensive set of sensorimotor skills and can augment the sporting context, such as computerized sensory stations,⁴³ should be employed to obtain a thorough understanding of deficits following SRC. Incorporating this type of comprehensive device acutely will benefit athletes by providing a more robust assessment of sensorimotor skills that are affected immediately following SRC, which would allow for targeted treatment and rehabilitation moving forward in the management process. This comprehensive

assessment may also be important at the time of medical clearance by confirming there are no underlying sensorimotor skill deficits, despite determination of clinical recovery, which would mitigate the concern of the athlete being ready to RTP. Lastly, it would be of value to obtain a comprehensive assessment of sensorimotor skills at least one month after the athlete RTP, a time at which acute and subacute effects of SRC are expected to have subsided but evidence has shown SRC-related decrements are still apparent.⁴⁹ This will inform clinicians of lingering deficits in sensorimotor skills that may contribute to subsequent injury in this at-risk population.

One such computerized sensory station (Senaptec Sensory Station, Senaptec Inc., Beaverton, OR) assesses 10 sensorimotor skills: visual clarity, contrast sensitivity, depth perception, near-far quickness, perception span, multiple-object tracking, reaction time, target capture, eye-hand coordination, and go/no-go. Extant literature has used computerized sensory stations to examine sensorimotor performance in combat soldiers with concussion history and to examine the relationship between sensorimotor performance and head impact biomechanics in sport.⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶ However, computerized sensory stations have not been used to evaluate collegiate athletes at various stages of recovery following SRC. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to examine sensorimotor skill performance throughout recovery and after RTP following SRC in collegiate athletes compared to healthy matched controls. Based on evidence of widespread cognitive, motor, vestibular, and ocular deficits acutely,^{16-19,220} we hypothesized that the SRC group will perform worse on all sensorimotor skills tested with the computerized sensory station when compared to healthy matched controls acutely. Based on evidence of persistent deficits in response inhibition and reaction time after clinical recovery from SRC,^{48,49} we hypothesized that the SRC group will perform worse on go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, and reaction time

assessment at the time of medical clearance and at least one-month post-RTP compared to controls.

4.3. Methodology

Design

Sensorimotor skills were compared between participants following SRC (SRC group) and healthy matched controls (Control group) using a prospective cohort design. This study was approved by the Michigan State University (MSU) Institutional Review Board for Human Subjects Research. All participants signed an informed consent prior to initiation of study procedures.

Participants

Participants were recruited from MSU and local colleges in Michigan through an established recruitment network of sports medicine clinicians (e.g., athletic trainers, team physicians). After a clinician diagnosed an athlete with an SRC, they would share information regarding the study with the athlete and then connect the interested athletes with the study team. Participants with SRC who agreed to participate were asked to refer a friend or teammate that may be interested and fit inclusion criteria to serve as a control participant. If a control was not identified, the study team utilized the recruitment network within the local MSU community for potential healthy participants. Participants with SRC were included if they were between the ages 18-30 years with an SRC diagnosis from a licensed healthcare provider within 5 days of enrollment. Participants with a neurological brain condition (e.g., epilepsy) or those that did not plan to return to organized sport were excluded. Controls were matched to participants with SRC

on sex, age, and sport. Controls with a diagnosed SRC within the past 6 months or a neurological brain condition (e.g., epilepsy) were excluded.

Sample Size Estimation

The estimation for the study was based on a comparison of sensorimotor skills, specifically dual-task gait balance control deficits, after concussion in a group of adolescents and young adults with a control group.³⁴⁴ This study indicated large eta-squared ($\eta^2 > 0.14$) and medium to large partial eta-squared ($\eta_p^2 > 0.06$) effect sizes were present for participants with concussion compared to controls. Using a large partial eta-squared effect size of 0.15, an acceptable power of (1- β) of 0.80, and a-priori alpha level of 0.05, we estimated that 37 participants per group were required to identify significant differences. For this dissertation, data collection was halted for analysis with 25 participants following SRC and 15 controls.

Procedures

Participants with SRC completed their acute visit within 5 days of injury, their second visit at the time of medical clearance (+3 days), and the third visit at least one-month post-RTP. Within 5 days was selected for the acute timepoint to make it feasible for the study team to collect data on injuries that were sustained over the weekend in sporting events. Additionally, while 72 hours is considered "acute" in the SRC literature,³⁴⁵ acute pathophysiology of concussion can span up to 10 days.⁶⁴ At least one month from RTP was selected for the third timepoint because we expect the acute and subacute effects of SRC to have subsided but evidence has shown SRC-related deficits may still exist.⁴⁹ The study team attempted to test participants as close to one-month post-RTP as possible, but were often challenged by participant

availability and interest to return. Controls completed three sessions according to the same schedule as their matched participant with SRC to minimize confounding variables.

At the acute visit, participants completed an intake form with demographic (e.g., age, sex), injury characteristics (e.g., loss of consciousness, continued play), and medical history questions (e.g., SRC history, ocular history), followed by the symptom inventory of the Sport Concussion Assessment Tool-5 (SCAT5).¹⁶⁸ Afterwards, participants completed sensorimotor assessments on a computerized sensory station. At the medical clearance visit, participants reported recovery information (e.g., date of symptom resolution, date of clearance) and completed the SCAT5 symptom inventory and sensorimotor assessment battery. At the one-month post-RTP visit, participants completed an intake form with questions addressing their experience in sport following RTP (e.g., return of symptoms or subsequent injury), the SCAT5 symptom inventory, and the sensorimotor assessment battery.

Sensorimotor Assessments

We used a computerized sensory station (Senaptec Sensory Station, Senaptec Inc., Beaverton, OR) to test 10 different sensorimotor skills. This device uses an adjustable television screen with a tablet mounted on top and an Android remote to complete 10 sensorimotor assessments at distances of 2 or 10 feet (**Figure 1**).⁴³ The description, procedures, and units for each sensorimotor assessment are described in detail in Fraser et al. and Gilrein et al.^{337,342} The study team member conducting the testing session followed an established standard operating procedure. The participant began by completing an intake form on the device that captures data regarding their vision (e.g., eye exam, ocular corrections) and pertinent medical history (e.g., eye surgery, SRC history). Once completed, the participant was presented with a brief video demonstration on the device prior to the start of each test followed by a short and easy practice

round. No coaching or further help was provided by the study team members other than the standardized instructions at this point. The participant then initiates the assessment using the remote when they are ready and understand the instructions.

A previous version of the current computerized sensory station, the Nike SPARQ, demonstrated repeatability and minimal learning effects across two visits.^{47,337} Preliminary data of the reliability of device used in this study revealed moderate to good agreement on the majority of sensorimotor assessments.³⁴⁶ While all 10 assessments were completed, to eliminate any reliability concerns, only those that demonstrated good or excellent reliability were included in the analyses. These assessments were the go/no-go (ICC=0.88), eye-hand coordination (ICC=0.85), multiple-object tracking (ICC=0.85), depth perception (ICC=0.81), and reaction time (ICC=0.81) tests. This conservative approach was chosen because established evidence recommends a minimum reliability threshold of 0.7 for clinical applicability.⁵³ The description, procedures, and units for each sensorimotor assessment used in analyses are provided in **Table 5**. **Table 5.** Computerized Sensory Station Skills, Descriptions, Procedures, and Units ofAssessments Demonstrating Good Reliability.

Assessment	Description	Procedures	Units
Depth Perception	How well can participant judge depth and distance	With 3D glasses on, swipe in the direction of the ring that appears closest	Arcsec (Lower is better)
Multiple-Object Tracking	How well participant can divide attention between moving objects and track them at various speeds	Select the dots that flashed red at the beginning of the tests once they are done rotating	Composite score (Higher is better)
Reaction Time	How rapidly participant can react in response to a visual stimulus	Remove the required index finger when the pattern turns red as quickly as possible	Msec (Lower is better)
Eye-Hand Coordination	How rapidly and accurately participant can respond to changing target	Touch the green dots that appear within the grid as quickly as possible	Msec (Lower is better)
Go/No-Go	How rapidly and accurately participant can decide about a target and respond to changes	Touch the green dots that appear within the grid as quickly as possible while not touching the red dots	Total score (Higher is better)

Abbreviations: LogMAR = Logarithm of the Minimum Angle of Resolution; LogCS = Logarithm of Contrast Sensitivity; Arcsec = Arcsecond; Msec = Millisecond

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were calculated for demographic, medical history, and recovery variables, injury characteristics, and SCAT5 symptoms at each visit for SRC and control groups. Data were normally distributed; therefore, independent samples t-tests were used to compare continuous data between groups, while chi-square tests were used to compare categorical data between groups. Data related to performance on the 5 sensorimotor assessments (go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, multiple-object tracking, depth perception, reaction time) across recovery were analyzed via separate two-way mixed-effects analyses of variances (ANOVAs) to determine the effect of group (SRC vs. control), time (acute, medical clearance, one-month post-

RTP), and the interaction between these independent variables. Greenhouse-Geisser epsilon corrections were applied when the sphericity assumption did not hold. Statistical significance for all omnibus tests was set a priori at p < 0.05. For significant interactions, univariate general linear models with least significant difference confidence interval adjustments were performed to calculate simple main effects of group and repeated measures general linear models were performed to calculate simple main effects of time. For main effects, follow-up pairwise comparisons were performed with the Bonferroni procedure to control family-wise type I error. Estimations of effect size for mean differences were reported as partial eta-squared (η_p^2) values and interpreted as small (0.01-0.08), medium (0.09-0.24), and large (>0.25).³⁴⁷ All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software (version 27.0; SPSS, Inc, Chicago, IL).

4.4. Results

Acute Visit

Overall, 40 participants completed the study protocol and were included in analyses, 25 (62.5%) following SRC and 15 (37.5%) controls. In the SRC group, the time to presentation to the acute visit was 3.4 ± 1.6 days. No differences were noted between SRC and control groups for demographic (**Table 6**) or medical history variables (**Table 7**). Injury characteristics for the SRC group are presented in **Table 8**. The SRC group reported a significantly greater total number of symptoms (SRC: 16.3 ± 7.2 , Control: 3 ± 3.2 , p<0.001) and symptom severity score (SRC: 35.1 ± 17.9 , Control: 5.9 ± 8.1 , p<0.001) on the SCAT5 compared to controls.

Variable	SRC (n=25)	Control (n=15)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	21.4 (2.9)	21.1 (2.5)	0.76
Sex			
Female	14 (56%)	6 (40%)	0.33
Male	11 (44%)	9 (60%)	
Race			
White	18 (72%)	10 (66.6%)	
Black	2 (8%)	1 (6.7%)	0.96
Other	4 (16%)	3 (20%)	
Asian	1 (4%)	1 (6.7%)	
Ethnicity			
Non-Hispanic	23 (92%)	12 (80%)	0.27
Hispanic	2 (8%)	3 (20%)	
Handedness			
Right	24 (96%)	12 (80%)	0.22
Left	1 (4%)	2 (13.3%)	0.22
Both	0 (0%)	1 (6.7%)	
Year in School			
College Freshman	4 (16%)	3 (20%)	
College Sophomore	2 (8%)	1 (6.7%)	
College Junior	5 (20%)	3 (20%)	0.98
College Senior	5 (20%)	4 (26.6%)	
Graduate Student	6 (24%)	3 (20%)	
Other	3 (12%)	1 (6.7%)	
Sport			
Baseball	1 (4%)	1 (6.7%)	
Cross Country	1 (4%)	1 (6.7%)	
Figure Skating	1 (4%)	0 (0%)	
Football	5 (20%)	5 (33.3%)	
Ice Hockey	2 (8%)	1 (6.7%)	
Powerlifting	1 (4%)	0 (0%)	0.91
Rugby	5 (20%)	2 (13.3%)	
Soccer	3 (12%)	1 (6.7%)	
Softball	2 (8%)	2 (13.3%)	
Track & Field	1 (4%)	0 (0%)	
Volleyball	1 (4%)	0 (0%)	
Wrestling	2 (8%)	2 (13.3%)	

Table 6. Descriptive Statistics for Demographic Variables of Sport-Related Concussion and

 Healthy Matched Controls Groups.

Table 6 (cont'd).

Level of Play			
College	12 (48%)	12 (80%)	
Club	7 (28%)	1 (6.7%)	0.17
Intramural	1 (4%)	0 (0%)	0.17
Recreational	3 (12%)	0 (0%)	
Other	2 (8%)	2 (13.3%)	

Continuous data are presented as mean (SD) and categorical data are presented as n (%). SRC=Sport-Related Concussion Group; Control=Healthy Matched Control Group

Variable	SRC (n=25)	Control (n=15)	<i>p</i> -value
Prior Concussion History			
No	15 (60%)	11 (73.3%)	0.39
Yes	10 (40%)	4 (26.7%)	
Number of Prior Concussions	1.6 (0.97)	1.5 (1)	0.87
Headache/Migraine			
No	24 (96%)	14 (93.3%)	0.71
Yes	1 (4%)	1 (6.7%)	
Learning Disorder/Dyslexia			
No	22 (88%)	14 (93.3%)	0.59
Yes	3 (12%)	1 (6.7%)	
ADD/ADHD			
No	19 (76%)	11 (73.3%)	0.85
Yes	6 (24%)	4 (26.7%)	
Anxiety/Depression			
No	15 (60%)	12 (80%)	0.19
Yes	10 (40%)	3 (20%)	
Motion Sickness			
No	22 (88%)	14 (93.3%)	0.59
Yes	3 (12%)	1 (6.7%)	
Eye Exam Ever			
No	6 (24%)	2 (13.3%)	0.41
Yes	19 (76%)	13 (86.7%)	
Eye Exam Past Year			
No	14 (56%)	11 (73.3%)	0.27
Yes	11 (44%)	4 (26.7%)	
Eye Correction in Sport			
Contact Lenses	4 (44.4%)	4 (80%)	0.3
Glasses	3 (33.3%)	0 (0%)	0.5
None	2 (22.2%)	1 (20%)	
Eye Surgery Ever			
No	24 (96%)	15 (100%)	0.43
Yes	1 (4%)	0 (0%)	

Table 7. Descriptive Statistics for Medical History of Sport-Related Concussion and Healthy

 Matched Controls Groups.

Continuous data are presented as mean (SD) and categorical data are presented as n (%). SRC=Sport-Related Concussion Group; Control=Healthy Matched Control Group

Variable	SRC (n=25)	Control (n=15)	<i>p</i> -value
Time to Presentation (days)	3.4 (1.6)	-	-
Loss of Consciousness			
No	20 (80%)	-	-
Yes	5 (20%)		
Anterograde Amnesia			
No	5 (20%)	-	-
Yes	20 (80%)		
Continued Play			
No	11 (44%)	-	-
Yes	14 (56%)		
Total Number of Symptoms	16.3 (7.2)	3 (3.2)	<0.001
Symptom Severity Score	35.1 (17.9)	5.9 (8.1)	<0.001

Table 8. Descriptive Statistics for Injury Characteristics and Acute Visit Data of the Sport-Related Concussion Group and Healthy Matched Controls Groups.

Continuous data are presented as mean (SD) and categorical data are presented as n (%). Significant p-values (<0.05) are bolded. SRC=Sport-Related Concussion Group; Control=Healthy Matched Control Group

Medical Clearance Visit

Recovery information for the SRC group, along with symptom scores for both groups,

are reported in Table 9. The mean time between acute visit and the medical clearance visit was

 11.9 ± 3.2 days for the SRC group and 12.2 ± 3.5 days for the control group.

Variable	SRC (n=25)	Control (n=15)	<i>p</i> -value
Time to Symptom Resolution (days)	14.6 (14.7)	-	-
Time to RTP Protocol Start (days)	14.3 (15.6)	-	-
Time to First Practice (days)	17.1 (15.1)	-	-
Time to Clearance (days)	17.2 (14.3)	-	-
Total Number of Symptoms	1.8 (3.7)	1.6 (2.8)	0.89
Symptom Severity Score	2.6 (5.7)	3.6 (6.2)	0.59
Time from Acute Visit (days)	11.9 (3.2)	12.2 (3.5)	0.75

Table 9. Descriptive Statistics for Medical Clearance Visit Data of the Sport-Related Concussion

 Group and Healthy Matched Controls Groups.

Continuous data are presented as mean (SD). Significant p-values (<0.05) are bolded. SRC=Sport-Related Concussion Group; Control=Healthy Matched Control Group; RTP=Return to play

One-Month Post-RTP Visit

At the one-month post-RTP visit, no differences were noted between groups for the total number of symptoms (SRC: 0.6 ± 1.8 , Control: 0.2 ± 0.6 , p = 0.42) or symptom severity scores (SRC: 1.4 ± 5.0 , Control: 0.3 ± 0.7 , p = 0.38) on the SCAT5. The mean time between medical clearance visit and the one-month post-RTP visit was 55.3 ± 26.7 days for the SRC group and 66.1 ± 26 days for the control group (p = 0.31). The mean time for the SRC group was lowered by the 10 additional participants included in the analyses.

Sensorimotor Skill Performance Across Recovery

Mean scores on reaction time, go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, multiple-object tracking, and depth perception assessments at each visit for the SRC and control groups are presented in **Table 10**.

Reaction Time (Msec; lower is better)					
Group	Acute	Acute Medical Clearance One-Month Post-RTP			
SRC (n=25)	368.4 (80.3)	322.7 (29.4)	309.5 (28.4)		
Controls (n=15)	314.3 (31.02)	306.3 (21.5)	316.6 (29.9)		
	Go/N (Total Score; h	o-Go igher is better)			
Group	Group Acute Medical One-Month Clearance Post-RTP				
SRC (n=25)	5.2 (4.8)	9.5 (5.7)	11.8 (6.5)		
Controls (n=15)	8.7 (3.9)	12.1 (5.1)	12.4 (4.7)		
	Eye-Hand C (Msec; low	boordination er is better)			
Group Acute Medical One-Month Clearance Post-RTP					
SRC (n=25)	57762.3 (18039.2)	47674.6 (4396.5)	45661.9 (3653.8)		
Controls (n=15)	49235.5 (2970.7)	46486.5 (3069.2)	45176.3 (2880.8)		
Multiple-Object Tracking (Composite Score; higher is better)					
Group	Acute	Medical Clearance	One-Month Post-RTP		
SRC (n=25)	1385.3 (511.8)	1647.1 (556.9)	1688.1 (543.9)		
Controls (n=15)	1363.8 (410.7)	1639.7 (556.6)	1567.2 (618.7)		

Table 10. Mean Scores on Sensorimotor Assessments at Each Visit of the Sport-Related

 Concussion and Healthy Matched Controls Groups.

Table 10 (cont'd).

Depth Perception (Arcsec; lower is better)				
GroupAcuteMedical ClearanceOne-Month Post-RTP				
SRC (n=25)	168.2 (89.9)	146.12 (85.1)	154.04 (92.6)	
Controls (n=15)	179.7 (81.3)	179.5 (71.3)	179.1 (83.5)	

Continuous data are presented as mean (SD). SRC=Sport-Related Concussion Group; Control=Healthy Matched Control Group

Reaction Time

There was a statistically significant interaction between group and time on reaction time $(F_{(1.3, 48.8)} = 6.85, p = 0.007, \eta_p^2 = 0.15)$ (Figure 3). Post-hoc analysis of simple main effects of group revealed a statistically significant difference in reaction time between the SRC and control group at the acute visit ($F_{(1, 38)} = 6.2$, p = 0.017, $\eta_p^2 = 0.14$). Reaction time was statistically significantly slower (i.e., worse) in the SRC group (54.13 ± 21.72 msec, p = 0.017) compared to the control group at the acute visit. No statistically significant differences in reaction time between the SRC and control group were found at medical clearance ($F_{(1, 38)} = 3.49$, p = 0.069, $\eta_p^2 = 0.08$) or one-month post-RTP (F_(1, 38) = 0.57, p = 0.46, $\eta_p^2 = 0.015$). Post-hoc analysis of simple main effects of time revealed a statistically significant effect of time on reaction time for the SRC group ($F_{(1.2, 29.6)} = 12.25$, p = 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.34$), but not for the control group ($F_{(2, 28)} =$ 2.14, p = 0.14, $\eta_p^2 = 0.13$). For the SRC group, reaction time statistically significantly decreased (i.e., improved) from acute to medical clearance time points (M = 45.7, SE = 14.71 msec, p =0.01) and from acute to one-month post-RTP time points (M = 58.9, SE = 14.8 msec, p = 0.002), but was not statistically significantly different between medical clearance and one-month post-RTP (M = 13.2, SE = 5.75 msec, p = 0.09).



Figure 3. Mean \pm SD reaction time performance scores across the acute, medical clearance, and one-month post-RTP visits for the SRC and Control groups. *Significant difference in reaction time between SRC and Control groups at the acute visits. †Significant difference in reaction time for the SRC group between acute and medical clearance visits. ‡Significant difference in reaction time for the SRC group between acute and one-month post-RTP visits.

Go/No-Go

There was no statistically significant interaction between group and time on go/no-go $(F_{(2, 76)} = 2.4, p = 0.09, \eta_p^2 = 0.06)$, along with no statistically significant main effect of group $(F_{(1, 38)} = 2.15, p = 0.15, \eta_p^2 = 0.05)$ (**Figure 4**). However, the main effect of time showed a statistically significant difference in mean go/no-go scores at the different time points $(F_{(2, 76)} = 30.9, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.45)$. Follow-up pairwise comparisons revealed that mean go/no-go scores statistically significantly increased (i.e., improved) from acute visit to medical clearance (M = 3.8, SE = 0.72, p < 0.001) and from acute visit to one-month post-RTP (M = 5.1, SE = 0.75, p < 0.001), but not from medical clearance to one-month post-RTP (M = 1.3, SE = 0.54, p = 0.071).



Figure 4. Mean \pm SD go/no-go performance scores across the acute, medical clearance, and onemonth post-RTP visits for the SRC and Control groups. *Significant increase in go/no-go scores between acute and medical clearance visits. †Significant increase in go/no-go scores between acute and one-month post-RTP visits.

Eye-Hand Coordination

There was no statistically significant interaction between group and time on eye-hand coordination ($F_{(1.1, 40.9)} = 2.8$, p = 0.09, $\eta_p^2 = 0.07$), along with no statistically significant main effect of group ($F_{(1, 38)} = 3.1$, p = 0.09, $\eta_p^2 = 0.08$) (**Figure 5**). However, the main effect of time showed a statistically significant difference in mean eye-hand coordination scores at the different time points ($F_{(1.1, 40.9)} = 10.4$, p = 0.002, $\eta_p^2 = 0.22$). Follow-up pairwise comparisons revealed that mean eye-hand coordination statistically significantly decreased (i.e., improved) from acute visit to medical clearance (M = 6418.3, SE = 2309.3 msec, p = 0.025), from acute visit to onemonth post-RTP (M = 8079.8, SE = 2207.2 msec, p = 0.002), and from medical clearance to onemonth post-RTP (M = 1661.5, SE = 514.9 msec, p = 0.008).



Eye-Hand Coordination Performance Over Time

Figure 5. Mean \pm SD eye-hand coordination performance scores across the acute, medical clearance, and one-month post-RTP visits for the SRC and Control groups. *Significant decrease in eye-hand coordination between acute and medical clearance visits. †Significant decrease in eye-hand coordination between medical clearance and one-month post-RTP visits. \ddagger Significant decrease in eye-hand coordination between acute and one-month post-RTP visits.

Multiple-Object Tracking

There was no statistically significant interaction between group and time on multipleobject tracking ($F_{(2, 76)} = 0.29$, p = 0.75, $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$), along with no statistically significant main effect of group ($F_{(1, 38)} = 0.11$, p = 0.74, $\eta_p^2 = 0.003$) (**Figure 6**). However, the main effect of time showed a statistically significant difference in mean multiple-object tracking scores at the
different time points ($F_{(2, 76)} = 7.02$, p = 0.002, $\eta_p^2 = 0.16$). Follow-up pairwise comparisons revealed that mean multiple-object tracking scores statistically significantly increased from acute visit to medical clearance (M = 268.9, SE = 78.9, p = 0.005) and from acute visit to one-month post-RTP (M = 253.06, SE = 83.7, p = 0.013), but not from medical clearance to one-month post-RTP (M = 15.8, SE = 78.9, p = 0.99).



Multiple-Object Tracking Performance Over Time

Figure 6. Mean \pm SD multiple-object tracking performance scores across the acute, medical clearance, and one-month post-RTP visits for the SRC and Control groups. *Significant increase in multiple-object tracking between acute and medical clearance visits. †Significant increase in multiple-object tracking between acute and one-month post-RTP visits.

Depth Perception

There was no statistically significant interaction between group and time on depth perception (F_(2, 76) = 0.47, p = 0.63, $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$), along with no statistically significant main

effects of time (F_(2, 76) = 0.49, p = 0.61, $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$) and group (F_(1, 38) = 0.89, p = 0.35, $\eta_p^2 = 0.02$). (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Mean \pm SD depth perception performance scores across the acute, medical clearance, and one-month post-RTP visits for the SRC and Control groups.

4.5. Discussion

The current study compared sensorimotor skills in collegiate athletes following SRC to healthy matched controls. Results from this prospective cohort study revealed that collegiate athletes following SRC demonstrated significantly worse reaction time scores throughout recovery compared to healthy matched controls. More specifically, reaction time was significantly slower in athletes with SRC acutely and significantly improved to the time of medical clearance and one-month post-RTP. As a result, clinicians should be aware that collegiate athletes following SRC may demonstrate deficits in reaction time throughout recovery, and even after RTP, which could place them at risk for subsequent injury. Our findings support extant evidence regarding the presence of persistent reaction time deficits in athletes after SRC, even beyond clinical recovery, and reflect the need for routine incorporation of reaction time assessment in SRC management. While go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, and multiple-object tracking sensorimotor skills significantly changed throughout recovery, no differences were noted between groups. Furthermore, while scores on go/no-go and eye-hand coordination were consistently worse in athletes with SRC and improved throughout recovery compared to healthy matched controls, a significant interaction was not found for these sensorimotor skills assessments. This demonstrates that go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, multiple-object tracking, and depth perception assessments from this computerized sensory station do not appear to be sensitive to SRC across recovery and suggests that other sensorimotor assessment modalities may be better suited for the evaluation of SRC.

Reaction Time Throughout Recovery

Results from our study support previous evidence that demonstrates robust reaction time deficits following SRC that persist beyond medical clearance and clinical recovery.⁴⁸ A multitude of studies have found acute reaction time deficits post-SRC, independent of the study design and methodology.^{33,34,48,348} Older, clinic-friendly tests of reaction time, involving grasping a falling measuring stick, have shown to be sensitive to concussion and distinguish between athletes with SRC, controls, and to baseline levels.^{33,349} Now, computerized neurocognitive platforms are more popular for assessing reaction time following SRC, with simple measures (i.e., tasks requiring pressing a single computer button or trigger in response to a stimulus)

demonstrating larger reaction time deficits following injury compared to mixed measures (i.e., composite score derived from subtests of ImPACT).⁴⁸ Howell et al. found significantly slower simple reaction times in a group of collegiate athletes with SRC (305.2 ± 32.4 msec) compared to controls (275.4 ± 22.1 msec) using a tablet-based neurocognitive evaluation.³⁵⁰ Although the device and software was different, our results also showed the SRC group recorded slower simple reaction times than the healthy matched control group within 5 days of injury (368.4 ± 80.3 msec vs. 314.3 ± 31.02 msec, respectively). This supports a meta-analysis performed by Lempke et al.,⁴⁸ which demonstrated that reaction time deficits are present acutely regardless of the tool or device used. The computerized sensory station used in the current study adds to that body of literature of available sensorimotor assessments able to identify reaction time deficits acutely following SRC.

We also observed that reaction time deficits in the SRC group persisted beyond medical clearance, which is supported by previous evidence, although this research is still in its infancy. Lempke et al. revealed that significant reaction time deficits were still present during the intermediate term (21-59 days), but improved in the long-term (80-365 days) following concussion.⁴⁸ The intermediate term from their meta-analysis spans the average time from injury to the post-RTP visit in our study (58.7 days). As large-scale longitudinal and epidemiological studies have reported clinical recovery to occur for the vast majority of collegiate athletes within 28 days,^{6,303,351} our findings support hypotheses that reaction time deficits may still be present at or beyond the time of clinical recovery.

While the reason for our finding related to reaction time is beyond the scope of the current study, there are a number of potential explanations, along with clinical implications, for the lingering deficits. The relatively small-sample size in our study may mask true effects,

making it possible that group differences were observed at medical clearance and one-month post-RTP that may not be present. Alternatively, the type of reaction time assessment used in this study may be more challenging than other assessment types used in post-concussion evaluations, which elicits the lingering reaction time deficits. Research has shown attentional deficits are reflective of executive dysfunction, and these abilities may also require a longer period of recovery than what traditional computerized neurocognitive tests can identify.^{24,308} Nevertheless, emerging research suggests that deficits in sensorimotor ability have been linked to increased risk of lower extremity musculoskeletal injury.^{11,12,30,313} Studies have postulated that this association may be related to reaction time,³⁵² although a study of the ImPACT reaction time domain score and measuring stick drop did not significantly predict subsequent musculoskeletal injury.³⁵³ Future research should investigate the performance of this sensory station's reaction time assessment and subsequent injury following SRC.

Eye-Hand Coordination and Go/No-Go Throughout Recovery

The eye-hand coordination and go/no-go assessments used in this study are difficult multimodal tasks that may more accurately reflect sensorimotor skills used by athletes in sport than standard SRC assessments, which speaks to the appeal of computerized sensory stations in identifying underlying deficits. Extant literature has demonstrated at length that impairments in cognitive functioning following SRC affects processing, eye-hand coordination, decision-making, and related skills that are used in these assessments.^{19,187,188} One study in particular found that collegiate female soccer players following SRC performed significantly worse on decision-making, response inhibition (i.e., go/no-go), and planning compared to age-matched controls.²⁷¹ Despite what prior research has shown, our study revealed no significant interaction between the SRC and control group for the eye-hand coordination or go/no-go assessments.

While no significant interaction was found, eye-hand coordination scores were higher in the SRC group at each visit compared to controls. In both groups, eye-hand coordination scores were higher acutely and improved at each visit, as evidenced by the main effect of time. This may demonstrate a slight learning effect over time, even though the assessment demonstrated good reliability, or could be a result of improved effort and motivation. At baseline, Fraser et al. found that once athletes observed how their scores compared with others in their sport, level, and position, their attitudes and effort improved at a retest session.³⁴² This could be the case in our study as well, especially among the controls. It is also possible that with an increased sample size and even sample of controls, the interaction effect would change. While the eye-hand coordination assessment may be useful in determining deficits throughout recovery following SRC, further research is needed to support this. Therefore, it may not be a determining factor in management decisions at this time.

For the go/no-go assessment, scores were lower in the SRC group at each visit compared to controls, although no significant interaction was observed. Scores were lowest in both groups at the acute visit and improved significantly over time, as evidenced by the significant main effect for time. Again, these improvements may be the result of learning effects from better technique and greater effort and motivation.³⁴² Previous research has demonstrated deficits in inhibitory control (i.e., go/no-go) acutely (within 72 hours) and up to one-month following RTP in athletes following SRC compared to matched controls.⁴⁹ However, that study used a modified Flanker task on a laptop, which may have been easier for participants to complete than the go/no-go assessment on a large television screen that required greater motor responses. Similar to the eye-hand coordination assessment, it is possible that with an increased sample size and an even

sample of controls, the interaction effect would change to significant and support this previous research.

Depth Perception and Multiple-Object Tracking Throughout Recovery

A published abstract using computerized sensory stations has identified worse depth perception in high school and collegiate athletes with a history of SRC compared to those without a history of SRC, suggesting the eyes' ability to work in tandem may be compromised following SRC.¹⁸⁶ A separate study of individuals following moderate TBI and SRC showed impaired stereopsis compared to controls, although using a virtual reality system at different positions of the visual field.³⁵⁴ Nonetheless, this was not the case in our study in a sample of collegiate athletes following SRC compared to controls, where we found no significant group by time interaction. Scores on the depth perception assessment were lower in the SRC group at each visit compared to the controls. The reasoning behind these conflicting findings is unknown, as the SRC group did not differ significantly on any medical history variables, including history of SRC or ocular issues, compared to their counterparts. It is more likely that these differences are due to the difficulty of the assessment, as many participants reported that they were never able to see the target and made educated guesses throughout the test. This is supported by Fraser et al. who reported similar experiences in a study of collegiate athletes using the computerized sensory station during baseline testing for concussion.³⁴² Although preliminary evidence has shown this depth perception assessment to be reliable,³⁴⁶ other assessment modalities of depth perception, such as virtual reality, may be better to elicit differences between athletes following SRC and controls.

Similar to depth perception, no significant interaction between groups and over time was identified for the multiple-object tracking assessment. Additionally, scores were higher in the

SRC group at each visit compared to controls and both groups scores improved over time, as demonstrated by the main effect of time. Once again, these findings conflict with extant evidence following concussion. A study of 15 participants with concussion and 20 controls revealed that the concussion group had greater deficits in their ability to maintain visual attention on tracking multiple moving objects, which was particularly hindered by increased tracking load and distraction.³⁵⁵ Multiple-object tracking has also been used to predict post-concussion syndrome in adults <35 years old.³⁵⁶ The multiple-object tracking assessment used in our study requires sustained attention and excellent peripheral vision to track several moving circles simultaneously. This results in participants often reaching a lower number of paired targets (i.e., 3 targets), but few successfully completing a higher number of paired targets (i.e., 6 targets), regardless of injury. Therefore, it is likely that results from our study are due to the assessment being too difficult to allow for differentiation between groups.

Clinical Implications

Our findings add relevant information to clinical knowledge regarding the presence of sensorimotor skill deficits acutely, throughout recovery, and after RTP in collegiate athletes following SRC. The presence of a significant interaction for reaction time supports nascent literature demonstrating persistent reaction time deficits beyond clinical recovery from SRC.^{48,49} Clinicians should be aware of possible reaction time deficits in collegiate athletes following SRC and tailor their management plan accordingly. This may allow for improvement of these skills via visuomotor training or may allow clinicians to make more informed RTP decisions.³³³ As reaction time is crucial in sport,^{13,14} ensuring there are no underlying deficits at the time of medical clearance may help minimize the risk of subsequent injury.^{11,12,30,313} Given evidence of other persistent deficits, including cognitive, ocular, perceptual, and motor, which all contribute

to the sensorimotor system,^{23-26,49,313} regular assessment of reaction time should be added to the multi-faceted concussion management approach. While some clinical practice guidelines encourage incorporation of sensorimotor assessment in management protocols,³⁵⁷ future consensus statements should consider the evolving evidence.

Limitations

This study is not without limitations. First, the sample size in both groups did not meet the estimation and the sample size in the control group was 10 participants less than the SRC group, leaving the study underpowered. Therefore, evenly distributed groups that meet the sample size estimation for adequate power may result in different findings than those presented in this study. Second, the SRC and control groups only included collegiate athletes in the Mid-Michigan area, and were predominantly white and non-Hispanic. This may restrict generalizability of the findings to athletes of different ages, states, races and ethnicities. Additional data should be collected on participants of other ages, races, and ethnicities, as research has identified different recovery times between white and black athletes following SRC and younger athletes.^{40,358} Next, only 5 of the 10 sensorimotor skills administered by the computerized sensory station were used in analyses to account for tests with poor (visual clarity, contrast sensitivity, and near-far quickness ICCs = 0.28-0.43) and moderate reliability (target capture and perception span ICCs = 0.51-0.63), which limits the applicability of the device as a comprehensive assessment of sensorimotor function. While the 5 sensorimotor assessments that were not used may still be useful, further reliability and validity studies need to be performed. Additionally, evidence at SRC baseline testing has demonstrated the possibility of invalid scores on the computerized sensory station due to lack of understanding, effort, and motivation,³⁴² which could have affected the results in our study, especially among the control group. However,

this study only used reliable assessments and participants did not express any of those concerns to the study team.

4.6. Conclusion

An examination of sensorimotor skills in collegiate athletes following SRC revealed significantly worse reaction time acutely and throughout recovery compared to healthy matched controls. While go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, and multiple-object tracking significantly changed over time, no differences were noted between groups. These findings support extant evidence regarding the presence of persistent reaction time deficits in athletes after SRC, even beyond clinical recovery, and reflect the need for routine incorporation of reaction time assessment in SRC management. This will aid clinicians in curating individualized treatment plans, inform RTP decisions, and mitigate concerns regarding the risk of subsequent injury.

CHAPTER 5: THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SYMPTOM FACTORS AND SENSORIMOTOR SKILLS FOLLOWING SPORT-RELATED CONCUSSION IN COLLEGIATE ATHLETES

5.1. Abstract

Background: As a result of the heterogeneous nature of sport-related concussion (SRC), clinicians and researchers have aggregated symptoms into groups, called factors, to better inform management of athletes with SRC. While the association between these symptom factors and neurocognitive performance has been studied, the association between symptom factors and performance on an array of sensorimotor skills is unknown. Additionally, it is unclear how symptom factors and sensorimotor skills are associated with recovery time following SRC in collegiate athletes.

Purpose: The primary purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between symptom factors and sensorimotor skills in collegiate athletes following SRC at the acute visit. The secondary purpose was to determine if symptom factors or sensorimotor skills were associated with recovery time.

Methods: A prospective cohort study of collegiate athletes following SRC was performed in a university laboratory setting. Participants with SRC were included if they were between the ages of 18 and 30 years and received a diagnosis of SRC from a licensed healthcare provider within 5 days of enrollment, and were excluded if they had a neurological brain condition (e.g., epilepsy). Participants with SRC completed an acute visit within 5 days of injury and a second visit at the time of medical clearance (+3 days). Participants completed an intake form with demographic, injury, medical history, and recovery information, along with the symptom inventory from the Sport Concussion Assessment Tool-5 (SCAT5) and 10 sensorimotor skill assessments on a computerized sensory station (Senaptec Sensory Station, Senaptec Inc., Beaverton, OR).

Symptoms were aggregated into a migraine-fatigue, affective, and cognitive ocular factor. Spearman's rank-order correlations were run to assess the relationship between each symptom factor and sensorimotor skill at the acute visit. A series of 8 linear multiple regressions were conducted with symptom factors and sensorimotor skills at the acute visit as independent variables and days to symptom resolution as the dependent variable. Statistical significance was set at a priori at p < 0.05.

Results: A total of 64 participants (mean age: 20.7 ± 2.5 , 34 female, 30 male) following SRC completed the study. The average time to presentation was 3.7 ± 1.7 days and the sample presented as predominantly white (67.2%) and without a history of SRC (51.6%), headache/migraine (90.6%), ADD/ADHD (82.8%), or anxiety/depression (71.9%). The mean total number of symptoms was 11.9 ± 7.4 and mean severity was 25.8 ± 22.3 . The migraine-fatigue factor had the greatest mean score (7.92 ± 5.9), followed by cognitive ocular (3.5 ± 4.4) and affective (3.14 ± 4.7). Statistically significant correlations were found between all three symptom factors with go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, and reaction time assessments (p < 0.05). None of the symptom factors or sensorimotor assessment scores were significantly associated with recovery time following SRC in collegiate athletes.

Conclusion: The cognitive-ocular, migraine-fatigue, and affective symptom factors from the SCAT5 were significantly correlated with performance on speed-based sensorimotor assessments, including go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, and reaction time, at the acute visit in collegiate athletes following SRC. However, none of the three symptom factors or 5 sensorimotor assessments were associated with recovery time while controlling for covariates. These findings further expand our knowledge of how specific symptom factors are related to

SRC assessments and recovery outcomes, which helps inform SRC management and clinical decision-making.

5.2. Introduction

Sport-related concussion (SRC) has become a major public health crisis with approximately 3.8 million SRCs occurring annually in the United States.³ Collegiate athletes are particularly at risk, with an SRC rate of 4.13 per 10,000 AEs.¹⁰⁵ Since the injury does not present clinically in a consistent manner, medical consensus advocates for a multifaceted approach to SRC management involving a variety of assessments (e.g., symptom checklist, vestibular/oculomotor test).^{1,9,162,322} One of the most valuable assessment tools in the clinical diagnosis of SRC is the self-reported symptom inventory, such as the Post-Concussion Symptom Scale (PCSS) and Sport Concussion Assessment Tool-5 (SCAT5) symptom scale.^{55,168} Selfreported symptoms at the initial clinical presentation remain the strongest and most consistent predictor of SRC recovery.¹⁵ Due to the heterogeneity of SRC symptom presentation, researchers have explored possible grouping of symptoms into meaningful categories (i.e., profiles, clusters, or factors). The establishment of SRC symptom factors can inform the types of assessments administered, along with targeted therapies and rehabilitation programs for athletes with SRC.

A widely used and popular factor structure for the PCSS was published in 2012 by Kontos et al.,⁵⁵ and included cognitive-fatigue-migraine, affective, somatic, and sleep factors. This led to the development of clinical profiles or trajectories following SRC that include cognitive/fatigue, vestibular, ocular, post-traumatic migraine, anxiety/mood, and cervical/sleep.²⁴⁹ Given the clinical utility of identifying symptom factors, the recommended use of the SCAT5's symptom inventory for the acute assessment of SRC,⁶ and the different symptoms ("pressure in the head," neck pain, blurred vision, "don't feel right," and confusion)

compared to the PCSS, researchers developed symptom factors for the SCAT5 as well.^{359,360} Recent research aggregated SCAT5 symptoms in adolescents following concussion into energy, mental health, migrainous, cognitive, and vestibulo-ocular factors.³⁵⁹ Anderson et al. identified migraine-fatigue (5 symptoms: headache, "pressure in head", sensitivity to light, sensitivity to noise, and "don't feel right"), affective (4 symptoms: more emotional, irritability, sadness, nervous or anxious), and cognitive-ocular (4 symptoms: blurred vision, balance problems, difficulty remembering, confusion) symptom factors in high school and collegiate athletes with SRC.³⁶⁰ The delineation of SCAT5 symptoms into different factor structures provides further validation for the presence of different concussion types.^{249,260}

Since symptom inventories are part of a more comprehensive assessment approach, researchers have also attempted to determine the relationship between symptom factors and performance on other SRC assessment tools. Covassin et al. found that athletes with multiple prior SRCs exhibited deficits on neurocognitive measures of verbal memory and reaction time along with the cognitive-fatigue-migraine symptom cluster.¹⁸³ Cohen et al. found that higher scores on somatic symptom factors at initial visit following SRC predicted worse performance on vestibular/ocular screening components at second visit, but not neurocognitive performance.⁵¹ Furthermore, none of the symptom factors were significantly associated with recovery time.⁵¹ Identifying these associations early helps further determine concussion clinical profiles and guide treatment approaches, but evidence is lacking determining the relationship between symptom factors and sensorimotor assessments. This is a concern because emerging research demonstrates deficits in an array of sensorimotor skills, including reaction time, split attention, and response inhibition,^{267,270-272} acutely following SRC and even beyond clinical recovery.^{23-26,313} Guty et al. did examine symptom factors with sensorimotor function and found a significant

association between headache symptoms and attention/processing speed impairment in collegiate student-athletes after SRC.⁵⁰ Lastly, although not specifically investigating symptom factors, a study of sensorimotor impairment across several domains, including oculomotor, near-point convergence, optokinetic nystagmus, vestibular-ocular reflex, positional tests, and postural stability, found the results collectively explained symptoms, such as dizziness, following concussion in adults.²⁶ Still, there is a paucity of studies investigating the relationship between symptom factors and sensorimotor skills following SRC.

With deficits across a multitude of sensorimotor skills acutely following SRC and beyond clinical recovery, it is important to determine their relationship with specific symptom factors. This will further help to inform the types of sensorimotor assessments administered, along with targeted therapies and rehabilitation programs for athletes with SRC. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to examine the correlation between symptom factors, using the SCAT5 symptom factors from Anderson et al.,³⁶⁰ and sensorimotor skills, including go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, multiple-object tracking, depth perception, and reaction time, following SRC in collegiate athletes at their acute visit. Secondarily, we sought to examine the association between symptom factors, sensorimotor skills, and recovery time following SRC in collegiate athletes. As acute symptom burden and symptom factors have been associated with worse concussion assessment outcomes, ^{26,50,51} we hypothesized that higher cognitive-ocular, migraine-fatigue, and affective symptom factor scores would be associated with worse performance on go/no-go, eyehand coordination, multiple-object tracking, depth perception, and reaction time assessments. As evidence has shown initial visit symptom factors are not associated with recovery time,⁵¹ we hypothesized that scores on the three symptom factors would not be significantly associated with recovery time following SRC in collegiate athletes.

5.3. Methodology

Design

A prospective design was used to examine the association between symptom factors, sensorimotor skills, and recovery time following SRC. This study was approved by the Michigan State University (MSU) Institutional Review Board for Human Subjects Research. Trained research coordinators conducted consenting procedures and all participants signed an informed consent prior to the start of the study.

Participants

Participants were recruited from MSU and local colleges in Michigan through an established recruitment network. Participants with SRC were included if they were between the ages 18-30 years with an SRC diagnosis from a licensed healthcare provider within 5 days of enrollment and excluded if they had a neurological brain condition (e.g., epilepsy).

Sample Size Estimation

The estimation for the proposed study was based on prior evidence demonstrating a moderate correlation ($r_s = 0.38$) between SCAT5 symptoms and a concussion balance assessment.³⁶¹ This study was selected for sample size estimation since balance incorporates multiple aspects of the sensorimotor system and may be one of the best assessments of sensorimotor function and integration available at this time.^{17,228} Using an acceptable power of (1- β) of 0.80 and a-priori alpha level of 0.05, we estimate that 52 participants with SRC will be required to identify a positive or negative relationship with a moderate association.

Procedures

Participants with SRC completed an acute visit within 5 days of injury and a second visit at the time of medical clearance (+3 days). While 72 hours is considered "acute" in the SRC literature,³⁴⁵ acute pathophysiology of concussion can span up to 10 days⁶⁴; therefore, 5 days was selected for the first time point to allow the study team to collect data on injuries that were sustained over the weekend in sporting events. At the acute visit, participants completed an intake form with demographic, injury characteristics, and medical history questions (e.g., prior concussion history), followed by the symptom inventory from the SCAT5.¹⁶⁸ Afterwards, participants completed sensorimotor assessments on a computerized sensory station. At the medical clearance session, participants reported recovery information, including days to symptom resolution and days to clearance to return to play (RTP), and completed the symptom inventory and the sensorimotor assessments.

Symptom Factors

The SCAT5 symptom inventory includes a list of 22 symptoms commonly reported after SRC and is designed to quantify the severity of post-concussion symptoms using a 7-point (0 = none to 6 = severe) Likert-type scale. This symptom inventory was used to create 3 new symptom factor variables: migraine-fatigue, affective, and cognitive-ocular.³⁶⁰ The migraine-fatigue factor includes headache, "pressure in head", sensitivity to light, sensitivity to noise, and "don't feel right" symptoms. The affective symptom factor includes more emotional, irritability, sadness, and nervous or anxious symptoms. The cognitive-ocular factor includes blurred vision, balance problems, difficulty remembering, confusion. Neck pain, nausea or vomiting, and "feeling in a fog" did not meet primary loading criteria and dizziness, feeling slowed down, difficulty concentrating, fatigue or low energy, drowsiness, and trouble falling asleep were excluded due to high cross-loading by Anderson et al.³⁶⁰ Symptom severity scores from

individual symptoms that make up a factor were summed to create a new symptom severity score for each symptom factor.

Sensorimotor Assessments

The computerized sensory station (Senaptec Sensory Station, Senaptec Inc., Beaverton, OR) used in this study incorporates an adjustable television screen, mounted tablet, and an Android remote (**Figure 1**) to test 10 sensorimotor skills.⁴³ The sensorimotor assessment, description, procedures, and units for each sensorimotor assessment are explained in Fraser et al.³⁴² The computerized sensory station's 7-test previous version, the Nike SPARQ, demonstrated repeatability and minimal learning effects,⁴⁷ while preliminary data of the reliability of Senaptec has revealed moderate to good agreement on the majority of sensorimotor assessments.³⁴⁶ While all 10 sensorimotor assessments were completed in the study procedures, only those demonstrating good reliability [go/no-go (ICC=0.88), eye-hand coordination (ICC=0.85), multiple-object tracking (ICC=0.85), depth perception (ICC=0.81), and reaction time (ICC=0.81)] were used in analyses. The description, procedures, and units for each sensorimotor assessment used in analyses are provided in **Table 5**.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics in the form of mean \pm SD for continuous variables and frequency (%) for categorical variables were calculated for demographic and medical history information, injury characteristics, and symptoms for participants with SRC. Shapiro Wilk's tests were performed to assess normality. Due to not all variables being normally distributed, Spearman's rank-order correlations were run to assess the relationship between each symptom factor (migraine-fatigue, affective, and cognitive-ocular) and sensorimotor skills (go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, multiple-object tracking, depth perception, and reaction time) at the acute visit. The correlation coefficients (positive or negative) were interpreted as $\geq 0.7 =$ very strong, 0.40-0.69 = strong, 0.30-0.39 = moderate, 0.20-0.29 = weak, and 0.01-0.19 = negligible relationship.³⁶²

Eight separate multiple linear regression analyses were conducted with symptom factors (migraine-fatigue, affective, and cognitive-ocular) and sensorimotor skills (go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, multiple-object tracking, depth perception, and reaction time) as the independent variable and days to symptom resolution representing recovery time as the dependent variable. As prior evidence has recommended a minimum of ten participants for every variable included in the regression model,^{363,364} it was decided a priori that a maximum of 5 covariates would also be included in the regression models. To determine which covariates were included, separate univariate linear regressions were performed with known variables that affect SRC recovery (e.g., acute symptom severity, SRC history, female sex).^{15,42} Covariates with a significance level of p < 0.05 in univariate regression models were then entered into the multiple regression models. All variables were assessed for multicollinearity using Tolerance and Variance Inflation Factors. For the multiple regression models, the overall percent of explained variance of the model (\mathbb{R}^2), regression coefficient (β), constant, 95% confidence intervals (95% CI), and *p*values were calculated. Statistical significance was set a priori at p < 0.05. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software (version 27.0; SPSS, Inc, Chicago, IL).

5.4. Results

Participants

Overall, 64 participants (mean age: 20.7 ± 2.5 , 34 female, 30 male) following SRC completed the study. The sample was predominantly white (67.2%), non-Hispanic (95.3%), right-handed (90.6%), and played football (25%) (**Table 11**). Among medical history variables,

more of the sample had no history of SRC (51.6%), headache/migraine (90.6%), ADD/ADHD (82.8%), and anxiety/depression (71.9%). Additional medical history information is presented in **Table 12**. The average time to presentation was 3.7 ± 1.7 days. Twelve (18.8%) participants reported loss of consciousness, 14 (21.9%) could not remember their injury, and 27 (42.2%) continued to play following their SRC.

Variable	Mean (SD) / N (%)
Age (years)	20.7 (2.5)
Sex	
Female	34 (53.1%)
Male	30 (46.9%)
Race	
White	43 (67.2%)
Black	14 (21.9%)
Other	5 (7.8%)
Asian	2 (3.1%)
Ethnicity	(1.(05.20/)
Non-Hispanic	61(95.3%)
Hispanic	2(3.1%)
Undedness	1 (1.6%)
Dight	58 (00 69/)
Kigin Laft	5 (7 8%)
Both	1(1.6%)
Vear in School	1 (1.070)
College Freshman	13 (20.3%)
College Sophomore	7 (10.9%)
College Junior	14 (21.9%)
College Senior	14 (21.9%)
College 5 th Year	4 (6.3%)
Graduate Student	8 (12.5%)
Other	4 (6.3%)
Sport	
Cheerleading	4 (6.3%)
Football	16 (25%)
Gymnastics	2 (3.1%)
Ice Hockey	2 (3.1%)
Rugby	5 (7.8%)
Soccer	10 (15.6%)
Swimming & Diving	2 (3.1%)
I rack & Field Mallackall	2(3.1%)
v oneyball Waastling	3(4./%)
other	5(4.70) 15(22.50/)
Other	15 (25.5%)

Table 11. Descriptive Statistics for Demographic Variables of Participants with Sport-Related Concussion.

Level of Play	
College	42 (65.6%)
Club	8 (12.5%)
Intramural	1 (1.6%)
Recreational	3 (4.7%)
Other	10 (15.6%)

Continuous data are presented as mean (SD) and categorical data are presented as n (%).

Table 11 (cont'd).

Table 12. Descriptive Statistics for Medical History of Participants with Sport-Related Concussion.

Variable	Mean (SD) / N (%)
Prior Concussion History	
No	33 (51.6%)
Yes	31 (48.4%)
Number of Prior Concussions	1.77 (0.92)
Headache/Migraine	
No	58 (90.6%)
Yes	6 (9.4%)
Learning Disorder/Dyslexia	
No	59 (92.2%)
Yes	5 (7.8%)
ADD/ADHD	
No	53 (82.8%)
Yes	11 (17.2%)
Anxiety/Depression	
No	46 (71.9%)
Yes	18 (28.1%)
Motion Sickness	
No	60 (93.8%)
Yes	4 (6.3%)
Eye Exam Ever	
No	14 (21.9%)
Yes	50 (78.1%)
Eye Exam Past Year	
No	34 (53.2%)
Yes	30 (46.8%)

Table 12 (cont'd).

Eye Correction in Sport	
Contact Lenses	8 (12.5%)
Glasses	7 (10.9%)
None	49 (76.6%)
Eye Surgery Ever	
No	63 (98.4%)
Yes	1 (1.6%)

Continuous data are presented as mean (SD) and categorical data are presented as n (%).

Symptom Factors

Symptom information from the SCAT5, including calculated symptom factors, reported at the acute visit are presented in **Table 13**.

Table 13. Symptom Information of Participants with Sport-Related Concussion Reported at the Acute Visit.

Variable	Mean (SD)
Total Number of Symptoms	11.9 (7.4)
Symptom Severity Score	25.8 (22.3)
Migraine-Fatigue Factor Score	7.92 (5.9)
Cognitive-Ocular Factor Score	3.5 (4.4)
Affective Factor Score	3.14 (4.7)

Continuous data are presented as mean (SD).

Sensorimotor Assessments

Sensorimotor assessment scores from the acute and medical clearance visits are presented

in Table 14.

Table 14. Sensorimotor Assessment Scores for Participants with Sport-Related Concussion at the Acute and Medical Clearance Visit.

Assessment	Acute Visit	Medical Clearance
Go/No-Go (Total Score; higher is better)	5.7 (5.5)	8.9 (6.2)
Eye-Hand Coordination (Msec; lower is better)	57003.9 (14813.9)	48550.6 (4633.9)
Multiple-Object Tracking (Composite Score; higher is better)	1399.3 (525.2)	1662.5 (580.6)
Depth Perception (Arcsec; lower is better)	168.4 (91.2)	164.6 (83.4)
Reaction Time (Msec; lower is better)	357.8 (64.5)	321.4 (30.7)
Continuous data are presented as mean (SD)		

Continuous data are presented as mean (SD).

Correlation Between Symptom Factors and Sensorimotor Skills

There was a statistically significant moderate and negative correlation between go/no-go scores and the migraine-fatigue (p < 0.05) and cognitive-ocular (p < 0.01) factors, along with a weak negative correlation with the affective symptom factor (p < 0.05). There was also a statistically significant strong positive correlation between eye-hand coordination and the migraine-fatigue (p < 0.01) factor, along with moderate positive correlations with the cognitive-ocular (p < 0.05) and affective symptom factors (p < 0.05). Lastly, there was a statistically significant weak positive correlation between reaction time and the migraine-fatigue factor (p < 0.05), along with a moderate positive correlation with the cognitive-ocular factor (p < 0.01) and a

strong positive correlation with the affective symptom factor (p < 0.01). Remaining correlations

are presented in Table 15.

Table 15. Correlations Between Symptom Factors and Sensorimotor Skills for Participants wit	h
Sport-Related Concussion at the Acute Visit.	

Assessment	Migraine-Fatigue	Cognitive-Ocular	Affective
Go/No-Go (Total Score; higher is better)	-0.31*	-0.34**	-0.29*
Eye-Hand Coordination (Msec; lower is better)	0.4**	0.32*	0.34*
Multiple-Object Tracking (Composite Score; higher is better)	-0.2	-0.23	-0.07
Depth Perception (Arcsec; lower is better)	0.08	0.09	0.15
Reaction Time (Msec; lower is better)	0.29*	0.38**	0.42**

*Statistically significant at p < 0.05 level. **Statistically significant at p < 0.01 level.

Relationship Between Symptom Factors and Recovery Time

Separate univariate linear regressions revealed that female sex, history of headache/migraine, continued play, total number of symptoms at the acute visit, and time to presentation were significantly associated with days to symptom resolution (p < 0.05). Since total number of symptoms at the acute visit had statistically significant strong positive correlations with the migraine-fatigue (r = 0.81, p < 0.01), cognitive-ocular (r = 0.77, p < 0.01), and affective (r = 0.7, p < 0.01) symptom factors individually, this variable was removed from the multiple regression models. Therefore, only female sex, history of headaches/migraine, continued play, and time to presentation were included as covariates in the multiple regression models.

The multiple regression results examining the relationship between the migraine-fatigue symptom factor and days to symptom resolution, while controlling for female sex, history of headache/migraine, continued play, and time to presentation, is presented in **Table 16**. The multiple regression model was statistically significant ($F_{(5, 50)} = 11.5$, p < 0.001, Adj. $R^2 = 0.5$), but the migraine-fatigue factor did not significantly add to the model (B = 0.23, p = 0.13).

	В	95% CI for <i>B</i>	β	р
(Constant)	1.41	-3.15-5.98	-	0.54
Female Sex	1.37	-2.15-4.89	0.08	0.44
Headache/Migraine	14.98	9.3-20.67	0.53	<0.01
Continued Play	3.45	-0.06-6.95	0.21	0.05
Time to Presentation	1.4	0.4-2.41	0.29	<0.01
Migraine-Fatigue	0.23	-0.07-0.52	0.17	0.13

Table 16. Multiple Regression Results for Days to Symptom Resolution with Migraine-FatigueFactor as the Independent Variable.

Significant *p*-values are bolded. B = Unstandardized regression coefficient; 95% CI = 95% Confidence interval; SE B = Standard error of the regression coefficient; β = Standardized coefficient

The multiple regression results examining the relationship between the cognitive-ocular symptom factor and days to symptom resolution, while controlling for female sex, history of headache/migraine, continued play, and time to presentation, is presented in **Table 17**. The multiple regression model was statistically significant ($F_{(5, 50)} = 10.5$, p < 0.001, Adj. $R^2 = 0.47$), but the cognitive-ocular factor did not significantly add to the model (B = 0.11, p = 0.66).

	В	95% CI for <i>B</i>	β	р
(Constant)	2.93	-1.25-7.09	-	0.17
Female Sex	2.16	-1.38-5.69	0.13	0.23
Headache/Migraine	14.78	8.98-20.58	0.52	<0.01
Continued Play	4.11	0.51-7.71	0.25	0.03
Time to Presentation	1.23	0.23-2.22	0.25	0.02
Cognitive-Ocular	0.11	-0.38-0.59	0.05	0.66

Table 17. Multiple Regression Results for Days to Symptom Resolution with Cognitive-OcularFactor as the Independent Variable.

Significant *p*-values are bolded. B = Unstandardized regression coefficient; 95% CI = 95% Confidence interval; SE B = Standard error of the regression coefficient; β = Standardized coefficient

The multiple regression results examining the relationship between the affective symptom factor and days to symptom resolution, while controlling for female sex, history of headache/migraine, continued play, and time to presentation, is presented in **Table 18**. The multiple regression model was statistically significant ($F_{(5, 50)} = 10.5$, p < 0.001, Adj. $R^2 = 0.46$), but the affective factor did not significantly add to the model (B = -0.06, p = 0.78).

	В	95% CI for <i>B</i>	β	р
(Constant)	3.07	-1.08-7.22	-	0.14
Female Sex	2.56	-0.89-6.01	0.16	0.14
Headache/Migraine	14.99	9.02-20.96	0.53	<0.01
Continued Play	4.46	1.07-7.86	0.27	0.01
Time to Presentation	1.23	0.23-2.23	0.25	0.02
Affective	-0.06	-0.47-0.35	-0.03	0.78

Table 18. Multiple Regression Results for Days to Symptom Resolution with Affective Factor as the Independent Variable.

Significant *p*-values are bolded. B = Unstandardized regression coefficient; 95% CI = 95% Confidence interval; SE B = Standard error of the regression coefficient; β = Standardized coefficient *Relationship Between Sensorimotor Skills and Recovery Time*

Separate univariate analyses revealed that female sex, history of headache/migraine, continued play, time to presentation, and total number of symptoms at the acute visit were significantly associated with days to symptom resolution (p < 0.05). Therefore, these 5 variables were included in each multiple regression model as covariates.

The multiple regression results examining the relationship between depth perception and days to symptom resolution, while controlling for female sex, history of headache/migraine, continued play, time to presentation, and total number of symptoms at the acute visit, are presented in **Table 19**. The multiple regression model was statistically significant ($F_{(6, 49)} = 10.2$, p < 0.001, Adj. $R^2 = 0.5$), but depth perception did not significantly add to the model (B = -0.003, p = 0.77).

	В	95% CI for <i>B</i>	β	р
(Constant)	0.63	-5.14-6.39	-	0.83
Female Sex	0.81	-2.76-4.38	0.05	0.65
Headache/Migraine	14.61	8.98-20.24	0.51	<0.01
Continued Play	3.25	-0.21-6.71	0.19	0.07
Time to Presentation	1.39	0.42-2.38	0.29	<0.01
Number of Symptoms	0.31	0.03-0.58	0.24	0.03
Depth Perception	-0.003	-0.021-0.02	-0.03	0.77

Table 19. Multiple Regression Results for Days to Symptom Resolution with Depth Perception as the Independent Variable.

Significant *p*-values are bolded. B = Unstandardized regression coefficient; 95% CI = 95% Confidence interval; SE B = Standard error of the regression coefficient; β = Standardized coefficient

The multiple regression results examining the relationship between multiple-object tracking and days to symptom resolution, while controlling for female sex, history of headache/migraine, continued play, time to presentation, and total number of symptoms at the acute visit, are presented in **Table 20**. The multiple regression model was statistically significant $(F_{(6, 49)} = 10.9, p < 0.001, \text{Adj. } \text{R}^2 = 0.52)$, but multiple-object tracking did not significantly add to the model (B = 0.002, p = 0.18).

	В	95% CI for <i>B</i>	β	р
(Constant)	-3.10	-9.79-3.58	-	0.36
Female Sex	1.41	-2.07-4.89	0.09	0.42
Headache/Migraine	15.12	9.59-20.66	0.53	<0.01
Continued Play	3.57	0.16-6.98	0.22	0.04
Time to Presentation	1.39	0.44-2.36	0.28	<0.01
Number of Symptoms	0.29	0.03-0.56	0.24	0.03
Multiple-Object Tracking	0.002	-0.001-0.005	0.14	0.18

Table 20. Multiple Regression Results for Days to Symptom Resolution with Multiple-Object

 Tracking as the Independent Variable.

Significant *p*-values are bolded. B = Unstandardized regression coefficient; 95% CI = 95% Confidence interval; SE B = Standard error of the regression coefficient; β = Standardized coefficient

The multiple regression results examining the relationship between eye-hand coordination and days to symptom resolution, while controlling for female sex, history of headache/migraine, continued play, time to presentation, and total number of symptoms at the acute visit, are presented in **Table 21**. The multiple regression model was statistically significant $(F_{(6, 49)} = 10.23, p < 0.001, Adj. R^2 = 0.5)$, but eye-hand coordination did not significantly add to the model (*B* = 0.000013, *p* = 0.81).

	В	95% CI for B	β	р
(Constant)	-0.51	-7.82-6.82	-	0.89
Female Sex	0.94	-2.54-4.41	0.06	0.59
Headache/Migraine	14.79	9.14-20.44	0.52	<0.01
Continued Play	3.27	-0.23-6.76	0.19	0.07
Time to Presentation	1.42	0.44-2.39	0.29	<0.01
Number of Symptoms	0.29	-0.003-0.58	0.23	0.05
Eye-Hand Coordination	0.000013	0.000-0.000	0.03	0.81

Table 21. Multiple Regression Results for Days to Symptom Resolution with Eye-Hand

 Coordination as the Independent Variable.

Significant *p*-values are bolded. B = Unstandardized regression coefficient; 95% CI = 95% Confidence interval; SE B = Standard error of the regression coefficient; β = Standardized coefficient

The multiple regression results examining the relationship between go/no-go and days to symptom resolution, while controlling for female sex, history of headache/migraine, continued play, time to presentation, and total number of symptoms at the acute visit, are presented in **Table 22**. The multiple regression model was statistically significant ($F_{(6, 49)} = 11.61$, p < 0.001, Adj. $R^2 = 0.54$), but go/no-go did not significantly add to the model (B = 0.31, p = 0.06).

	В	95% CI for <i>B</i>	β	р
(Constant)	-2.47	-7.83-2.89	-	0.36
Female Sex	1.18	-2.18-4.54	0.07	0.48
Headache/Migraine	13.99	8.55-19.45	0.49	<0.01
Continued Play	2.11	-1.37-5.59	0.13	0.23
Time to Presentation	1.45	0.51-2.39	0.29	<0.01
Number of Symptoms	0.39	0.11-0.68	0.32	<0.01
Go/No-Go	0.31	-0.01-0.62	0.20	0.06

Table 22. Multiple Regression Results for Days to Symptom Resolution with Go/No-Go as the Independent Variable.

Significant *p*-values are bolded. B = Unstandardized regression coefficient; 95% CI = 95% Confidence interval; SE B = Standard error of the regression coefficient; β = Standardized coefficient

The multiple regression results examining the relationship between reaction time and days to symptom resolution, while controlling for female sex, history of headache/migraine, continued play, time to presentation, and total number of symptoms at the acute visit, are presented in **Table 23**. The multiple regression model was statistically significant ($F_{(6, 49)} = 10.46, p < 0.001$, Adj. $R^2 = 0.51$), but reaction time did not significantly add to the model (B = -0.01, p = 0.41).

	В	95% CI for B	β	р
(Constant)	3.46	-5.87-12.79	-	0.46
Female Sex	1.05	-2.42-4.51	0.06	0.55
Headache/Migraine	14.73	9.17-20.29	0.52	<0.01
Continued Play	2.77	-0.78-6.32	0.17	0.12
Time to Presentation	1.45	0.47-2.42	0.29	<0.01
Number of Symptoms	0.35	0.05-0.64	0.28	0.02
Reaction Time	-0.01	-0.04-0.02	-0.09	0.41

Table 23. Multiple Regression Results for Days to Symptom Resolution with Reaction Time as the Independent Variable.

Significant *p*-values are bolded. B = Unstandardized regression coefficient; 95% CI = 95% Confidence interval; SE B = Standard error of the regression coefficient; β = Standardized coefficient

5.5. Discussion

The current study examined the relationship between SCAT5 symptom factors and sensorimotor skills at the acute visit following SRC in collegiate athletes, along with the association between symptom factors and sensorimotor skills with recovery time. Results from our study revealed that the cognitive-ocular, migraine-fatigue, and affective symptom factors were significantly correlated with performance on go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, and reaction time skills, but not with multiple-object tracking or depth perception skills. These findings partially supported our hypotheses, except the lack of association with multiple-object tracking and depth perception. Secondarily, none of the symptom factors at the acute visit were significantly associated with recovery time, which supported our hypothesis.

To our knowledge, this is the first study to examine the relationship between symptom factors and sensorimotor skills acutely following SRC. Sensorimotor function is becoming an important component of the multifaceted approach to SRC management, as emerging research demonstrates deficits in sensorimotor skills acutely,^{267,270-272} and even after athletes return to play.^{23-26,313} This is a concern to clinicians and healthcare professionals because underlying sensorimotor and neuromuscular control deficits have been linked with lower extremity musculoskeletal injury.^{11,12,30,313} Therefore, distinguishing any specific effects of symptom groupings on sensorimotor skills becomes important, as this may better inform treatment plans and help mitigate these future concerns. Our results demonstrated that an increase in cognitiveocular, migraine-fatigue, and affective symptom factors from the SCAT5 were significantly correlated with worse performance on go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, and reaction time skills. Given the frequent and recommended use of the SCAT5 for acute assessment of SRC,⁶ these findings inform clinicians about three sensorimotor skills correlated to SCAT5 symptom factors. This is especially valuable due to the absence of a robust sensorimotor skill assessment tool in the acute phase. With this evolving knowledge of deficits to be expected given an athlete's symptom factors, clinicians can improve the individualized management of SRC. For example, identifying that an athlete has high loading into the cognitive-ocular factor at the acute visit may indicate congruent deficits in reaction time, eye-hand coordination, and go/no-go, and allow for early vestibular or visuomotor rehabilitation.^{333,365}

The relationships identified in this study are supported, in part, by previous evidence. Research has demonstrated that headache symptoms, which load into the migraine-fatigue factor from the SCAT5,³⁶⁰ are significantly related to poor overall neurocognitive performance following SRC.⁵⁰ In particular, headache symptoms were associated with worse attention/processing speed in collegiate student-athletes after SRC. As the go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, and reaction time assessments from our study all involve heavy attention/processing speed elements, this helps to explain the correlation between the migraine-

fatigue factor and worse performance on these tests. Additional research has demonstrated that athletes who report visual symptoms, including fogginess, experience slowed reaction time and processing speed,³⁶⁶ which supports the relationship in our study between the cognitive-ocular factor and performance on the go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, and reaction time assessments. The affective symptom factor is more often linked with endorsement on psychological inventories,³⁶⁷ but post-injury somatization in athletes with loading into this factor may be a reason for the correlation with the sensorimotor assessments.⁵¹

While the strength and significance of relationships differed, our study adds to the literature that symptom factors from the SCAT5 are associated with processing speed-based sensorimotor skills acutely following SRC. This could be due to the salience of symptoms in the SCAT5 factors (e.g., headache, "pressure in head", blurred vision) when athletes are attempting to complete a demanding task, along with acute effects of cognitive dysfunction.^{368,369} The lack of relationship between symptom factors and depth perception and multiple-object tracking scores supports this, as neither of these assessments require athletes to react to information quickly. Nonetheless, the lack of significant correlations was surprising, given that both assessments by nature interact with symptoms that load into the SCAT5 symptom factors. It is possible that they are significantly correlated with symptoms that were excluded due to crossloading,³⁶⁰ such as dizziness. Dizziness has been shown to predict worse performance on neurocognitive testing,¹⁷³ and may have been correlated with multiple-object tracking performance since the task requires athletes to track multiple objects at once as they rotate rapidly. On the other hand, we expected depth perception to be correlated with the cognitiveocular factor at the least, as blurred vision loads onto this factor and is associated with ocular dysfunction following SRC.^{329,330} The absence of significant correlations may also be due to

participants guessing on the multiple-object tracking and depth perception assessments because they are too difficult,³⁴² which results in data that may not reflect true performance.

Our study also provided findings regarding the relationship between SCAT5 symptom factors, sensorimotor skills, and recovery time following SRC in collegiate athletes. To our knowledge, this is the first study to find that none of the symptom factors from the SCAT5 were significantly associated with recovery time in collegiate athletes. Although it is difficult to compare symptom factors from different inventories, our findings were not surprising as previous evidence using PCSS symptom factors also found no significant association between symptom factor scores at the acute visit and recovery time.⁵¹ While the most consistent predictor of prolonged recovery is the severity of acute symptoms,^{15,370} our findings combined with results from Cohen et al. demonstrate that unique symptom factors may not be as effective in differentiating prolonged recovery time acutely.⁵¹ This may be due to the exclusion of symptoms in the SCAT5 symptom factors, such as dizziness, nausea, and fatigue, that are common following SRC and have been associated with longer recovery times.^{173,360,371} Without the added severity of these symptoms and the overall symptom severity score, other risk factors, such as female sex, history of headaches/migraine, continued play, and time to presentation, which were included in our multiple regression models, contribute more to the association with prolonged recovery. Although symptom factors are useful, this suggests that additional information, including vestibular/ocular, neurocognitive, and sensorimotor impairments, are crucial at the acute visit to accurately determine injury prognosis.

Similar to symptom factors at the acute visit, performance on sensorimotor assessments was also not significantly associated with recovery time following SRC in collegiate athletes. This could be a result of the computerized sensory station used to complete the sensorimotor
assessments, which has primarily been used for training purposes rather than diagnosis of SRC.^{333,335} More sensitive and specific SRC assessments used at the acute visit, such as the Vestibular/Ocular Motor Screening tool and Immediate Post-Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Test, have been shown to predict recovery.³⁷² Alternatively, it could be because sensorimotor impairments do not manifest as clearly until the subacute phase of the SRC recovery timeline.³⁷³ Several research studies have identified sensorimotor impairments beyond expected recovery timelines for adults following SRC, regardless of symptoms.^{26,30,374} Therefore, while sensorimotor assessments from the acute visit may not predict recovery time, clinicians should consider patterns of performance on these tests, especially with the correlation to symptom factors and the ability to fluctuate over time.

This study is not without limitations. First, our sample only included collegiate athletes in the Mid-Michigan area, which may restrict generalizability. Therefore, further research should be conducted in youth and older athletes to elucidate any differences in findings and help with generalizability. Similarly, our sample was predominantly white and non-Hispanic. Additional data should be collected on participants of other races and ethnicities, as research has identified different recovery times between white and black athletes following SRC.³⁵⁸ Second, as with all subjective self-report forms, participants may not have been completely honest or understood how to properly report SCAT5 symptoms. This may have impacted loading into symptom factors, which could alter our results. However, trained research coordinators worked with the athletes to improve understanding and answer any questions related to wording of the symptoms. Next, while the sensorimotor assessments used in this are reliable,³⁴⁶ participants at baseline have reported issues with task competency,³⁴² which could have been true in our sample and affected the results. Future research should examine the relationship between SCAT5 symptom

factors with other sensorimotor assessments to determine if similar correlations exist, and to determine if sensorimotor skills from other assessments predict recovery following SRC.

5.6. Conclusion

Among collegiate athletes following SRC, the cognitive-ocular, migraine-fatigue, and affective symptom factors from the SCAT5 were significantly correlated with performance on speed-based sensorimotor assessments, including go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, and reaction time, at the acute visit. However, none of the symptom factors from the SCAT5 or sensorimotor assessments were significantly associated with recovery time in collegiate athletes following SRC. These findings further expand our knowledge of how specific symptom factors are related to recovery and other SRC assessments, and in an area gaining importance in the literature. Overall, this improved understanding can inform more individualized treatment plans following SRC that target expected sensorimotor deficits and minimize future burden of collegiate athletes.

CHAPTER 6: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

6.1. Summary

The purpose of this dissertation was to determine the influence of SRC on sensorimotor skills in collegiate athletes. Specifically, this dissertation 1) determined the test-retest reliability of 10 sensorimotor skills assessed by a novel computerized sensory station, 2) examined sensorimotor skill performance throughout recovery and after RTP following SRC in collegiate athletes compared to healthy matched controls, and 3) examined the relationship between symptom factors and sensorimotor skills in collegiate athletes following SRC at the acute visit, along with their association with recovery time. For the first specific aim, participants completed 10 sensorimotor skills (visual clarity, contrast sensitivity, depth perception, near-far quickness, perception span, multiple-object tracking, reaction time, target capture, eye-hand coordination, and go/no-go) on a computerized sensory station at two visits one week apart (± 1 day). For the second specific aim, a prospective cohort study was conducted to compare sensorimotor skills between collegiate athletes following SRC and healthy matched controls at an acute visit (within 5 days of SRC), at medical clearance (+3 days), and at least one-month post-RTP. For the third specific aim, a prospective study of collegiate athletes following SRC was conducted to investigate the relationship between symptom factors from the SCAT5 and sensorimotor skills at an acute visit (within 5 days of SRC), along with their relationship with recovery time captured at a medical clearance visit (+3 days).

6.1.1. The Reliability of a Computerized Sensory Station for the Comprehensive Assessment of Sensorimotor Skills in College-Aged Individuals

Sensorimotor skills, which involve the brain receiving and processing sensory input from the environment and producing an appropriate motor output, play a pivotal role in sport.^{13,14} To

provide a complete picture of sensorimotor function, clinicians and researchers have begun to use commercial technology-aided assessments, such as computerized sensory stations, that can augment sporting contexts and test a multitude of skills at one time.^{334,335} However, there is limited research examining the reliability of computerized sensory stations that measure a comprehensive battery of sensorimotor skills in college-aged individuals. This first study, using a sample of 100 participants (80 female, age= 21.6 ± 2.8 years), found that go/no-go, multipleobject tracking, eye-hand coordination, depth perception, and reaction time sensorimotor assessments demonstrated good reliability (ICCs = 0.81-0.88), target capture and perception span demonstrated moderate reliability (ICCs = 0.51-0.63), and visual clarity, contrast sensitivity, and near-far quickness demonstrated poor reliability (ICCs = 0.28-0.43). Overall, results of this study of the dissertation implied that only some of the sensorimotor assessments of the computerized sensory station demonstrated clinically acceptable reliability for evaluation of performance improvements and injuries, such as SRC, in a clinical setting.

6.1.2. Sensorimotor Skills Throughout Recovery Following Sport-Related Concussion in Collegiate Athletes

Emerging evidence suggests that underlying deficits to sensorimotor skills, including reaction time and go/no-go, may be present following clinical recovery from SRC.^{23-26,49,313} These underlying impairments are hypothesized to contribute to heightened risk of subsequent injury,^{11,12,30,313} which becomes a major concern for athletes upon RTP and for clinicians making RTP decisions. However, there is currently a lack of evidence identifying deficits in sensorimotor skills across the recovery timeline in collegiate athletes following SRC. In the second study of this dissertation, collegiate athletes following SRC were compared on a battery of sensorimotor skill assessments to healthy matched controls acutely (within 5 days of injury),

at the time of medical clearance (+3 days), and at least one month following their RTP. Using a sample of 25 participants following SRC (mean age = 21.4 ± 2.9 ; 56% female) and 15 controls (mean age = 21.1 ± 2.5 ; 40% female), results of this study identified a significant group x time interaction for reaction time (F_(1.3, 48.8) = 6.85, *p* = 0.007, η_p^2 = 0.15). Reaction time was statistically significantly slower in the SRC group (54.13 ± 21.72 msec, *p* = 0.017) compared to the control group at the acute visit, and improved between acute and medical clearance time points (M = 45.7, SE = 14.71 msec, *p* = 0.01) and the acute and one-month post-RTP time points (M = 58.9, SE = 14.8 msec, *p* = 0.002). These findings support extant evidence regarding the presence of persistent reaction time deficits in athletes after SRC, even beyond clinical recovery,⁴⁹ and reflect the need for routine incorporation of reaction time assessment in the multifaceted SRC approach. If clinicians can identify reaction time deficits early, they can develop individualized treatment plans, make informed RTP decisions, and hopefully mitigate the risk of subsequent injury.

6.1.3. The Association Between Symptom Clusters and Sensorimotor Skills Following Sport-Related Concussion

Clinicians and researchers have aggregated SRC symptoms into meaningful groups, called factors, to better inform management of athletes with SRC.^{55,360} Determining the association between symptom factors and other SRC assessments further helps individualize management plans; however, the association between symptom factors and performance on an array of sensorimotor skills is unknown. Additionally, it is unclear how symptom factors and sensorimotor skills may be related to recovery time following SRC in collegiate athletes. In the third study of this dissertation with a sample of 64 participants (mean age: 20.7 ± 2.5 , 34 female, 30 male) following SRC, statistically significant correlations were identified between cognitive-

ocular, migraine-fatigue, and affective symptom factors from the SCAT5 with go/no-go, eyehand coordination, and reaction time assessments (p < 0.05). However, neither symptom factors nor sensorimotor assessments were significantly associated with recovery time. These findings further expand our knowledge of how specific symptom factors are related to recovery and other SRC assessments, and help inform SRC management and clinical decision-making.

6.2. Limitations

The first study of this dissertation is limited primarily by characteristics of the sample collected. First, 80% of the sample was female, which limits the generalizability of the reliability results to other sexes. Second, this study only included college-aged individuals, which limits the generalizability as well to populations of different ages. Third, 40% of the sample had a history of SRC, which may have influenced reliability results,¹⁸⁶ despite the injuries being > 6 months from the time of testing. The history of other injury types, such as shoulder injuries, was not collected and could have altered results as well if participants experienced fatigue from the usage of their upper extremities. However, all participants did report they were healthy and injury-free at the time of testing. Other possible limitations could have arisen from conditions of the testing environment. Screen glare from lights in the room reflecting off the device could have affected the results on the sensorimotor assessments, although this is unlikely as steps were taken to minimize such disturbances.

The second study of this dissertation was also limited by characteristics of the sample collected. First, the sample size in both groups did not meet the estimation for the dissertation, and the sample size in the control group was 10 participants less than the SRC group. Even groups that meet the sample size estimation for adequate power may reflect different findings. Second, the SRC and control sample only included collegiate athletes in the Mid-Michigan area,

which may restrict generalizability of the findings to athletes of different ages and different states. Similarly, both groups were predominantly white and non-Hispanic. Additional data should be collected on participants of other ages, races, and ethnicities, as research has identified different recovery times between white and black athletes following SRC and younger athletes.^{40,358} Outside of the study population, the main limitations arose from the computerized sensory station administering the sensorimotor assessments. Only 5 of the 10 sensorimotor assessments administered by the computerized sensory station were used in analyses to account for reliability concerns, which limits the applicability of the device as a "comprehensive" tool. While the 5 sensorimotor assessments that were not used (target capture, perception span, visual clarity, contrast sensitivity, near-far quickness) may still be useful, further reliability and validity studies need to be performed. Additionally, evidence at concussion baseline testing has demonstrated the occurrence of invalid scores on the computerized sensory station due to lack of understanding, effort, and motivation.³⁴² While this study only used reliable assessments and participants did not express a lack of any of those factors, this could have affected the results, especially in the control group.

The third study of this dissertation shared the limitations that arose in study two related to population demographics and the computerized sensory station. Additionally, this study used the symptom inventory from the SCAT5, which is a subjective, self-report form.¹⁶⁶ As is true with all subjective self-report forms, participants may not have been completely honest or understood how to properly report their symptoms, which may have impacted loading into symptom factors, which could alter the results. However, trained research coordinators worked with the athletes to improve understanding and provide any clarification needed. Altogether, future research should

confirm these findings by examining the relationship between SCAT5 symptom factors with other sensorimotor assessments, along with their relationship with recovery time following SRC.

6.3. Strengths

The first study of this dissertation was the first in the current body of evidence to determine the test-retest reliability of this computerized sensory station (Senaptec Sensory Station, Senaptec Inc., Beaverton, OR) in college-aged individuals. This provides clinicians and researchers with an understanding of which sensorimotor assessments demonstrated clinically acceptable reliability and can be used with confidence in a clinical setting. The MDC95 values that were calculated further benefit the scientific community, by providing benchmarks for clinically meaningful changes in scores on each of the sensorimotor assessments. This allows clinicians to use this device to determine objective performance improvements as an outcome of training, or as an outcome of treatment/rehabilitation effectiveness and recovery from injury. These findings also provide data related to what mean scores may look like initially in a large sample of 100 college-aged individuals. While the test-retest reliability and reliable change indices of previous computerized sensory stations have been determined,^{47,337} the reliability of this novel device has not been studied.

The second study of this dissertation was the first in the literature to examine a comprehensive battery of sensorimotor skills throughout recovery from SRC in collegiate athletes compared to healthy matched controls. While studies have examined SRC assessment of skills individually, such as multiple-object tracking,³⁵⁵ there is a paucity of evidence examining numerous skills at once. This study offers evidence of a comprehensive assessment of sensorimotor function across three time points, which may provide a more complete picture of deficits for clinicians and is more efficient in a clinical setting. The results demonstrating

significantly worse reaction time acutely and beyond medical clearance in collegiate athletes following SRC adds to the nascent literature of deficits beyond clinical recovery from SRC.^{48,49} This allows clinicians to be aware of possible reaction time deficits in collegiate athletes following SRC and will help them tailor their management plan accordingly. Even the lack of significant findings for go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, multiple-object tracking, and depth perception provide an understanding of what deficits clinicians may not need to be concerned with beyond clinical recovery, which was lacking in the literature. From a study design perspective, the prospective nature with rigorous matching criteria helps to reduce bias and reflects a higher level of evidence.

The third study of this dissertation was the first study to examine the relationship between symptom factors and sensorimotor skills acutely following SRC. While other studies have examined symptom factors with performance on neurocognitive and vestibular/ocular assessments of SRC,^{51,372} results from this study speak to how symptom groupings and sensorimotor assessments are related during the acute phase of SRC. This informs clinicians about three sensorimotor skills that may need to be evaluated based on SCAT5 symptom factors, which is especially valuable due to the absence of a robust sensorimotor skill assessment tool in the acute phase. This study also fills a gap in the literature related to the association of SCAT5 symptom factors and sensorimotor performance acutely with recovery time following SRC. Most of the evidence of symptom factors has used the PCSS,^{51,55,372} so this is the first study to find that none of the symptom factors from the SCAT5 were significantly associated with recovery time. This improved understanding can inform more individualized treatment plans following SRC.

6.4. Conclusions

Overall, based on the results of the three studies in this dissertation, sensorimotor skills are influenced by sport-related concussion in a population of collegiate athletes. The first study found that go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, multiple-object tracking, depth perception, and reaction time skills from a computerized sensory station are reliable and can be used to evaluate sensorimotor skill deficits throughout recovery from SRC. Using those reliable sensorimotor skill assessments, study two found that reaction time is significantly worse in collegiate athletes following SRC compared to a group of healthy matched controls acutely and even beyond the time of clinical recovery. Lastly, study three found that cognitive-ocular, migraine-fatigue, and affective symptom factors were significantly correlated with go/no-go, eye-hand coordination, and reaction time sensorimotor skill assessments at the acute visit in collegiate athletes following SRC. As a whole, this dissertation provides novel comprehensive data regarding sensorimotor skills following SRC that clinicians, researchers, and the medical community can use to develop targeted and individualized treatment plans, make informed RTP decisions, and mitigate the risk of subsequent injury to collegiate athletes.

REFERENCES

- 1. Halstead ME, Walter KD, Moffatt K. Sport-Related Concussion in Children and Adolescents. *Pediatrics*. 2018;142(6).
- 2. Gessel LM, Fields SK, Collins CL, Dick RW, Comstock RD. Concussions among United States high school and collegiate athletes. *J Athl Train*. 2007;42(4):495-503.
- Bryan MA, Rowhani-Rahbar A, Comstock RD, Rivara F, Seattle Sports Concussion Research C. Sports- and Recreation-Related Concussions in US Youth. *Pediatrics*. 2016;138(1).
- VanItallie TB. Traumatic brain injury (TBI) in collision sports: Possible mechanisms of transformation into chronic traumatic encephalopathy (CTE). *Metabolism*. 2019;100S:153943.
- 5. Malcolm D. *The concussion crisis in sport*. Routledge; 2019.
- 6. McCrory P, Meeuwisse W, Dvorak J, et al. Consensus statement on concussion in sportthe 5(th) international conference on concussion in sport held in Berlin, October 2016. *Br J Sports Med.* 2017;51(11):838-847.
- 7. Harmon KG, Clugston JR, Dec K, et al. American Medical Society for Sports Medicine position statement on concussion in sport. *Br J Sports Med.* 2019;53(4):213-225.
- 8. Makdissi M, Cantu RC, Johnston KM, McCrory P, Meeuwisse WH. The difficult concussion patient: what is the best approach to investigation and management of persistent (>10 days) postconcussive symptoms? *Br J Sports Med.* 2013;47(5):308-313.
- 9. Broglio SP, Cantu RC, Gioia GA, et al. National Athletic Trainers' Association Position Statement: Management of Sport Concussion. *J Athl Train*. 2014;49(2):245-265.
- 10. Guskiewicz KM, Register-Mihalik JK. Postconcussive impairment differences across a multifaceted concussion assessment protocol. *PM R*. 2011;3(10 Suppl 2):S445-451.
- 11. McPherson AL, Nagai T, Webster KE, Hewett TE. Musculoskeletal Injury Risk After Sport-Related Concussion: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Am J Sports Med.* 2019;47(7):1754-1762.
- McCrea M, Guskiewicz K, Randolph C, et al. Effects of a symptom-free waiting period on clinical outcome and risk of reinjury after sport-related concussion. *Neurosurgery*. 2009;65(5):876-882; discussion 882-873.
- 13. Burris K, Vittetoe K, Ramger B, et al. Sensorimotor abilities predict on-field performance in professional baseball. *Sci Rep.* 2018;8(1):116.

- 14. Kung SM, Suksreephaisan TK, Perry BG, Palmer BR, Page RA. The Effects of Anticipation and Visual and Sensory Performance on Concussion Risk in Sport: A Review. *Sports Med Open.* 2020;6(1):54.
- 15. Iverson GL, Gardner AJ, Terry DP, et al. Predictors of clinical recovery from concussion: a systematic review. *Br J Sports Med.* 2017;51(12):941-948.
- 16. Elbin RJ, Sufrinko A, Anderson MN, et al. Prospective Changes in Vestibular and Ocular Motor Impairment After Concussion. *J Neurol Phys Ther.* 2018;42(3):142-148.
- 17. Guskiewicz KM. Balance assessment in the management of sport-related concussion. *Clin Sports Med.* 2011;30(1):89-102, ix.
- Master CL, Master SR, Wiebe DJ, et al. Vision and Vestibular System Dysfunction Predicts Prolonged Concussion Recovery in Children. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2018;28(2):139-145.
- McInnes K, Friesen CL, MacKenzie DE, Westwood DA, Boe SG. Mild Traumatic Brain Injury (mTBI) and chronic cognitive impairment: A scoping review. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(4):e0174847.
- 20. Schneider KJ, Emery CA, Black A, et al. Adapting the Dynamic, Recursive Model of Sport Injury to Concussion: An Individualized Approach to Concussion Prevention, Detection, Assessment, and Treatment. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* 2019;49(11):799-810.
- 21. Benson BW, Meeuwisse WH, Rizos J, Kang J, Burke CJ. A prospective study of concussions among National Hockey League players during regular season games: the NHL-NHLPA Concussion Program. *Cmaj.* 2011;183(8):905-911.
- 22. Alsalaheen BA, Mucha A, Morris LO, et al. Vestibular rehabilitation for dizziness and balance disorders after concussion. *J Neurol Phys Ther.* 2010;34(2):87-93.
- 23. Servatius RJ, Spiegler KM, Handy JD, Pang KCH, Tsao JW, Mazzola CA. Neurocognitive and Fine Motor Deficits in Asymptomatic Adolescents during the Subacute Period after Concussion. *J Neurotrauma*. 2018;35(8):1008-1014.
- 24. Howell D, Osternig L, Van Donkelaar P, Mayr U, Chou LS. Effects of concussion on attention and executive function in adolescents. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2013;45(6):1030-1037.
- 25. Howell DR, Osternig LR, Chou LS. Return to activity after concussion affects dual-task gait balance control recovery. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2015;47(4):673-680.
- 26. Galea O, O'Leary S, Williams K, Treleaven J. Investigation of Sensorimotor Impairments in Individuals 4 Weeks to 6 Months After Mild Traumatic Brain Injury. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2021.

- 27. Ntikas M, Hunter AM, Gallagher IJ, Di Virgilio TG. Longer Neurophysiological vs. Clinical Recovery Following Sport Concussion. *Front Sports Act Living*. 2021;3:737712-737712.
- 28. Eagle SR, Kontos AP, Pepping G-J, et al. Increased Risk of Musculoskeletal Injury Following Sport-Related Concussion: A Perception–Action Coupling Approach. *Sports Med.* 2020;50(1):15-23.
- 29. Watson G, Brault S, Kulpa R, Bideau B, Butterfield J, Craig C. Judging the 'passability' of dynamic gaps in a virtual rugby environment. *Hum Mov Sci.* 2011;30(5):942-956.
- 30. De Beaumont L, Mongeon D, Tremblay S, et al. Persistent motor system abnormalities in formerly concussed athletes. *J Athl Train.* 2011;46(3):234-240.
- 31. Tjarks BJ, Dorman JC, Valentine VD, et al. Comparison and utility of King-Devick and ImPACT® composite scores in adolescent concussion patients. *J Neurol Sci.* 2013;334(1-2):148-153.
- 32. Büttner F, Howell D, Severini G, et al. Using functional movement tests to investigate the presence of sensorimotor impairment in amateur athletes following sport-related concussion: A prospective, longitudinal study. *Phys Ther Sport*. 2021;47:105-113.
- 33. Eckner JT, Kutcher JS, Broglio SP, Richardson JK. Effect of sport-related concussion on clinically measured simple reaction time. *Br J Sports Med.* 2014;48(2):112-118.
- 34. Eckner JT, Kutcher JS, Richardson JK. Effect of concussion on clinically measured reaction time in 9 NCAA division I collegiate athletes: a preliminary study. *PM R*. 2011;3(3):212-218.
- 35. Farnsworth JL, 2nd, Dargo L, Ragan BG, Kang M. Reliability of Computerized Neurocognitive Tests for Concussion Assessment: A Meta-Analysis. *J Athl Train.* 2017;52(9):826-833.
- 36. Lempke LB, Oldham JR, Passalugo S, et al. Influential Factors and Preliminary Reference Data for a Clinically Feasible, Functional Reaction Time Assessment: The Standardized Assessment of Reaction Time (StART). *J Athl Train*. 2022.
- 37. Hides JA, Franettovich Smith MM, Mendis MD, et al. A prospective investigation of changes in the sensorimotor system following sports concussion. An exploratory study. *Musculoskelet Sci Pract.* 2017;29:7-19.
- 38. Catena RD, van Donkelaar P, Chou L-S. Different gait tasks distinguish immediate vs. long-term effects of concussion on balance control. *J Neuroeng Rehabil.* 2009;6:25-25.
- 39. Gottshall K, Drake A, Gray N, McDonald E, Hoffer ME. Objective vestibular tests as outcome measures in head injury patients. *Laryngoscope*. 2003;113(10):1746-1750.

- 40. Pierpoint LA, Collins C. Epidemiology of Sport-Related Concussion. *Clin Sports Med.* 2021;40(1):1-18.
- 41. Quatman-Yates CC, Quatman CE, Meszaros AJ, Paterno MV, Hewett TE. A systematic review of sensorimotor function during adolescence: a developmental stage of increased motor awkwardness? *Br J Sports Med.* 2012;46(9):649-655.
- 42. Scopaz KA, Hatzenbuehler JR. Risk modifiers for concussion and prolonged recovery. *Sports Health.* 2013;5(6):537-541.
- 43. Senaptec Sensory Technology. https://www.senaptec.com/. Accessed May 1, 2020.
- 44. Schmidt JD, Guskiewicz KM, Mihalik JP, Blackburn JT, Siegmund GP, Marshall SW. Does Visual Performance Influence Head Impact Severity Among High School Football Athletes? *Clin J Sport Med.* 2015;25(6):494-501.
- 45. Harpham JA, Mihalik JP, Littleton AC, Frank BS, Guskiewicz KM. The effect of visual and sensory performance on head impact biomechanics in college football players. *Ann Biomed Eng.* 2014;42(1):1-10.
- 46. DeCicco JP, Roby PR, DeLellis SM, et al. The relationship between neurovascular coupling, vision and sensory performance, and concussion history in Special Operations Forces combat soldiers. *Clin Neuropsychol.* 2020:1-11.
- 47. Erickson GB, Citek K, Cove M, et al. Reliability of a computer-based system for measuring visual performance skills. *Optometry*. 2011;82(9):528-542.
- 48. Lempke LB, Howell DR, Eckner JT, Lynall RC. Examination of reaction time deficits following concussion: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Med.* 2020;50(7):1341-1359.
- 49. McGowan AL, Bretzin AC, Savage JL, Petit KM, Covassin T, Pontifex MB. Acute and protracted disruptions to inhibitory control following sports-related concussion. *Neuropsychologia*. 2019;131:223-232.
- 50. Guty E, Arnett P. Post-concussion Symptom Factors and Neuropsychological Outcomes in Collegiate Athletes. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc.* 2018;24(7):684-692.
- 51. Cohen PE, Sufrinko A, Elbin RJ, Collins MW, Sinnott AM, Kontos AP. Do Initial Symptom Factor Scores Predict Subsequent Impairment Following Concussion? *Clin J Sport Med.* 2020;30 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):S61-s68.
- 52. Koo TK, Li MY. A Guideline of Selecting and Reporting Intraclass Correlation Coefficients for Reliability Research. *J Chiropr Med.* 2016;15(2):155-163.

- 53. Frost MH, Reeve BB, Liepa AM, Stauffer JW, Hays RD. What is sufficient evidence for the reliability and validity of patient-reported outcome measures? *Value Health.* 2007;10 Suppl 2:S94-s105.
- 54. Davenport EM, Urban JE, Mokhtari F, et al. Subconcussive impacts and imaging findings over a season of contact sports. *Concussion*. 2016;1(4):Cnc19.
- 55. Kontos AP, Elbin RJ, Schatz P, et al. A revised factor structure for the post-concussion symptom scale: baseline and postconcussion factors. *Am J Sports Med.* 2012;40(10):2375-2384.
- 56. Cantu RC. History of Concussion Including Contributions of 1940s Boston City Hospital Researchers. *Semin Pediatr Neurol.* 2019;30:2-8.
- 57. Committee MRCBI. A glossary of psychological terms commonly used in cases of head injury. *City: HSMO.* 1941.
- 58. Practice parameter: the management of concussion in sports (summary statement). Report of the Quality Standards Subcommittee. *Neurology*. 1997;48(3):581-585.
- 59. Cantu RC. Guidelines for return to contact sports after a cerebral concussion. *Phys Sportsmed.* 1986;14(10):75-83.
- 60. Aubry M, Cantu R, Dvorak J, et al. Summary and agreement statement of the first international conference on concussion in sport, vienna 2001. *Phys Sportsmed*. 2002;30(2):57-63.
- 61. Giza CC, Kutcher JS, Ashwal S, et al. Summary of evidence-based guideline update: evaluation and management of concussion in sports: report of the Guideline Development Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology*. 2013;80(24):2250-2257.
- 62. Giza CC, Hovda DA. The Neurometabolic Cascade of Concussion. *J Athl Train*. 2001;36(3):228-235.
- 63. Romeu-Mejia R, Giza CC, Goldman JT. Concussion Pathophysiology and Injury Biomechanics. *Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med.* 2019;12(2):105-116.
- 64. Giza CC, Hovda DA. The new neurometabolic cascade of concussion. *Neurosurgery*. 2014;75 Suppl 4(0 4):S24-S33.
- 65. Yi JH, Hazell AS. Excitotoxic mechanisms and the role of astrocytic glutamate transporters in traumatic brain injury. *Neurochem Int.* 2006;48(5):394-403.
- 66. Barkhoudarian G, Hovda DA, Giza CC. The molecular pathophysiology of concussive brain injury. *Clin Sports Med.* 2011;30(1):33-48, vii-iii.

- 67. Yoshino A, Hovda DA, Kawamata T, Katayama Y, Becker DP. Dynamic changes in local cerebral glucose utilization following cerebral conclusion in rats: evidence of a hyper- and subsequent hypometabolic state. *Brain Res.* 1991;561(1):106-119.
- 68. Pettus EH, Povlishock JT. Characterization of a distinct set of intra-axonal ultrastructural changes associated with traumatically induced alteration in axolemmal permeability. *Brain Res.* 1996;722(1-2):1-11.
- 69. Cantu D, Walker K, Andresen L, et al. Traumatic Brain Injury Increases Cortical Glutamate Network Activity by Compromising GABAergic Control. *Cereb Cortex*. 2015;25(8):2306-2320.
- 70. Israelsson C, Bengtsson H, Kylberg A, et al. Distinct cellular patterns of upregulated chemokine expression supporting a prominent inflammatory role in traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma*. 2008;25(8):959-974.
- 71. Rathbone AT, Tharmaradinam S, Jiang S, Rathbone MP, Kumbhare DA. A review of the neuro- and systemic inflammatory responses in post concussion symptoms: Introduction of the "post-inflammatory brain syndrome" PIBS. *Brain Behav Immun.* 2015;46:1-16.
- 72. Loane DJ, Byrnes KR. Role of microglia in neurotrauma. *Neurotherapeutics*. 2010;7(4):366-377.
- 73. Blaylock RL, Maroon J. Immunoexcitotoxicity as a central mechanism in chronic traumatic encephalopathy-A unifying hypothesis. *Surg Neurol Int.* 2011;2:107.
- 74. Su SH, Xu W, Li M, et al. Elevated C-reactive protein levels may be a predictor of persistent unfavourable symptoms in patients with mild traumatic brain injury: a preliminary study. *Brain Behav Immun.* 2014;38:111-117.
- 75. Prins ML, Hales A, Reger M, Giza CC, Hovda DA. Repeat traumatic brain injury in the juvenile rat is associated with increased axonal injury and cognitive impairments. *Dev Neurosci.* 2010;32(5-6):510-518.
- 76. Smith DH, Chen XH, Pierce JE, et al. Progressive atrophy and neuron death for one year following brain trauma in the rat. *J Neurotrauma*. 1997;14(10):715-727.
- 77. Zhou Y, Kierans A, Kenul D, et al. Mild traumatic brain injury: longitudinal regional brain volume changes. *Radiology*. 2013;267(3):880-890.
- 78. Rowson S, Bland ML, Campolettano ET, et al. Biomechanical Perspectives on Concussion in Sport. *Sports Med Arthrosc Rev.* 2016;24(3):100-107.
- 79. Payne WN, De Jesus O, Payne AN. Contrecoup Brain Injury. In: *StatPearls*. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing. Copyright © 2022, StatPearls Publishing LLC.; 2022.

- 80. Hardy WN, Mason MJ, Foster CD, et al. A study of the response of the human cadaver head to impact. *Stapp Car Crash J.* 2007;51:17-80.
- 81. Ommaya AK, Gennarelli TA. Cerebral concussion and traumatic unconsciousness. Correlation of experimental and clinical observations of blunt head injuries. *Brain*. 1974;97(4):633-654.
- 82. Gennarelli TA, Thibault L, Ommaya A. Pathophysiologic responses to rotational and translational accelerations of the head. Paper presented at: Proceedings: Stapp Car Crash Conference1972.
- 83. Pellman EJ, Viano DC, Tucker AM, Casson IR, Waeckerle JF. Concussion in professional football: reconstruction of game impacts and injuries. *Neurosurgery*. 2003;53(4):799-812; discussion 812-794.
- 84. Rowson S, Duma SM. Development of the STAR evaluation system for football helmets: integrating player head impact exposure and risk of concussion. *Ann Biomed Eng.* 2011;39(8):2130-2140.
- 85. Rowson S, Duma SM, Beckwith JG, et al. Rotational head kinematics in football impacts: an injury risk function for concussion. *Ann Biomed Eng.* 2012;40(1):1-13.
- Brennan JH, Mitra B, Synnot A, et al. Accelerometers for the Assessment of Concussion in Male Athletes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Sports Med.* 2017;47(3):469-478.
- 87. Beckwith JG, Greenwald RM, Chu JJ, et al. Head Impact Exposure Sustained by Football Players on Days of Diagnosed Concussion. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2013;45(4):737-746.
- Wilcox BJ, Beckwith JG, Greenwald RM, et al. Biomechanics of head impacts associated with diagnosed concussion in female collegiate ice hockey players. *J Biomech*. 2015;48(10):2201-2204.
- 89. Withnall C, Shewchenko N, Gittens R, Dvorak J. Biomechanical investigation of head impacts in football. *Br J Sports Med.* 2005;39 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):i49-57.
- 90. Beyer JA, Rowson S, Duma SM. Concussions experienced by Major League Baseball catchers and umpires: field data and experimental baseball impacts. *Ann Biomed Eng.* 2012;40(1):150-159.
- 91. Broglio SP, Schnebel B, Sosnoff JJ, et al. Biomechanical properties of concussions in high school football. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2010;42(11):2064-2071.
- 92. Liao S, Lynall RC, Mihalik JP. The Effect of Head Impact Location on Day of Diagnosed Concussion in College Football. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2016;48(7):1239-1243.

- 93. Ferdinand Pennock K, McKenzie B, McClemont Steacy L, Mainwaring L. Underreporting of sport-related concussions by adolescent athletes: a systematic review. *Int Rev Sport Exerc Psychol.* 2020:1-27.
- 94. McDonald T, Burghart MA, Nazir N. Underreporting of Concussions and Concussion-Like Symptoms in Female High School Athletes. *J Trauma Nurs*. 2016;23(5):241-246.
- 95. Wallace J, Bretzin A, Beidler E, et al. The Underreporting of Concussion: Differences Between Black and White High School Athletes Likely Stemming from Inequities. *J Racial Ethn Health Disparities*. 2020.
- 96. Olson A, Ellis MJ, Selci E, Russell K. Delayed Symptom Onset Following Pediatric Sport-Related Concussion. *Front Neurol.* 2020;11:220.
- 97. Wasserman EB, Herzog MM, Collins CL, Morris SN, Marshall SW. Fundamentals of sports analytics. *Clin Sports Med.* 2018;37(3):387-400.
- 98. Langlois JA, Rutland-Brown W, Wald MM. The epidemiology and impact of traumatic brain injury: a brief overview. *J Head Trauma Rehabil*. 2006;21(5):375-378.
- 99. Coronado VG, Haileyesus T, Cheng TA, et al. Trends in Sports- and Recreation-Related Traumatic Brain Injuries Treated in US Emergency Departments: The National Electronic Injury Surveillance System-All Injury Program (NEISS-AIP) 2001-2012. J Head Trauma Rehabil. 2015;30(3):185-197.
- 100. Hootman JM, Dick R, Agel J. Epidemiology of collegiate injuries for 15 sports: summary and recommendations for injury prevention initiatives. *J Athl Train*. 2007;42(2):311-319.
- 101. Bompadre V, Jinguji TM, Yanez ND, et al. Washington State's Lystedt law in concussion documentation in Seattle public high schools. *J Athl Train.* 2014;49(4):486-492.
- 102. Yang J, Comstock RD, Yi H, Harvey HH, Xun P. New and Recurrent Concussions in High-School Athletes Before and After Traumatic Brain Injury Laws, 2005-2016. *Am J Public Health*. 2017;107(12):1916-1922.
- 103. Daneshvar DH, Nowinski CJ, McKee AC, Cantu RC. The epidemiology of sport-related concussion. *Clin Sports Med.* 2011;30(1):1-vii.
- 104. Zuckerman SL, Kerr ZY, Yengo-Kahn A, Wasserman E, Covassin T, Solomon GS. Epidemiology of Sports-Related Concussion in NCAA Athletes From 2009-2010 to 2013-2014: Incidence, Recurrence, and Mechanisms. *Am J Sports Med.* 2015;43(11):2654-2662.
- 105. Chandran A, Boltz AJ, Morris SN, et al. Epidemiology of Concussions in National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) Sports: 2014/15-2018/19. Am J Sports Med. 2021;50(2):526-536.

- 106. Chandran A, Barron MJ, Westerman BJ, DiPietro L. Multifactorial examination of sexdifferences in head injuries and concussions among collegiate soccer players: NCAA ISS, 2004-2009. *Inj Epidemiol.* 2017;4(1):28.
- 107. Covassin T, Moran R, Elbin RJ. Sex Differences in Reported Concussion Injury Rates and Time Loss From Participation: An Update of the National Collegiate Athletic Association Injury Surveillance Program From 2004-2005 Through 2008-2009. J Athl Train. 2016;51(3):189-194.
- 108. Cheng J, Ammerman B, Santiago K, et al. Sex-Based Differences in the Incidence of Sports-Related Concussion: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Sports Health*. 2019;11(6):486-491.
- 109. Kroshus E, Baugh CM, Stein CJ, Austin SB, Calzo JP. Concussion reporting, sex, and conformity to traditional gender norms in young adults. *J Adolesc*. 2017;54:110-119.
- 110. Weber ML, Suggs DW, Bierema L, Miller LS, Reifsteck F, Schmidt JD. Collegiate student-athlete sex, years of sport eligibility completed, and sport contact level influence on concussion reporting intentions and behaviours. *Brain Inj.* 2019;33(5):592-597.
- 111. Nevins D, Smith L, Kensrud J. Available response time for female pitchers in youth through collegiate fastpitch softball. *Sports Biomech*. 2022;21(2):212-225.
- 112. Gallo CA, Desrochers GN, Morris GJ, et al. Sex Differences in Neck Strength Force and Activation Patterns in Collegiate Contact Sport. *J Sports Sci Med.* 2022;21(1):68-73.
- Bretzin AC, Covassin T, Fox ME, et al. Sex Differences in the Clinical Incidence of Concussions, Missed School Days, and Time Loss in High School Student-Athletes: Part 1. *Am J Sports Med.* 2018;46(9):2263-2269.
- Wallace J, Covassin T, Beidler E. Sex Differences in High School Athletes' Knowledge of Sport-Related Concussion Symptoms and Reporting Behaviors. *J Athl Train*. 2017;52(7):682-688.
- 115. Shankar PR, Fields SK, Collins CL, Dick RW, Comstock RD. Epidemiology of high school and collegiate football injuries in the United States, 2005-2006. *Am J Sports Med.* 2007;35(8):1295-1303.
- Dompier TP, Kerr ZY, Marshall SW, et al. Incidence of Concussion During Practice and Games in Youth, High School, and Collegiate American Football Players. *JAMA Pediatr.* 2015;169(7):659-665.
- 117. Lovell MR, Collins MW, Iverson GL, Johnston KM, Bradley JP. Grade 1 or "ding" concussions in high school athletes. *Am J Sports Med.* 2004;32(1):47-54.

- McKeever CK, Schatz P. Current issues in the identification, assessment, and management of concussions in sports-related injuries. *Appl Neuropsychol.* 2003;10(1):4-11.
- 119. O'Connor KL, Baker MM, Dalton SL, Dompier TP, Broglio SP, Kerr ZY. Epidemiology of Sport-Related Concussions in High School Athletes: National Athletic Treatment, Injury and Outcomes Network (NATION), 2011-2012 Through 2013-2014. J Athl Train. 2017;52(3):175-185.
- 120. Abrahams S, Fie SM, Patricios J, Posthumus M, September AV. Risk factors for sports concussion: an evidence-based systematic review. *Br J Sports Med.* 2014;48(2):91-97.
- 121. Brett BL, Kuhn AW, Yengo-Kahn AM, Solomon GS, Zuckerman SL. Risk Factors Associated With Sustaining a Sport-related Concussion: An Initial Synthesis Study of 12,320 Student-Athletes. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol.* 2018;33(8):984-992.
- 122. Guskiewicz KM, Weaver NL, Padua DA, Garrett WE, Jr. Epidemiology of concussion in collegiate and high school football players. *Am J Sports Med.* 2000;28(5):643-650.
- 123. Gordon KE, Dooley JM, Wood EP. Is migraine a risk factor for the development of concussion? *Br J Sports Med.* 2006;40(2):184-185.
- 124. Bauer R, Fritz H. Pathophysiology of traumatic injury in the developing brain: an introduction and short update. *Exp Toxicol Pathol.* 2004;56(1-2):65-73.
- 125. Grundl PD, Biagas KV, Kochanek PM, Schiding JK, Barmada MA, Nemoto EM. Early cerebrovascular response to head injury in immature and mature rats. *J Neurotrauma*. 1994;11(2):135-148.
- 126. Ommaya AK, Goldsmith W, Thibault L. Biomechanics and neuropathology of adult and paediatric head injury. *Br J Neurosurg*. 2002;16(3):220-242.
- 127. Kieslich M, Fiedler A, Heller C, Kreuz W, Jacobi G. Minor head injury as cause and cofactor in the aetiology of stroke in childhood: a report of eight cases. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2002;73(1):13-16.
- 128. Karlin AM. Concussion in the pediatric and adolescent population: "different population, different concerns". *PM R*. 2011;3(10 Suppl 2):S369-379.
- 129. Giedd JN, Blumenthal J, Jeffries NO, et al. Brain development during childhood and adolescence: a longitudinal MRI study. *Nat Neurosci.* 1999;2(10):861-863.
- Giedd JN, Blumenthal J, Jeffries NO, et al. Development of the human corpus callosum during childhood and adolescence: a longitudinal MRI study. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. 1999;23(4):571-588.

- 131. Browne GJ, Lam LT. Concussive head injury in children and adolescents related to sports and other leisure physical activities. *Br J Sports Med.* 2006;40(2):163-168.
- 132. Kontos AP, Elbin RJ, Fazio-Sumrock VC, et al. Incidence of sports-related concussion among youth football players aged 8-12 years. *J Pediatr*. 2013;163(3):717-720.
- 133. Buzzini SR, Guskiewicz KM. Sport-related concussion in the young athlete. *Curr Opin Pediatr.* 2006;18(4):376-382.
- 134. Shaw NA. The neurophysiology of concussion. Prog Neurobiol. 2002;67(4):281-344.
- 135. Mihalik JP, Blackburn JT, Greenwald RM, Cantu RC, Marshall SW, Guskiewicz KM. Collision type and player anticipation affect head impact severity among youth ice hockey players. *Pediatrics*. 2010;125(6):e1394-1401.
- 136. Collins CL, Fletcher EN, Fields SK, et al. Neck strength: a protective factor reducing risk for concussion in high school sports. *J Prim Prev.* 2014;35(5):309-319.
- 137. Wik EH, Martínez-Silván D, Farooq A, Cardinale M, Johnson A, Bahr R. Skeletal maturation and growth rates are related to bone and growth plate injuries in adolescent athletics. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. 2020;30(5):894-903.
- 138. Yeargin SW, Kingsley P, Mensch JM, Mihalik JP, Monsma EV. Anthropometrics and maturity status: A preliminary study of youth football head impact biomechanics. *Int J Psychophysiol.* 2018;132(Pt A):87-92.
- 139. Emery CA, Kang J, Shrier I, et al. Risk of injury associated with body checking among youth ice hockey players. *JAMA*. 2010;303(22):2265-2272.
- 140. Brust JD, Leonard BJ, Pheley A, Roberts WO. Children's ice hockey injuries. *Am J Dis Child*. 1992;146(6):741-747.
- 141. Decloe MD, Meeuwisse WH, Hagel BE, Emery CA. Injury rates, types, mechanisms and risk factors in female youth ice hockey. *Br J Sports Med.* 2014;48(1):51-56.
- 142. Dick RW. Is there a gender difference in concussion incidence and outcomes? *Br J Sports Med.* 2009;43 Suppl 1:i46-50.
- 143. Lincoln AE, Caswell SV, Almquist JL, Dunn RE, Norris JB, Hinton RY. Trends in concussion incidence in high school sports: a prospective 11-year study. *Am J Sports Med.* 2011;39(5):958-963.
- 144. Marar M, McIlvain NM, Fields SK, Comstock RD. Epidemiology of concussions among United States high school athletes in 20 sports. *Am J Sports Med.* 2012;40(4):747-755.

- Covassin T, Schatz P, Swanik CB. Sex differences in neuropsychological function and post-concussion symptoms of concussed collegiate athletes. *Neurosurgery*. 2007;61(2):345-350; discussion 350-341.
- 146. Tierney RT, Higgins M, Caswell SV, et al. Sex differences in head acceleration during heading while wearing soccer headgear. *J Athl Train.* 2008;43(6):578-584.
- 147. Mollayeva T, El-Khechen-Richandi G, Colantonio A. Sex & gender considerations in concussion research. *Concussion*. 2018;3(1):Cnc51.
- 148. Guskiewicz KM, McCrea M, Marshall SW, et al. Cumulative effects associated with recurrent concussion in collegiate football players: the NCAA Concussion Study. *JAMA*. 2003;290(19):2549-2555.
- 149. Hollis SJ, Stevenson MR, McIntosh AS, Shores EA, Collins MW, Taylor CB. Incidence, risk, and protective factors of mild traumatic brain injury in a cohort of Australian nonprofessional male rugby players. *Am J Sports Med.* 2009;37(12):2328-2333.
- 150. Zemper ED. Two-year prospective study of relative risk of a second cerebral concussion. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil.* 2003;82(9):653-659.
- 151. Marshall SW, Guskiewicz KM, Shankar V, McCrea M, Cantu RC. Epidemiology of sports-related concussion in seven US high school and collegiate sports. *Inj Epidemiol*. 2015;2(1):1-10.
- 152. Schulz MR, Marshall SW, Mueller FO, et al. Incidence and risk factors for concussion in high school athletes, North Carolina, 1996-1999. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2004;160(10):937-944.
- 153. Nelson LD, Guskiewicz KM, Marshall SW, et al. Multiple Self-Reported Concussions Are More Prevalent in Athletes With ADHD and Learning Disability. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2016;26(2):120-127.
- 154. Maloy W, Schroeder J, Rhodehouse B. Athlete Preparticipation Physical Evaluation. *Sports Med Arthrosc Rev.* 2021;29(4):200-206.
- 155. Cottle JE, Hall EE, Patel K, Barnes KP, Ketcham CJ. Concussion Baseline Testing: Preexisting Factors, Symptoms, and Neurocognitive Performance. *J Athl Train*. 2017;52(2):77-81.
- 156. Erdal K. Neuropsychological testing for sports-related concussion: how athletes can sandbag their baseline testing without detection. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol.* 2012;27(5):473-479.
- 157. Higgins KL, Denney RL, Maerlender A. Sandbagging on the Immediate Post-Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Testing (ImPACT) in a high school athlete population. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol.* 2016;32(3):259-266.

- 158. Gibson TB, Herring SA, Kutcher JS, Broglio SP. Analyzing the effect of state legislation on health care utilization for children with concussion. *JAMA Pediatr.* 2015;169(2):163-168.
- 159. LaRoche AA, Nelson LD, Connelly PK, Walter KD, McCrea MA. Sport-Related Concussion Reporting and State Legislative Effects. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2016;26(1):33-39.
- 160. Rivara FP, Schiff MA, Chrisman SP, Chung SK, Ellenbogen RG, Herring SA. The effect of coach education on reporting of concussions among high school athletes after passage of a concussion law. *Am J Sports Med.* 2014;42(5):1197-1203.
- 161. Blackman K. GA. Traumatic Brain Injury Legislation. National Conference of State Legislatures. https://www.ncsl.org/research/health/traumatic-brain-injury-legislation.aspx#1. Published 2018. Accessed July 7, 2020.
- 162. Covassin T, Elbin RJ, 3rd, Stiller-Ostrowski JL, Kontos AP. Immediate post-concussion assessment and cognitive testing (ImPACT) practices of sports medicine professionals. *J Athl Train.* 2009;44(6):639-644.
- 163. Chin EY, Nelson LD, Barr WB, McCrory P, McCrea MA. Reliability and Validity of the Sport Concussion Assessment Tool-3 (SCAT3) in High School and Collegiate Athletes. *Am J Sports Med.* 2016;44(9):2276-2285.
- 164. Garcia GP, Broglio SP, Lavieri MS, McCrea M, McAllister T. Quantifying the Value of Multidimensional Assessment Models for Acute Concussion: An Analysis of Data from the NCAA-DoD Care Consortium. *Sports Med.* 2018;48(7):1739-1749.
- 165. McLeod TC, Leach C. Psychometric properties of self-report concussion scales and checklists. *J Athl Train*. 2012;47(2):221-223.
- 166. Echemendia RJ, Meeuwisse W, McCrory P, et al. The Sport Concussion Assessment Tool 5th Edition (SCAT5): Background and rationale. *Br J Sports Med.* 2017;51(11):848-850.
- Davis GA, Purcell L, Schneider KJ, et al. The Child Sport Concussion Assessment Tool 5th Edition (Child SCAT5): Background and rationale. *Br J Sports Med.* 2017;51(11):859-861.
- 168. Sport concussion assessment tool 5th edition. Br J Sports Med. 2017;51(11):851-858.
- 169. Lovell MR, Iverson GL, Collins MW, et al. Measurement of symptoms following sportsrelated concussion: reliability and normative data for the post-concussion scale. *Appl Neuropsychol.* 2006;13(3):166-174.

- 170. Valovich McLeod TC, Bay RC, Lam KC, Chhabra A. Representative baseline values on the Sport Concussion Assessment Tool 2 (SCAT2) in adolescent athletes vary by gender, grade, and concussion history. *Am J Sports Med.* 2012;40(4):927-933.
- 171. Mailer BJ, Valovich-McLeod TC, Bay RC. Healthy youth are reliable in reporting symptoms on a graded symptom scale. *J Sport Rehabil.* 2008;17(1):11-20.
- 172. Petit KM, Savage JL, Bretzin AC, Anderson M, Covassin T. The Sport Concussion Assessment Tool-5 (SCAT5): Baseline Assessments in NCAA Division I Collegiate Student-Athletes. *Int J Exerc Sci.* 2020;13(3):1143-1155.
- 173. Lau BC, Kontos AP, Collins MW, Mucha A, Lovell MR. Which on-field signs/symptoms predict protracted recovery from sport-related concussion among high school football players? *Am J Sports Med.* 2011;39(11):2311-2318.
- 174. Zimmer A, Marcinak J, Hibyan S, Webbe F. Normative values of major SCAT2 and SCAT3 components for a college athlete population. *Appl Neuropsychol Adult*. 2015;22(2):132-140.
- 175. Teel E, Wasserman E, Register-Mihalik J, Mihalik J. Baseline symptoms are associated with post-concussion symptom frequency and severity in college and high school athletes. *Br J Sports Med.* 2017;51(11):A27-A28.
- 176. Makdissi M, Schneider KJ, Feddermann-Demont N, et al. Approach to investigation and treatment of persistent symptoms following sport-related concussion: a systematic review. *Br J Sports Med.* 2017;51(12):958-968.
- 177. Baldwin GT, Breiding MJ, Dawn Comstock R. Chapter 7 Epidemiology of sports concussion in the United States. In: Hainline B, Stern RA, eds. *Hand Clin Neurol*. Vol 158. Elsevier; 2018:63-74.
- 178. Delaney JS, Lacroix VJ, Leclerc S, Johnston KM. Concussions among university football and soccer players. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2002;12(6):331-338.
- 179. Brown DA, Elsass JA, Miller AJ, Reed LE, Reneker JC. Differences in Symptom Reporting Between Males and Females at Baseline and After a Sports-Related Concussion: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Sports Med.* 2015;45(7):1027-1040.
- 180. Wallace J, Covassin T, Nogle S, Gould D, Kovan J. Knowledge of Concussion and Reporting Behaviors in High School Athletes With or Without Access to an Athletic Trainer. *J Athl Train*. 2017;52(3):228-235.
- 181. Wallace J, Covassin T, Nogle S, Gould D, Kovan J. Concussion Knowledge and Reporting Behavior Differences Between High School Athletes at Urban and Suburban High Schools. J Sch Health. 2017;87(9):665-674.

- 182. Elbin RJ, Kontos AP, Kegel N, Johnson E, Burkhart S, Schatz P. Individual and combined effects of LD and ADHD on computerized neurocognitive concussion test performance: evidence for separate norms. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol.* 2013;28(5):476-484.
- Covassin T, Moran R, Wilhelm K. Concussion symptoms and neurocognitive performance of high school and college athletes who incur multiple concussions. *Am J Sports Med.* 2013;41(12):2885-2889.
- 184. Schulze KJ, Robinson M, MacKenzie HM, Dickey JP. Association of Preexisting Mental Health Conditions With Increased Initial Symptom Count and Severity Score on SCAT5 When Assessing Concussion. *Orthop J Sports Med.* 2022;10(9):23259671221123581.
- Baugh CM, Kroshus E, Stamm JM, Daneshvar DH, Pepin MJ, Meehan WP, 3rd. Clinical Practices in Collegiate Concussion Management. *Am J Sports Med.* 2016;44(6):1391-1399.
- 186. Mihalik JP, Wasserman EB. Depth perception differences in athletes reporting a concussion history. *Br J Sports Med.* 2017;51(11):A3.
- Hurtubise J, Gorbet D, Hamandi Y, Macpherson A, Sergio L. The effect of concussion history on cognitive-motor integration in elite hockey players. *Concussion*. 2016;1(3):CNC17-CNC17.
- Brown JA, Dalecki M, Hughes C, Macpherson AK, Sergio LE. Cognitive-motor integration deficits in young adult athletes following concussion. *BMC Sports Sci Med Rehabil.* 2015;7:25-25.
- Alsalaheen B, Stockdale K, Pechumer D, Broglio SP. Validity of the Immediate Post Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Testing (ImPACT). Sports Med. 2016;46(10):1487-1501.
- 190. Broglio SP, Macciocchi SN, Ferrara MS. Neurocognitive performance of concussed athletes when symptom free. *J Athl Train.* 2007;42(4):504-508.
- Arrieux JP, Cole WR, Ahrens AP. A review of the validity of computerized neurocognitive assessment tools in mild traumatic brain injury assessment. *Concussion*. 2017;2(1):Cnc31.
- 192. Van Kampen DA, Lovell MR, Pardini JE, Collins MW, Fu FH. The "value added" of neurocognitive testing after sports-related concussion. *Am J Sports Med.* 2006;34(10):1630-1635.
- Parker TM, Osternig LR, van Donkelaar P, Chou LS. Recovery of cognitive and dynamic motor function following concussion. *Br J Sports Med.* 2007;41(12):868-873; discussion 873.

- 194. Walton SR, Broshek DK, Freeman JR, Cullum CM, Resch JE. Valid but Invalid: Suboptimal ImPACT Baseline Performance in University Athletes. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2018;50(7):1377-1384.
- 195. Pawlukiewicz A, Yengo-Kahn AM, Solomon G. The Effect of Pretest Exercise on Baseline Computerized Neurocognitive Test Scores. Orthop J Sports Med. 2017;5(10):2325967117734496.
- Calamia M, Markon K, Tranel D. Scoring higher the second time around: meta-analyses of practice effects in neuropsychological assessment. *Clin Neuropsychol.* 2012;26(4):543-570.
- 197. Resch J, Driscoll A, McCaffrey N, et al. ImPact test-retest reliability: reliably unreliable? *J Athl Train.* 2013;48(4):506-511.
- 198. Resch JE, Schneider MW, Munro Cullum C. The test-retest reliability of three computerized neurocognitive tests used in the assessment of sport concussion. *Int J Psychophysiol.* 2018;132:31-38.
- 199. Randolph C, McCrea M, Barr WB. Is neuropsychological testing useful in the management of sport-related concussion? *J Athl Train*. 2005;40(3):139-152.
- 200. Nelson LD, LaRoche AA, Pfaller AY, et al. Prospective, Head-to-Head Study of Three Computerized Neurocognitive Assessment Tools (CNTs): Reliability and Validity for the Assessment of Sport-Related Concussion. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc.* 2016;22(1):24-37.
- 201. Guskiewicz KM. Assessment of postural stability following sport-related concussion. *Curr Sports Med Rep.* 2003;2(1):24-30.
- 202. Slobounov S, Sebastianelli W, Hallett M. Residual brain dysfunction observed one year post-mild traumatic brain injury: combined EEG and balance study. *Clin Neurophysiol*. 2012;123(9):1755-1761.
- 203. Khan S, Chang R. Anatomy of the vestibular system: a review. *NeuroRehabilitation*. 2013;32(3):437-443.
- 204. Riemann BL, Guskiewicz KM, Shields EW. Relationship between clinical and forceplate measures of postural stability. *J Sport Rehabil.* 1999;8(2):71-82.
- 205. Riemann BL, Guskiewicz KM. Effects of mild head injury on postural stability as measured through clinical balance testing. *J Athl Train*. 2000;35(1):19.
- 206. Kelly KC, Jordan EM, Joyner AB, Burdette GT, Buckley TA. National Collegiate Athletic Association Division I athletic trainers' concussion-management practice patterns. *J Athl Train.* 2014;49(5):665-673.

- 207. Guskiewicz KM. Postural stability assessment following concussion: one piece of the puzzle. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2001;11(3):182-189.
- 208. Covassin T, Elbin RJ, Harris W, Parker T, Kontos A. The role of age and sex in symptoms, neurocognitive performance, and postural stability in athletes after concussion. *Am J Sports Med.* 2012;40(6):1303-1312.
- 209. McCrea M, Guskiewicz KM, Marshall SW, et al. Acute effects and recovery time following concussion in collegiate football players: the NCAA Concussion Study. *JAMA*. 2003;290(19):2556-2563.
- 210. McLeod TCV, Perrin DH, Guskiewicz KM, Shultz SJ, Diamond R, Gansneder BM. Serial administration of clinical concussion assessments and learning effects in healthy young athletes. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2004;14(5):287-295.
- 211. Rahn C, Munkasy BA, Joyner AB, Buckley TA. Sideline performance of the balance error scoring system during a live sporting event. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2015;25(3):248.
- 212. Weber AF, Mihalik JP, Register-Mihalik JK, Mays S, Prentice WE, Guskiewicz KM. Dehydration and performance on clinical concussion measures in collegiate wrestlers. *J Athl Train*. 2013;48(2):153-160.
- 213. Docherty CL, McLeod TCV, Shultz SJ. Postural control deficits in participants with functional ankle instability as measured by the balance error scoring system. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2006;16(3):203-208.
- 214. Powers KC, Kalmar JM, Cinelli ME. Recovery of static stability following a concussion. *Gait & posture*. 2014;39(1):611-614.
- 215. Parker TM, Osternig LR, P VAND, Chou LS. Gait stability following concussion. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2006;38(6):1032-1040.
- 216. Lee H, Sullivan SJ, Schneiders AG. The use of the dual-task paradigm in detecting gait performance deficits following a sports-related concussion: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Sci Med Sport*. 2013;16(1):2-7.
- 217. Parker TM, Osternig LR, van Donkelaar P, Chou LS. Balance control during gait in athletes and non-athletes following concussion. *Med Eng Phys.* 2008;30(8):959-967.
- 218. Buckley T. Concussion and gait. Gait Biometr. 2014:141-164.
- 219. Buckley TA. Acute and lingering impairments in post-concussion postural control. In: *Concussions in athletics.* Springer; 2014:139-165.
- 220. Buckley TA, Oldham JR, Caccese JB. Postural control deficits identify lingering postconcussion neurological deficits. *J Sport Health Sci.* 2016;5(1):61-69.

- 221. Buckley TA, Oldham JR, Munkasy BA, Evans KM. Decreased Anticipatory Postural Adjustments During Gait Initiation Acutely Postconcussion. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2017;98(10):1962-1968.
- 222. Doherty C, Zhao L, Ryan J, Komaba Y, Inomata A, Caulfield B. Concussion is associated with altered preparatory postural adjustments during gait initiation. *Hum Mov Sci.* 2017;52:160-169.
- 223. Oldham JR, Difabio MS, Kaminski TW, Dewolf RM, Howell DR, Buckley TA. Efficacy of Tandem Gait to Identify Impaired Postural Control after Concussion. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2018;50(6):1162-1168.
- 224. Howell DR, Osternig LR, Chou LS. Dual-task effect on gait balance control in adolescents with concussion. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2013;94(8):1513-1520.
- 225. Howell DR, Osternig LR, Koester MC, Chou LS. The effect of cognitive task complexity on gait stability in adolescents following concussion. *Exp Brain Res.* 2014;232(6):1773-1782.
- 226. Patejak S, Forrest J, Harting E, Sisk M, Schussler E. A Systematic Review of Center of Mass as a Measure of Dynamic Postural Control Following Concussion. *Int J Sports Phys Ther.* 2021;16(5):1222-1234.
- 227. Buckley TA, Munkasy BA, Tapia-Lovler TG, Wikstrom EA. Altered gait termination strategies following a concussion. *Gait & posture*. 2013;38(3):549-551.
- 228. Fino PC, Parrington L, Pitt W, et al. Detecting gait abnormalities after concussion or mild traumatic brain injury: A systematic review of single-task, dual-task, and complex gait. *Gait Posture*. 2018;62:157-166.
- 229. Ventura RE, Balcer LJ, Galetta SL. The Concussion Toolbox: The Role of Vision in the Assessment of Concussion. *Semin Neurol.* 2015;35(05):599-606.
- 230. Singman E. Automating the assessment of visual dysfunction after traumatic brain injury. *Med Instrum.* 2013;1:3-6.
- 231. Truong JQ, Ciuffreda KJ, Han MH, Suchoff IB. Photosensitivity in mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI): a retrospective analysis. *Brain Inj.* 2014;28(10):1283-1287.
- 232. Thomas NM, Bampouras TM, Donovan T, Dewhurst S. Eye movements affect postural control in young and older females. *Front Aging Neurosci.* 2016;8:216.
- 233. Hallemans A, Ortibus E, Meire F, Aerts P. Low vision affects dynamic stability of gait. *Gait & posture*. 2010;32(4):547-551.

- 234. Howell DR, O'Brien MJ, Raghuram A, Shah AS, Meehan WP, 3rd. Near Point of Convergence and Gait Deficits in Adolescents After Sport-Related Concussion. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2018;28(3):262-267.
- Capó-Aponte JE, Jorgensen-Wagers KL, Sosa JA, et al. Visual Dysfunctions at Different Stages after Blast and Non-blast Mild Traumatic Brain Injury. *Optom Vis Sci.* 2017;94(1):7-15.
- 236. Galetta KM, Brandes LE, Maki K, et al. The King-Devick test and sports-related concussion: study of a rapid visual screening tool in a collegiate cohort. *J Neurol Sci.* 2011;309(1-2):34-39.
- 237. Galetta KM, Barrett J, Allen M, et al. The King-Devick test as a determinant of head trauma and concussion in boxers and MMA fighters. *Neurology*. 2011;76(17):1456-1462.
- 238. Galetta KM, Liu M, Leong DF, Ventura RE, Galetta SL, Balcer LJ. The King-Devick test of rapid number naming for concussion detection: meta-analysis and systematic review of the literature. *Concussion*. 2016;1(2):Cnc8.
- 239. Vartiainen MV, Holm A, Peltonen K, Luoto TM, Iverson GL, Hokkanen L. King-Devick test normative reference values for professional male ice hockey players. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. 2015;25(3):e327-330.
- 240. Moran RN, Covassin T. King-Devick test normative reference values and internal consistency in youth football and soccer athletes. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. 2018;28(12):2686-2690.
- 241. Galetta KM, Morganroth J, Moehringer N, et al. Adding Vision to Concussion Testing: A Prospective Study of Sideline Testing in Youth and Collegiate Athletes. *J Neuroophthalmol.* 2015;35(3):235-241.
- 242. Samadani U, Ritlop R, Reyes M, et al. Eye tracking detects disconjugate eye movements associated with structural traumatic brain injury and concussion. *J Neurotrauma*. 2015;32(8):548-556.
- 243. Samadani U, Li M, Qian M, et al. Sensitivity and specificity of an eye movement tracking-based biomarker for concussion. *Concussion*. 2016;1(1).
- 244. Oldham JR, Meehan WP, 3rd, Howell DR. Impaired eye tracking is associated with symptom severity but not dynamic postural control in adolescents following concussion. *J Sport Health Sci.* 2021;10(2):138-144.
- 245. Bin Zahid A, Hubbard ME, Lockyer J, et al. Eye Tracking as a Biomarker for Concussion in Children. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2020;30(5):433-443.

- 246. Jain D, Arbogast KB, McDonald CC, et al. Eye Tracking Metrics Differences among Uninjured Adolescents and Those with Acute or Persistent Post-Concussion Symptoms. *Optom Vis Sci.* 2022;99(8):616-625.
- 247. Master CL, Podolak OE, Ciuffreda KJ, et al. Utility of Pupillary Light Reflex Metrics as a Physiologic Biomarker for Adolescent Sport-Related Concussion. *JAMA Ophthalmology*. 2020.
- 248. Corwin DJ, Wiebe DJ, Zonfrillo MR, et al. Vestibular Deficits following Youth Concussion. *J Pediatr*. 2015;166(5):1221-1225.
- 249. Kontos AP, Sufrinko A, Sandel N, Emami K, Collins MW. Sport-related Concussion Clinical Profiles: Clinical Characteristics, Targeted Treatments, and Preliminary Evidence. *Curr Sports Med Rep.* 2019;18(3):82-92.
- 250. Gianoli GJ. Post-concussive Dizziness: A Review and Clinical Approach to the Patient. *Front Neurol.* 2021;12:718318.
- 251. Valovich McLeod T, Hale T. Vestibular and balance issues following sport-related concussion. *Brain Inj.* 2014;29.
- 252. Anzalone AJ, Blueitt D, Case T, et al. A Positive Vestibular/Ocular Motor Screening (VOMS) Is Associated With Increased Recovery Time After Sports-Related Concussion in Youth and Adolescent Athletes. *Am J Sports Med.* 2017;45(2):474-479.
- Ellis MJ, Cordingley DM, Vis S, Reimer KM, Leiter J, Russell K. Clinical predictors of vestibulo-ocular dysfunction in pediatric sports-related concussion. *J Neurosurg Pediatr.* 2017;19(1):38-45.
- 254. Whitney SL, Eagle SR, Marchetti G, Mucha A, Collins MW, Kontos AP. Association of acute vestibular/ocular motor screening scores to prolonged recovery in collegiate athletes following sport-related concussion. *Brain Inj.* 2020;34(6):842-847.
- 255. Mucha A, Collins MW, Elbin RJ, et al. A Brief Vestibular/Ocular Motor Screening (VOMS) assessment to evaluate concussions: preliminary findings. *Am J Sports Med.* 2014;42(10):2479-2486.
- 256. Kontos AP, Sufrinko A, Elbin RJ, Puskar A, Collins MW. Reliability and Associated Risk Factors for Performance on the Vestibular/Ocular Motor Screening (VOMS) Tool in Healthy Collegiate Athletes. *Am J Sports Med.* 2016;44(6):1400-1406.
- 257. Kontos AP, Eagle SR, Marchetti G, et al. Discriminative Validity of Vestibular Ocular Motor Screening in Identifying Concussion Among Collegiate Athletes: A National Collegiate Athletic Association–Department of Defense Concussion Assessment, Research, and Education Consortium Study. *Am J Sports Med.* 2021;49(8):2211-2217.

- 258. Yorke AM, Smith L, Babcock M, Alsalaheen B. Validity and Reliability of the Vestibular/Ocular Motor Screening and Associations With Common Concussion Screening Tools. *Sports Health*. 2017;9(2):174-180.
- 259. Collins MW, Kontos AP, Reynolds E, Murawski CD, Fu FH. A comprehensive, targeted approach to the clinical care of athletes following sport-related concussion. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2014;22(2):235-246.
- 260. Ellis MJ, Leddy JJ, Willer B. Physiological, vestibulo-ocular and cervicogenic postconcussion disorders: an evidence-based classification system with directions for treatment. *Brain Inj.* 2015;29(2):238-248.
- 261. Lephart SM. Proprioception and neuromuscular control in joint stability. *Human kinetics*. 2000:405-413.
- 262. Zhao M, Marino M, Samogin J, Swinnen SP, Mantini D. Hand, foot and lip representations in primary sensorimotor cortex: a high-density electroencephalography study. *Sci Rep.* 2019;9(1):19464.
- 263. Penfield W, Boldrey E. Somatic motor and sensory representation in the cerebral cortex of man as studied by electrical stimulation. *Brain*. 1937;60(4):389-443.
- 264. O'Sullivan SB, Schmitz TJ, Fulk G. Physical rehabilitation. FA Davis; 2019.
- 265. Larrabee GJ. Chapter 12 Specialized Neuropsychological Assessment Methods. In: Goldstein G, Hersen M, eds. *Handbook of Psychological Assessment (Third Edition)*. Amsterdam: Pergamon; 2000:301-335.
- 266. Di Paolo EA, Barandiaran XE, Beaton M, Buhrmann T. Learning to perceive in the sensorimotor approach: Piaget's theory of equilibration interpreted dynamically. *Front Hum Neurosci.* 2014;8:551.
- 267. Clark JF, Ellis JK, Burns TM, Childress JM, Divine JG. Analysis of Central and Peripheral Vision Reaction Times in Patients With Postconcussion Visual Dysfunction. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2017;27(5):457-461.
- 268. Lempke LB, Lynall RC, Hoffman NL, Devos H, Schmidt JD. Slowed driving-reaction time following concussion-symptom resolution. *J Sport Health Sci.* 2021;10(2):145-153.
- 269. Kelly KM, Kiderman A, Akhavan S, et al. Oculomotor, Vestibular, and Reaction Time Effects of Sports-Related Concussion: Video-Oculography in Assessing Sports-Related Concussion. *J Head Trauma Rehabil.* 2019;34(3):176-188.
- 270. Cochrane GD, Christy JB, Almutairi A, Busettini C, Swanson MW, Weise KK. Visuooculomotor Function and Reaction Times in Athletes with and without Concussion. *Optom Vis Sci.* 2019;96(4):256-265.

- 271. Ellemberg D, Leclerc S, Couture S, Daigle C. Prolonged neuropsychological impairments following a first concussion in female university soccer athletes. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2007;17(5):369-374.
- 272. Schneider KJ, Meeuwisse WH, Palacios-Derflingher L, Emery CA. Changes in Measures of Cervical Spine Function, Vestibulo-ocular Reflex, Dynamic Balance, and Divided Attention Following Sport-Related Concussion in Elite Youth Ice Hockey Players. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2018;48(12):974-981.
- 273. Halterman CI, Langan J, Drew A, et al. Tracking the recovery of visuospatial attention deficits in mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain*. 2006;129(Pt 3):747-753.
- 274. Catena RD, van Donkelaar P, Halterman CI, Chou LS. Spatial orientation of attention and obstacle avoidance following concussion. *Exp Brain Res.* 2009;194(1):67-77.
- 275. Chermann JF, Romeas T, Marty F, Faubert J. Perceptual-cognitive three-dimensional multiple-object tracking task can help the monitoring of sport-related concussion. *BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med.* 2018;4(1):e000384.
- 276. Kleiner M, Wong L, Dubé A, Wnuk K, Hunter SW, Graham LJ. Dual-task assessment protocols in concussion assessment: a systematic literature review. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* 2018;48(2):87-103.
- 277. Peterka RJ, Murchison CF, Parrington L, Fino PC, King LA. Implementation of a Central Sensorimotor Integration Test for Characterization of Human Balance Control During Stance. *Front Neurol.* 2018;9:1045.
- 278. Campbell KR, King LA, Parrington L, Fino PC, Antonellis P, Peterka RJ. Central sensorimotor integration assessment reveals deficits in standing balance control in people with chronic mild traumatic brain injury. *Front Neurol.* 2022;13.
- 279. Campbell KR, Parrington L, Peterka RJ, et al. Exploring persistent complaints of imbalance after mTBI: Oculomotor, peripheral vestibular and central sensory integration function. *J Vestib Res.* 2021;31(6):519-530.
- 280. Gibson JJ. *The senses considered as perceptual systems*. Oxford, England: Houghton Mifflin; 1966.
- 281. Michaels CF, Carello C. Direct perception. Citeseer; 1981.
- 282. Gibson JJ. The theory of affordances. The ecological approach to visual perception. In: Boston: Houghton Mifflin; 1979.
- 283. Plumert JM. Relations between children's overestimation of their physical abilities and accident proneness. *Dev Psychol.* 1995;31(5):866.

- 284. Riley MA, Fajen BR, Turvey MT. Reply to commentaries on" information, affordances, and the control of action in sport". *Int J Sport Psychol.* 2009;40(1):207.
- 285. Fajen BR, Riley MA, Turvey MT. Information, affordances, and the control of action in sport. *Int J Sport Psychol*. 2009;40(1):79-107.
- 286. McGuckian TB, Cole MH, Jordet G, Chalkley D, Pepping GJ. Don't Turn Blind! The Relationship Between Exploration Before Ball Possession and On-Ball Performance in Association Football. *Front Psychol.* 2018;9:2520.
- Connaboy C, Johnson CD, LaGoy AD, et al. Intersession reliability and within-session stability of a novel perception-action coupling task. *Aerosp Med Hum Perform*. 2019;90(2):77-83.
- 288. Eagle SR, Nindl BC, Johnson CD, Kontos AP, Connaboy C. Does Concussion Affect Perception-Action Coupling Behavior? Action Boundary Perception as a Biomarker for Concussion. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2021;31(3):273-280.
- 289. Chuah SH-W. Why and who will adopt extended reality technology? Literature review, synthesis, and future research agenda. *Literature Review, Synthesis, and Future Research Agenda (December 13, 2018).* 2018.
- 290. Walter AE, Slobounov SM. Application of virtual reality in assessment and treatment of concussion. In: *Neuropsychology of sports-related concussion*. Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association; 2019:323-345.
- 291. Van Asten W, Gielen C, Van Der Gon J. Postural adjustments induced by simulated motion of differently structured environments. *Exp Brain Res.* 1988;73(2):371-383.
- 292. Slobounov S, Slobounov E, Newell K. Application of virtual reality graphics in assessment of concussion. *Cyberpsychol Behav.* 2006;9(2):188-191.
- 293. Slobounov S, Tutwiler R, Sebastianelli W, Slobounov E. Alteration of postural responses to visual field motion in mild traumatic brain injury. *Neurosurgery*. 2006;59(1):134-193.
- 294. Teel EF, Gay MR, Arnett PA, Slobounov SM. Differential sensitivity between a virtual reality (VR) balance module and clinically used concussion balance modalities. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2016;26(2):162.
- 295. Murray NG, Ambati VP, Contreras MM, Salvatore AP, Reed-Jones RJ. Assessment of oculomotor control and balance post-concussion: a preliminary study for a novel approach to concussion management. *Brain Inj.* 2014;28(4):496-503.
- 296. Murray NG, Fernandez E, Salvatore AP, Reed-Jones RJ. Assessment of the Wii Basic Balance Test in measuring postural deficits post-concussion. *J Clin Transl Res.* 2017;2(4):123.

- 297. Rao HM, Talkar T, Ciccarelli G, et al. Sensorimotor conflict tests in an immersive virtual environment reveal subclinical impairments in mild traumatic brain injury. *Sci Rep.* 2020;10(1):14773.
- 298. Santos FV, Yamaguchi F, Buckley TA, Caccese JB. Virtual reality in concussion management: from lab to clinic. *J Clin Transl Res.* 2020;5(4):148-154.
- 299. Corbin-Berrigan L-A, Kowalski K, Faubert J, Christie B, Gagnon I. Three-dimensional multiple object tracking in the pediatric population: the NeuroTracker and its promising role in the management of mild traumatic brain injury. *Neuroreport*. 2018;29(7):559-563.
- 300. Deschamps A, Giguère-Lemieux É, Fait P, Corbin-Berrigan L-A. Test–retest reliability of the neurotracker compared to the impact test for the management of mild traumatic brain injuries during two consecutive university sport seasons. *Brain Inj.* 2022;36(8):977-984.
- 301. Kara S, Crosswell H, Forch K, Cavadino A, McGeown J, Fulcher M. Less Than Half of Patients Recover Within 2 Weeks of Injury After a Sports-Related Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: A 2-Year Prospective Study. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2020;30(2):96-101.
- 302. Henry LC, Elbin RJ, Collins MW, Marchetti G, Kontos AP. Examining Recovery Trajectories After Sport-Related Concussion With a Multimodal Clinical Assessment Approach. *Neurosurgery*. 2016;78(2):232-241.
- 303. Broglio SP, McAllister T, Katz BP, et al. The Natural History of Sport-Related Concussion in Collegiate Athletes: Findings from the NCAA-DoD CARE Consortium. *Sports Med.* 2021.
- 304. Lau B, Lovell MR, Collins MW, Pardini J. Neurocognitive and symptom predictors of recovery in high school athletes. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2009;19(3):216-221.
- 305. Asken BM, Bauer RM, Guskiewicz KM, et al. Immediate Removal From Activity After Sport-Related Concussion Is Associated With Shorter Clinical Recovery and Less Severe Symptoms in Collegiate Student-Athletes. *Am J Sports Med.* 2018;46(6):1465-1474.
- 306. Asken BM, McCrea MA, Clugston JR, Snyder AR, Houck ZM, Bauer RM. "Playing Through It": Delayed Reporting and Removal From Athletic Activity After Concussion Predicts Prolonged Recovery. *J Athl Train*. 2016;51(4):329-335.
- 307. Kontos AP, Jorgensen-Wagers K, Trbovich AM, et al. Association of Time Since Injury to the First Clinic Visit With Recovery Following Concussion. JAMA Neurol. 2020;77(4):435-440.
- Howell DR, Lynall RC, Buckley TA, Herman DC. Neuromuscular Control Deficits and the Risk of Subsequent Injury after a Concussion: A Scoping Review. Sports Med. 2018;48(5):1097-1115.

- 309. Jildeh TR, Meta F, Young J, et al. Concussion Is Associated With Increased Odds of Acute Lower-Extremity Musculoskeletal Injury Among National Basketball Association Players. *Arthrosc Sports Med Rehabil.* 2021;3(1):e219-e225.
- McPherson AL, Shirley MB, Schilaty ND, Larson DR, Hewett TE. Effect of a Concussion on Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injury Risk in a General Population. Sports Med. 2020;50(6):1203-1210.
- 311. Major BP, Rogers MA, Pearce AJ. Using transcranial magnetic stimulation to quantify electrophysiological changes following concussive brain injury: a systematic review. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol.* 2015;42(4):394-405.
- 312. De Beaumont L, Lassonde M, Leclerc S, Théoret H. Long-term and cumulative effects of sports concussion on motor cortex inhibition. *Neurosurgery*. 2007;61(2):329-336; discussion 336-327.
- 313. Howell DR, Buckley TA, Lynall RC, Meehan WP, 3rd. Worsening Dual-Task Gait Costs after Concussion and their Association with Subsequent Sport-Related Injury. *J Neurotrauma*. 2018;35(14):1630-1636.
- Wilkerson GB, Nabhan DC, Prusmack CJ, Moreau WJ. Detection of Persisting Concussion Effects on Neuromechanical Responsiveness. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2018;50(9):1750-1756.
- 315. Moore RD, Hillman CH, Broglio SP. The persistent influence of concussive injuries on cognitive control and neuroelectric function. *J Athl Train*. 2014;49(1):24-35.
- 316. Chamard E, Lassonde M, Henry L, et al. Neurometabolic and microstructural alterations following a sports-related concussion in female athletes. *Brain Inj.* 2013;27(9):1038-1046.
- 317. Giza CC, DiFiori JP. Pathophysiology of Sports-Related Concussion: An Update on Basic Science and Translational Research. *Sports Health.* 2011;3(1):46-51.
- 318. Daviaux Y, Cremoux S, Tallet J, Amarantini D, Cornu C, Deschamps T. An enhanced experimental procedure to rationalize on the impairment of perception of action capabilities. *Psychol Res.* 2016;80(2):224-234.
- 319. Kerr ZY, Zuckerman SL, Wasserman EB, Covassin T, Djoko A, Dompier TP. Concussion Symptoms and Return to Play Time in Youth, High School, and College American Football Athletes. *JAMA Pediatr.* 2016;170(7):647-653.
- 320. Daviaux Y, Mignardot JB, Cornu C, Deschamps T. Effects of total sleep deprivation on the perception of action capabilities. *Exp Brain Res.* 2014;232(7):2243-2253.

- 321. Fajen BR. Affordance-based control of visually guided action. *Ecol Psychol.* 2007;19(4):383-410.
- 322. Interassociation Consensus: Diagnosis and Management of Sport-Related Concussion Best Practices. National Collegiate Athletic Association Safety in College Football Summit; 2017; Orlando, Florida.
- 323. Stine CD, Arterburn MR, Stern N. Vision and sports: a review of the literature. *J Am Optom Assoc.* 1982;53(8):627-633.
- 324. Burg A. Visual acuity as measured by dynamic and static tests: a comparative evaluation. *J Appl Psychol.* 1966;50(6):460.
- 325. Citek K. Contrast sensitivity function. Visual development, diagnosis, and treatment of the pediatric patient Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. 2006:52-68.
- Boden LM, Rosengren KJ, Martin DF, Boden SD. A comparison of static near stereo acuity in youth baseball/softball players and non-ball players. *Optometry*. 2009;80(3):121-125.
- 327. Burris K, Liu S, Appelbaum L. Visual-motor expertise in athletes: Insights from semiparametric modelling of 2317 athletes tested on the Nike SPARQ Sensory Station. *J Sports Sci.* 2020;38(3):320-329.
- 328. Hiyoshi A, Sato Y, Grotta A, Fall K, Montgomery S. Visual Acuity and the Risk of Cycling Injuries: Register-Based Cohort Study From Adolescence to Middle-age. *Epidemiol.* 2022;33(2):246-253.
- 329. Master CL, Scheiman M, Gallaway M, et al. Vision diagnoses are common after concussion in adolescents. *Clin Pediatr.* 2016;55(3):260-267.
- 330. Pearce KL, Sufrinko A, Lau BC, Henry L, Collins MW, Kontos AP. Near Point of Convergence After a Sport-Related Concussion: Measurement Reliability and Relationship to Neurocognitive Impairment and Symptoms. *Am J Sports Med.* 2015;43(12):3055-3061.
- 331. Kioumourtzoglou E, Kourtessis T, Michalopoulou M, Derri V. Differences in several perceptual abilities between experts and novices in basketball, volleyball and water-polo. *Percept Mot Skills*. 1998;86(3):899-912.
- Nuri L, Shadmehr A, Ghotbi N, Attarbashi Moghadam B. Reaction time and anticipatory skill of athletes in open and closed skill-dominated sport. *Eur J Sport Sci.* 2013;13(5):431-436.
- 333. Wilkerson G, Simpson K, Clark R. Assessment and training of visuomotor reaction time for football injury prevention. *J Sport Rehabil.* 2017;26(1):26-34.
- 334. Shirota C, Balasubramanian S, Melendez-Calderon A. Technology-aided assessments of sensorimotor function: current use, barriers and future directions in the view of different stakeholders. *J Neuroeng Rehabil.* 2019;16(1):53.
- 335. Appelbaum LG, Erickson G. Sports vision training: A review of the state-of-the-art in digital training techniques. *Int Rev Sport Exerc Psychol.* 2018;11(1):160-189.
- 336. Poltavski D, Biberdorf D. The role of visual perception measures used in sports vision programmes in predicting actual game performance in Division I collegiate hockey players. *J Sports Sci.* 2015;33(6):597-608.
- 337. *Reliable Change Indices of Visual and Sensory Performance Measures* [Dissertation], University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill.
- 338. Bujang MA. A simplified guide to determination of sample size requirements for estimating the value of intraclass correlation coefficient: A review. *Arch Orofac Sci.* 2017;12:1-11.
- 339. Brinkman C, Baez SE, Quintana C, et al. The Reliability of an Upper- and Lower-Extremity Visuomotor Reaction Time Task. *J Sport Rehabil*. 2020:1.
- 340. Beninato M, Portney LG. Applying concepts of responsiveness to patient management in neurologic physical therapy. *J Neurol Phys Ther.* 2011;35(2):75-81.
- 341. Portney LG, Watkins MP. *Foundations of clinical research: applications to practice*. Vol 892: Pearson/Prentice Hall Upper Saddle River, NJ; 2009.
- 342. Fraser MA, Kilchrist LM, Kuo M. Concussion Baseline Retesting Is Necessary When Initial Scores Are Low. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2022;32(1):e40-e51.
- 343. Wang L, Krasich K, Bel-Bahar T, Hughes L, Mitroff SR, Appelbaum LG. Mapping the structure of perceptual and visual-motor abilities in healthy young adults. *Acta Psychol (Amst).* 2015;157:74-84.
- 344. Howell DR, Osternig LR, Chou LS. Adolescents demonstrate greater gait balance control deficits after concussion than young adults. *Am J Sports Med.* 2015;43(3):625-632.
- 345. Broglio SP, Kontos AP, Levin H, et al. National Institute of neurological disorders and stroke and department of defense sport-related concussion common data elements version 1.0 recommendations. *J Neurotrauma*. 2018;35(23):2776-2783.
- 346. Zynda AJ, Baez S, Wallace J, Kuenze C, Covassin T. The Reliability Of A Computerized Sensory Station For The Assessment Of Visual And Sensorimotor Skills: 269. *Med Sci Sport Exerc*. 2022;54(9S):67.

- 347. Cohen J. Eta-Squared and Partial Eta-Squared in Fixed Factor Anova Designs. *Educ Psychol Meas.* 1973;33(1):107-112.
- 348. Covassin T, Moran R, Wilhelm K. Concussion Symptoms and Neurocognitive Performance of High School and College Athletes Who Incur Multiple Concussions. *Am J Sports Med.* 2013;41(12):2885-2889.
- 349. Del Rossi G. Evaluating the Recovery Curve for Clinically Assessed Reaction Time After Concussion. *J Athl Train.* 2017;52(8):766-770.
- 350. Howell DR, Stillman A, Buckley TA, Berkstresser B, Wang F, Meehan WP, 3rd. The utility of instrumented dual-task gait and tablet-based neurocognitive measurements after concussion. *J Sci Med Sport*. 2018;21(4):358-362.
- 351. Williams RM, Puetz TW, Giza CC, Broglio SP. Concussion recovery time among high school and collegiate athletes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Med.* 2015;45(6):893-903.
- Lempke LB, Johnson RS, Schmidt JD, Lynall RC. Clinical versus Functional Reaction Time: Implications for Postconcussion Management. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2020;52(8):1650-1657.
- 353. Buckley TA, Howard CM, Oldham JR, Lynall RC, Swanik CB, Getchell N. No Clinical Predictors of Postconcussion Musculoskeletal Injury in College Athletes. *Med Sci Sport Exerc*. 2020;52(6):1256-1262.
- 354. Kara DD, Ring M, Hennig FF, Michelson G. Effects of Mild Traumatic Brain Injury on Stereopsis Detected by a Virtual Reality System: Attempt to Develop a Screening Test. *J Med Biol Eng.* 2020;40(5):639-647.
- 355. Alnawmasi MM, Khuu SK. Deficits in multiple object-tracking and visual attention following mild traumatic brain injury. *Sci Rep.* 2022;12(1):13727.
- 356. Lysenko-Martin MR, Hutton CP, Sparks T, Snowden T, Christie BR. Multiple Object Tracking Scores Predict Post-Concussion Status Years after Mild Traumatic Brain Injury. *J Neurotrauma*. 2020;37(16):1777-1787.
- Marshall S, Bayley M, McCullagh S, et al. Updated clinical practice guidelines for concussion/mild traumatic brain injury and persistent symptoms. *Brain Inj.* 2015;29(6):688-700.
- 358. Yengo-Kahn AM, Wallace J, Jimenez V, Totten DJ, Bonfield CM, Zuckerman SL. Exploring the outcomes and experiences of Black and White athletes following a sportrelated concussion: a retrospective cohort study. *J Neurosurg Pediatr*. 2021;28(5):516-525.

- 359. Alsalaheen B, Li Y, Almeida A, et al. Factor Structure for the Sport Concussion Assessment Tool Symptom Scale in Adolescents After Concussion. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2022;32(4):400-407.
- 360. Anderson M, Petit KM, Bretzin AC, Elbin RJ, Stephenson KL, Covassin T. Sport Concussion Assessment Tool Symptom Inventory: Healthy and Acute Postconcussion Symptom Factor Structures. *J Athl Train*. 2020;55(10):1046-1053.
- 361. Ferris LM, Kontos AP, Eagle SR, et al. Predictive Accuracy of the Sport Concussion Assessment Tool 3 and Vestibular/Ocular-Motor Screening, Individually and In Combination: A National Collegiate Athletic Association–Department of Defense Concussion Assessment, Research and Education Consortium Analysis. Am J Sports Med. 2021;49(4):1040-1048.
- 362. Dancey CP, Reidy J. Statistics without maths for psychology. Pearson education; 2007.
- 363. Childs JD, Cleland JA. Development and application of clinical prediction rules to improve decision making in physical therapist practice. *Phys Ther.* 2006;86(1):122-131.
- 364. Concato J, Feinstein AR, Holford TR. The risk of determining risk with multivariable models. *Ann Intern Med.* 1993;118(3):201-210.
- 365. Gurley JM, Hujsak BD, Kelly JL. Vestibular rehabilitation following mild traumatic brain injury. *NeuroRehabilitation*. 2013;32(3):519-528.
- Iverson GL, Gaetz M, Lovell MR, Collins MW. Relation between subjective fogginess and neuropsychological testing following concussion. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc.* 2004;10(6):904-906.
- 367. Sandel N, Reynolds E, Cohen PE, Gillie BL, Kontos AP. Anxiety and Mood Clinical Profile following Sport-related Concussion: From Risk Factors to Treatment. *Sport Exerc Perform Psychol.* 2017;6(3):304-323.
- 368. Barker-Collo S, Jones K, Theadom A, et al. Neuropsychological outcome and its correlates in the first year after adult mild traumatic brain injury: A population-based New Zealand study. *Brain Inj.* 2015;29(13-14):1604-1616.
- 369. Covassin T, Elbin RJ. The cognitive effects and decrements following concussion. *Open Access J Sports Med.* 2010;1:55-61.
- 370. Meehan WP, 3rd, Mannix RC, Stracciolini A, Elbin RJ, Collins MW. Symptom severity predicts prolonged recovery after sport-related concussion, but age and amnesia do not. *J Pediatr.* 2013;163(3):721-725.

- 371. Kontos AP, Elbin RJ, Lau B, et al. Posttraumatic migraine as a predictor of recovery and cognitive impairment after sport-related concussion. *Am J Sports Med.* 2013;41(7):1497-1504.
- 372. Sufrinko AM, Marchetti GF, Cohen PE, Elbin RJ, Re V, Kontos AP. Using Acute Performance on a Comprehensive Neurocognitive, Vestibular, and Ocular Motor Assessment Battery to Predict Recovery Duration After Sport-Related Concussions. *Am J Sports Med.* 2017;45(5):1187-1194.
- 373. Johnson B, Zhang K, Gay M, et al. Alteration of brain default network in subacute phase of injury in concussed individuals: resting-state fMRI study. *Neuroimage*. 2012;59(1):511-518.
- 374. Galea OA, Cottrell MA, Treleaven JM, O'Leary SP. Sensorimotor and Physiological Indicators of Impairment in Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: A Meta-Analysis. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair.* 2018;32(2):115-128.

APPENDIX A: INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD (IRB) APPROVAL FORM

MICHIGAN STATE

Initial Study APPROVAL Revised Common Rule

August 18, 2020

To: Tracey Covassin

Re: MSU Study ID: STUDY00004889 IRB: Biomedical and Health Institutional Review Board Principal Investigator: Tracey Covassin Category: Expedited 4, 7 Submission: Initial Study STUDY00004889 Submission Approval Date: 8/17/2020 Effective Date: 8/17/2020 Study Expiration Date: None; however modification and closure submissions are required (see below).

Title: The Use of the Senaptec Sensory Station in High School and College Students with and without Concussion



This submission has been approved by the Michigan State University (MSU) Biomedical and Health Institutional Review Board. The submission was reviewed by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) through the Non-Committee Review procedure. The IRB has found that this study protects the rights and welfare of human subjects and meets the requirements of MSU's Federal Wide Assurance (FWA00004556) and the federal regulations for the protection of human subjects in research (e.g., 2018 45 CFR 46, 21 CFR 50, 56, other applicable regulations).

Office of Regulatory Affairs Human Research Protection Program

4000 Collins Road Suite 136 Lansing, MI 48910

517-355-2180 Fax: 517-432-4503 Email: irb@msu.edu www.hrpp.msu.edu Institutional restrictions to in-person human subject research activities conducted by MSU employees, MSU students, or agents of MSU are in place, but MSU is phasing in human research that has the potential for in-person interactions with participants, using a Tier approach. Restrictions to in-person interactions with human research participants by MSU employees, MSU students, or agents of MSU are in place until the activity is permitted under a Tier and a Human Research Plan for a Safe Return is approved. Visit http://hrpp.msu.edu/COVID-19/index.html for the restrictions, Tiers, forms, and the process.

How to Access Final Documents

To access the study's final materials, including those approved by the IRB such as consent forms, recruitment materials, and the approved protocol, if applicable, please log into the Click[™] Research Compliance System, open the study's workspace, and view the "Documents" tab. To obtain consent form(s) stamped with the IRB watermark, select the "Final" PDF version of your consent form(s) as applicable in the "Documents" tab. Please note that the consent form(s) stamped with the IRB watermark must typically be used.

MSU is an affirmative-action, equal-opportunity employer.

APPENDIX B: CHAPTER 4 SCORES ON SENSORIMOTOR ASSESSMENTS WITH POOR AND MODERATE RELIABILITY

Table 24. Mean Scores on Sensorimotor Assessments with Poor and Moderate Reliability atEach Visit of the Sport-Related Concussion and Healthy Matched Controls Groups.

Perception Span (Total Score; higher is better)				
Group	Acute	Medical Clearance	One-Month Post-RTP	
SRC (n=25)	41.2 (13.1)	49.04 (11.1)	48.8 (10.2)	
Controls (n=15)	42.3 (11.9)	44.33 (11.3)	44.9 (11.7)	
Target Capture (Msec; lower is better)				
Group	Acute	Medical Clearance	One-Month Post-RTP	
SRC (n=25)	226 (65.5)	197 (45.8)	195 (54.9)	
Controls (n=15)	200 (64.1)	193.3 (62.3)	188.3 (24.8)	
Contrast Sensitivity (LogCS; higher is better)				
Group	Acute	Medical Clearance	One-Month Post-RTP	
SRC (n=25)	1.48 (0.32)	1.49 (0.3)	1.48 (0.26)	
Controls (n=15)	1.49 (0.33)	1.43 (0.26)	1.41 (0.37)	
Visual Clarity (LogMAR; lower is better)				
Group	Acute	Medical Clearance	One-Month Post-RTP	
SRC (n=25)	-0.09 (0.12)	-0.1 (0.15)	-0.11 (0.1)	
Controls (n=15)	-0.13 (0.13)	-0.11 (0.14)	-0.06 (0.14)	

Table 24 (cont'd).

Near-Far Quickness (# Correct; higher is better)				
Group	Acute	Medical Clearance	One-Month Post-RTP	
SRC (n=25)	18.2 (5.3)	22.2 (6.2)	23.3 (7.5)	
Controls (n=15)	21.5 (7.3)	21 (9.13)	25.8 (6.6)	

Continuous data are presented as mean (SD). SRC=Sport-Related Concussion Group; Control=Healthy Matched Control Group